o of Livingg, Livingston City Commission Agenda
A4 ; December 15, 2020

5:30 PM

Via ZOOM

https://us02web.zoom.us

ID 899 1931 3028 Passcode: 637749
Call In: +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose)

ncorporated 1889

. Call to Order
. Roll Call

. Public Comment
Individuals are reminded that public comments should be limited to item over which the City

Commission has supervision, control jurisdiction, or advisory power (MCA 2-3-202)

. Consent ltems
A. APPROVE MINUTES FROM DEC. 1, 2020, REGULAR MEETING. PG. 3
B. RATIFY CLAIMS PAID 12/01/2020-12/08/2020. PG.7
C. JUDGE'S MONTHLY REPORT OCTOBER 2020. PG. 15

5. Proclamations
. Scheduled Public Comment

A. MORGAN SCARR OF AMATICS PRESENTS THE COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 20, 2020. PG. 18

. Public Hearings

A. ORDINANCE NO. 2095: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, AMENDING CHAPTER 23 OF THE LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL
CODE ENTITLED “TREES” BY CLARIFYING THAT ALL BOULEVARD TREES ARE TO BE
PROPERLY MAINTAINED, INCLUDING PRUNING, WATERING AND REMOVAL WHEN

NECESSARY, BY THE HOMEOWNER ADJACENT TO THE BOULEVARD. PG. 210

. Ordinances
A. ORDINANCE NO. 2098: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2041, 2049 AND 2055 AS CODIFIED
BY CHAPTER 9 OF THE LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED TRAFFIC AND
VEHICLES. PG. 228

. Resolutions

A. RESOLUTION NO. 4932: A RESOLUTION OF INTENT OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE
CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, RESOLVING ITS INTENT TO AMEND THE BOUNDARIES
OF THE LIVINGSTON BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, AND TO EXTEND THE
BOUNDARIES OF THE LIVINGSTON BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, AND TO EXTEND



https://us02web.zoom.us/s/89919313028?pwd=SjZ2K0UwdEJ6K1RnczhwOGZDY3MvQT09#success

THE DURATION OF THE DISTRICT FOR TEN (10) YEARS, AT THE REQUEST OF THE LBID
FOR IT'S MEMBERS, AS REQUIRED BY LAW. PG. 235

RESOLUTION NO. 4933: A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, OF ITSINTENT TO AMEND THE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-
2021, BY MAKING APPROPRIATION ADJUSTMENTS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,275,750 AND
REVENUE ADJUSTMENTS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,663,574. PG. 241

|

RESOLUTION NO. 4934: A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN A PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS, INC. (TD&H ENGINEERING)
FOR DESIGN SERVICES FROR THE 5TH STREET SEWER CAPACITY PROJECT AND
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT TO INCLUDE THE USE
OF CONTINGENCY FUNDS AS DEEMED NECESSARY. PG. 245

[©

10. Action Items

A. DISCUSS/APPROVE/DENY: ACCEPTING SCOTT COLEMANS APPLICATION TO THE
CITY/COUNTY HEALTH BOARD. PG. 265

B. DISCUSS APPROVE DENY: CARES ACT FUNDING OPTIONS. PG. 268
11. City Manager Comment
12. City Commission Comments

13. Adjournment

Calendar of Events

DECEMBER 2020 AND JANUARY 2021 CALENDARS PG. 270

Supplemental Material

Notice

e  Public Comment: The public can speak about an item on the agenda during discussion of that item by coming
up to the table or podium, signing-in, and then waiting to be recognized by the Chairman. Individuals are
reminded that public comments should be limited to items over which the City Commission has supervision,
control, jurisdiction, or advisory power (MCA 2-3-202).

e Meeting Recording: An audio and/or video recording of the meeting, or any portion thereof, may be purchased
by contacting the City Administration. The City does not warrant the audio and/or video recording as to content,
quality, or clarity.

e Special Accommodation: If you need special accommodations to attend or participate in our meeting, please
contact the Fire Department at least 24 hours in advance of the specific meeting you are planning on attending.




File Attachments for ltem:

A. APPROVE MINUTES FROM DEC. 1, 2020, REGULAR MEETING.




LIVINGSTON CITY COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

Tuesday, December 1, 2020, 5:30 pm
Zoom Online Meeting ID: 879 7747 7999

1 Call to Order

2 Roll Call
* Hoglund, Friedman, Mabie Nootz were present. Schwarz was absent.

3 Public Comment: (00:02:58)
* Johnathan Hettinger made public comment (00:03:03)

4 Consent Items: (00:06:16)
A. Approve Minutes from 11/17/2020 Regular Meeting
B. Ratify Claims Paid 11/15/200-11/24/2020
C. Accept Tree Board recommendation for Andy Mitchell to serve another term on City Tree Board.
Nootz motioned to approve items A-C, Friedman seconded.
All in favor, passed 4-0.

5 Proclamations:

6 Scheduled Public Comment: (00:08:58)
A. Kristen Gailbraith gave brief overview of Livingston Business Improvement District intent to
extend the boundaries of the LBID and extend the LBID for the next 10 years.

7 Public Hearings: (00:12:10)

A. Ordinance No. 2093: An Ordinance of the City Commission of the City of Livingston, Montana,
amending article VII, Chapter 30 of the Livingston Municipal Code Entitled Zoning, as it pertains to
text amendments.

* Kardoes gave opening statement

* Mathieu Menard made comments

* Friedman made motion, second by Mabie
All in favor, passes 4-0

B. Ordinance No. 2094: An Ordinance of the City Commission of the City of Livingston, Montana,
Amending Section 30.13 of the Livingston Municipal Code Entitled Official Zoning Map of the City
of Livingston by re-zoning a 2,250 square foot parcel described as Livingston Minnesota, triangular
piece of south of block 48 by Chinook and K St. from Medium Density Residential: Mobile Home
(R-11 (MH)) to Industrial (1). (00:15:09)

* Kardoes gave opening statement

* No public comment

* Mabie made motion, second by Friedman
All in favor, passes 4-0.

8 Ordinances:

A. Ordinance No. 2096: An Ordinance of the City Commission of the City of Livingston, Montana,
amending article V. Section 2-73 entitled Employee Holidays to the City of Livingston Holidays
and amending section 2-73 (A#7) amending the second Monday in October from Columbus Day
to Indigenous Peoples Day. (00:18:33)

* Kardoes gave opening statement

* No public comment

* Hoglund made comment

* Nootz made comment

* Hoglund made motion, second by Nootz
All in favor, passes 4-0.
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B. Ordinance No. 2097: An Ordinance of the City Commission of the City of Livingston, Montana,
amending Article |, 11, 1V, V, VI of Chapter 30 of the Livingston Municipal Code Entitled Zoning
as it pertains to Zoning setbacks and allowed encroachments. (00:23:47)

* Kardoes gave opening statement

* Mathieu Menard made comments

* No public comment

* Nootz made comment

* Hoglund made comment

* Mabie made comment
Nootz made motion, second by Friedman
All in favor, passes 4-0.

9 Resolutions:
A. Resolution No. 4932 Pulled for consideration at a later date.

10 Action Item: (00:32:26)
A. Discuss/Approve/Deny: Draft Policy for naming Parks, Trails, and recreational facilities in
Livingston, with attorney's recommended edits.

* Kardoes gave opening statement

* Courtney Lawellin made comment

* Hoglund made comment
Friedman made motion, second by Mabie
All in favor, passes 4-0
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11 City Manager Comments: (00:37:40)
* Provided online training system reimbursed to us through a grant, as well as the
Ambulance Service received a grant for reimbursement of equipment.
Updated that State announced today, that the they are ending some of the COVID
related expenses, possibly $450-$460 less than anticipated reimbursed expenses.

13 City Commission Comments
* Nootz: (00:41:01)
* Mabie (00:47:48)
* Friedman (00:44:43)
* Hoglund (00:45:18)

15 Adjournment pm (00:47:52) 6:17 pm
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B. RATIFY CLAIMS PAID 12/01/2020-12/08/2020




City of Livingston

Payment Approval Report - Claims Approval - Commission Meeting
Report dates: 12/1/2020-12/15/2020

Page: 1
Dec 08, 2020 09:35AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Amount Paid  Date Paid
Invoice Amount
AAA CLEANING, LLC
3727 AAA CLEANING, LLC 2020.11.30 110 S B CLEANING 11/30/2020 240.00 240.00 12/03/2020
3727 AAA CLEANING, LLC 2020.11.30.1 Bennett St cleaning 11/30/2020 500.00 500.00 12/03/2020
Total AAA CLEANING, LLC: 740.00 740.00
ADVANCED ENGINEERING &
3605 ADVANCED ENGINEERING & 71230 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 11/10/2020 3,978.75 3,978.75  12/03/2020
Total ADVANCED ENGINEERING &: 3,978.75 3,978.75
ALL SERVICE TIRE & ALIGNMENT
22 ALL SERVICE TIRE & ALIGNME 60530 Tire Repair 11/05/2020 15.00 15.00 12/03/2020
22 ALL SERVICE TIRE & ALIGNME 60531 ROTATE TIRES 11/05/2020 40.00 40.00 12/03/2020
22 ALL SERVICE TIRE & ALIGNME 60667 INSTALL OF PARTS 11/25/2020 210.00 210.00 12/03/2020
Total ALL SERVICE TIRE & ALIGNMENT: 265.00 265.00
ALPINE ELECTRONICS RADIO SHACK
402 ALPINE ELECTRONICS RADIO 10268044 OFFICE SUPPLIES 11/24/2020 63.96 63.96 12/03/2020
Total ALPINE ELECTRONICS RADIO SHACK: 63.96 63.96
BERG'S OVERHEAD DOOR LLC
3223 BERG'S OVERHEAD DOORLLC 3676 SERVICE WORK 11/17/2020 650.00 650.00 12/03/2020
Total BERG'S OVERHEAD DOOR LLC: 650.00 650.00
BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC
2662 BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC 83855697 Patient Supplies 11/19/2020 176.01 176.01  12/03/2020
Total BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC: 176.01 176.01
CARQUEST AUTO PARTS
23 CARQUEST AUTO PARTS 1912-493111 Parts 11/23/2020 25.75 25.75 12/03/2020
Total CARQUEST AUTO PARTS: 25.75 25.75
CENTURYLINK
162 CENTURYLINK 2020.11.16 406-222-0137 441B 11/16/2020 69.87 69.87 12/03/2020
Total CENTURYLINK: 69.87 69.87
COFFMAN'S PEAK ELECTRIC, LLC
3491 COFFMAN'S PEAK ELECTRIC, L 1852 ELECTRICAL LIGHTING 11/20/2020 3,836.20 3,836.20 12/03/2020
3491 COFFMAN'S PEAK ELECTRIC, L 1854 ELECTRICAL LIGHTING 11/20/2020 1,433.00 1,433.00 12/03/2020
3491 COFFMAN'S PEAK ELECTRIC,L 1856 ELECTRICAL LIGHTING 11/21/2020 116.00 116.00  12/03/2020
Total COFFMAN'S PEAK ELECTRIC, LLC: 5,385.20 5,385.20
FIRE APPARATUS REPAIR, LLC
3739 FIRE APPARATUS REPAIR, LLC 5513 T1 WATERWAY REPAIR 10/27/2020 2,712.20 2,712.20  12/03/2020
3739 FIRE APPARATUS REPAIR, LLC 5514 E-2 REPAIR 11/27/2020 522.10 522.10 12/03/2020
Total FIRE APPARATUS REPAIR, LLC: 3,234.30 3,234.30




City of Livingston

Payment Approval Report - Claims Approval - Commission Meeting
Report dates: 12/1/2020-12/15/2020

Page: 2
Dec 08, 2020 09:35AM

Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Amount Paid  Date Paid
Invoice Amount
FISHER SAND AND GRAVEL
2904 FISHER SAND AND GRAVEL 30483 SANDING MAT 11/14/2020 2,287.03 2,287.03 12/03/2020
Total FISHER SAND AND GRAVEL: 2,287.03 2,287.03
GATEWAY OFFICE SUPPLY
54 GATEWAY OFFICE SUPPLY 49807 SHIPPING POLICE 11/20/2020 16.85 16.85 12/03/2020
54 GATEWAY OFFICE SUPPLY 49825 SHIPPING POLICE 11/23/2020 12.19 12.19  12/03/2020
54 GATEWAY OFFICE SUPPLY 49832 Office Supplies 11/24/2020 50.99 50.99 12/03/2020
54 GATEWAY OFFICE SUPPLY 49870 Office Supplies 12/01/2020 50.90 50.90 12/03/2020
Total GATEWAY OFFICE SUPPLY: 130.93 130.93
HAWKINS, INC
470 HAWKINS, INC 4827276 WATER ANALYSIS 11/10/2020 937.73 937.73  12/03/2020
Total HAWKINS, INC: 937.73 937.73
HOUSE OF CLEAN
63 HOUSE OF CLEAN 266473-01 Cleaning Supplies 11/23/2020 73.72 73.72 12/03/2020
Total HOUSE OF CLEAN: 73.72 73.72
INDUSTRIAL TOWEL
102 INDUSTRIAL TOWEL 45387-00 Civic Center Mats 11/05/2020 123.11 123.11  12/03/2020
Total INDUSTRIAL TOWEL: 123.11 123.11
J & H OFFICE EQUIPMENT
1783 J & H OFFICE EQUIPMENT 28267240 110 s b copier 11/26/2020 270.73 270.73  12/03/2020
Total J & H OFFICE EQUIPMENT: 270.73 270.73
J.P COOKE CO.
261 J.P COOKE CO. 649941 Animal Licenses 11/23/2020 287.85 287.85 12/03/2020
Total J.P COOKE CO.: 287.85 287.85
KENYON NOBLE
776 KENYON NOBLE 8055169 Wood 11/20/2020 43.20 43.20 12/03/2020
Total KENYON NOBLE: 43.20 43.20
LAUREL AMBULANCE SERVICE
10002 LAUREL AMBULANCE SERVICE 25133 AMBULANCE SERVICE 11/09/2020 1,317.50 1,317.50  12/03/2020
Total LAUREL AMBULANCE SERVICE: 1,317.50 1,317.50
LAW ENFORCEMENT TARGETS, INC.
732 LAW ENFORCEMENT TARGETS 0470056-IN Targets 08/10/2020 241.09 241.09 12/03/2020
Total LAW ENFORCEMENT TARGETS, INC.: 241.09 241.09
LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE - #122005
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H59651 Pulley 10/27/2020 19.98 19.98 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H59669 Pipe cutter 10/27/2020 19.99 19.99 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H60421 NUMBERS 10/28/2020 23.85 23.85 12/03/2020
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City of Livingston Payment Approval Report - Claims Approval - Commission Meeting Page: 3
Report dates: 12/1/2020-12/15/2020 Dec 08, 2020 09:35AM
Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Amount Paid  Date Paid
Invoice Amount
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H60758 funnel 10/29/2020 12.17 12.17  12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H60796 mineral spirits 10/29/2020 37.96 37.96 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE - H62756 striping paint 11/02/2020 6.99 6.99 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H63949 misc supplies 11/04/2020 57.95 57.95 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE - H64176 fastners 11/04/2020 54.99 54.99 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE - H64418 CLOTH 11/05/2020 36.89 36.89 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H64443 PROPANE 10/05/2020 47.97 47.97 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H66603 ICE MELT 11/09/2020 94.93 94.93 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H67960 BAG SAND 11/12/2020 13.99 13.99 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H67997 SAND 11/12/2020 19.96 19.96  12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE - H68165 PrIMER 11/12/2020 269.97 269.97 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H71108 TOOLS 11/18/2020 33.98 33.98 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H71157 Fastners 11/18/2020 2.14 2.14  12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H71325 TOOLS 11/18/2020 45.56 4556 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H74205 BAGS 11/24/2020 11.99 11.99  12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H74223 VINEGAR 11/24/2020 13.18 13.18 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  H74575 parts 11/24/2020 31.52 31.52 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE - H74734 chainsaw oil 11/25/2020 46.30 46.30 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  X50651 BLADE 11/16/2020 27.96 27.96 12/03/2020
26 LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE -  X50732 EXTENSION CORDS 11/16/2020 22.98 22.98 12/03/2020
Total LIVINGSTON ACE HARDWARE - #122005: 953.20 953.20
LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 130031 PUBLIC NOTICE-GREEN BINS 11/05/2020 28.00 28.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 170575 PUBLIC NOTICE-CONSERVATIO 10/26/2020 26.00 26.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 170677 PUBLIC NOTICE-TREE BOARD 10/30/2020 32.50 32.50 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 170716 Public Hearing CITY PLANNING 11/03/2020 102.00 102.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 170830 ORDINANCE 11/06/2020 105.00 105.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 170865 PUBLIC NOTICE CITY ZONING 11/09/2020 39.00 39.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 170866 PUBLIC NOTICE-HISTORIC PRE  11/09/2020 39.00 39.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 170994 TREE BOARD MEETING 11/13/2020 26.00 26.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 170995 PUBLIC NOTICE RECRUITMENT 11/13/2020 356.25 356.25 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 171029 Public Hearing 11/16/2020 133.25 133.25 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 171030 VACANCIES PLANNING BOARD 11/16/2020 322.00 322.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 171041 PUBLIC NOTICE PLANNING BO 11/17/2020 120.00 120.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 171053 PUBLIC NOTICE HEALTH BOAR 11/18/2020 230.00 230.00 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 171102 PUBLIC NOTICE HISTORIC PRE  11/19/2020 42.25 42.25 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 171156 PUBLIC NOTICE ZONING 11/20/2020 35.75 35.75 12/03/2020
146 LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE 171205 Public Hearing 11/23/2020 48.75 48.75 12/03/2020
Total LIVINGSTON ENTERPRISE: 1,685.75 1,685.75
MISC
99999 MISC 2020.11.24.2 DOUBLE PAID BUSINESS LICEN  11/24/2020 80.00 80.00 12/03/2020
99999 MISC 2020.11.25 Restitution payment 11/25/2020 100.00 100.00 12/03/2020
99999 MISC 2020.11.25.1 OVERPAYMENT ON ACCOUNT 11/25/2020 140.68 140.68 12/03/2020
Total MISC: 320.68 320.68
MOUNTAIN AIR SPORTS
34 MOUNTAIN AIR SPORTS 10092 Reserve Uniform 03/18/2020 88.00 88.00 12/03/2020
34 MOUNTAIN AIR SPORTS 10116 Reserve Uniform 05/01/2020 100.00 100.00 12/03/2020
34 MOUNTAIN AIR SPORTS 10129 Reserve Uniform 06/19/2020 150.00 150.00 12/03/2020
34 MOUNTAIN AIR SPORTS 10405 CLOTHING 11/30/2020 260.00 260.00 12/03/2020
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Report dates: 12/1/2020-12/15/2020 Dec 08, 2020 09:35AM
Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Amount Paid  Date Paid
Invoice Amount
Total MOUNTAIN AIR SPORTS: 598.00 598.00
MSA SAFETY SALES, LLC
10000 MSA SAFETY SALES, LLC 961404719 SENSOR 11/13/2020 1,013.61 1,013.61  12/03/2020
10000 MSA SAFETY SALES, LLC 961407284 CYLINDER 11/16/2020 342.68 342.68 12/03/2020
Total MSA SAFETY SALES, LLC: 1,356.29 1,356.29
MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY SERVICES
2604 MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY SERV IN1520001 Turnouts 11/16/2020 4,532.94 4,532.94  12/03/2020
Total MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY SERVICES: 4,532.94 4,532.94
MURDOCH'S RANCH & HOME SUPPLY
3688 MURDOCH'S RANCH & HOME S 41/37 Propane 11/24/2020 90.28 90.28 12/03/2020
3688 MURDOCH'S RANCH & HOME S K00029/37 Tools 11/20/2020 76.96 76.96 12/03/2020
3688 MURDOCH'S RANCH & HOME S K01198/37 CHAINSAW OIL 11/20/2020 30.98 30.98 12/03/2020
Total MURDOCH'S RANCH & HOME SUPPLY: 198.22 198.22
NORTHWESTERN ENERGY
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709793-4 City Shop Building 50% 406 Benn  01/15/2019 619.09 619.09 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709794-2 WRF 316 Bennett 01/09/2019 1,015.80 1,015.80 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709796-7 97 View Vista Drive 01/15/2019 5.80 5.80 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709869-2 Carol Lane 01/15/2019 119.26 119.26  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709870-0 G Street Park - 422 S G 01/15/2019 130.01 130.01  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709871-8 Star Addition - Lights 01/15/2019 300.18 300.18  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709873-4 800 W Cambridge - Pump Station 01/15/2019 2712 27.12  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709874-2 Werner Addition Pump 01/09/2018 114.19 114.19  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709875-9 900 River Drive Pump 01/09/2019 1,791.73 1,791.73  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709876-7 132 South B Street - B St Well 01/10/2019 1,177.67 1,177.67  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709878-3 227 River Drive - Concessions &li  01/10/2019 52.84 52.84 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709879-1 227 River Drive - Softball Field 01/10/2019 20.46 20.46 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709886-6 200 E Reservoir 01/15/2019 93.07 93.07 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709891-6 Cemetery Road Shop - 15 Fleshm  01/15/2019 20.54 20.54 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709892-4 40 Water Tower Avenue 01/15/2019 44.81 44.81 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709894-0 56 Water Tower 01/08/2019 560.86 560.86  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0709914-6 1011 River Dr - Edge Water Sewe  01/09/2019 19.66 19.66  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0719058-0 3 Rogers Lane Lift Station 01/09/2019 95.21 95.21  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0720048-8 330 Bennett 1/4 01/08/2019 667.55 667.55 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 0720176-7 Weimer Park 01/15/2019 28.84 28.84 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1134866-1 N 2nd & Montana & Chinook 01/15/2019 57.73 57.73 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1134879-4 N 7th & Montana & Chinook 01/15/2019 24.49 24.49 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1155965-5 229 River Drive 01/15/2019 5.80 5.80 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1290352-2 School Flasher Park & 13th 01/15/2019 8.54 8.54 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1441030-2 D & Geyser Well House 01/10/2019 1,562.36 1,562.36  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1452951-5 Starlow on Monroe 01/09/2019 357.09 357.09 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1493850-0 412 W Callender 01/15/2019 64.14 64.14 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1498936-2 190 & 89S-ing 01/15/2019 5.80 5.80 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1594141-2 9th & 10th Lift Station 01/09/2019 28.73 28.73 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1613803-4 M & N on Callender 01/15/2019 58.88 58.88 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1728687-3 Transfer Station 408 Bennett Stre 01/08/2019 624.20 624.20 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1747570-8 D & E on Callender 01/15/2019 49.78 49.78 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1747572-4 F & G on Callender 01/15/2019 30.20 30.20 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1893530-4 600 W Park 01/15/2019 67.99 67.99 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1893536-1 E Street & Alley 01/15/2019 38.34 38.34 12/03/2020
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Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Amount Paid  Date Paid
Invoice Amount
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1893541-1 18 W Park 01/15/2019 86.79 86.79 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 1906055-7 815 North 13th - Soccer Fields 01/16/2019 1.86 1.86 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 2020.11.9 1128 B 11/09/2020 96.21 96.21  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 2023479-5 900 W Geyser Street School Light  01/15/2019 6.17 6.17  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 2023484-5 1100 W Geyser Street School Lig 01/15/2019 6.17 6.17  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 2114861-4 132 South B Street Lights 01/15/2019 175.06 175.06 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 2138754-3 G Street Park - Mike Webb Park 01/15/2019 15.35 15.35 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 2171060-3 Scale House 408 Bennett Street 01/15/2019 62.64 62.64 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3015965-1 330 Bennett - Fire Training Center 01/15/2019 67.13 67.13 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3093003-6 114 West Summit 01/15/2019 32.47 32.47 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3093023-4 320 North Main 01/15/2019 3.69 3.69 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3093027-5 105 West Park 01/15/2019 50.50 50.50 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3141997-1 C & D on Lewis 01/15/2019 23.60 23.60 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3184602-5 202 South 2nd 01/15/2019 14.09 14.09 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3210240-2 616 River Drive 01/15/2019 5.80 5.80 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3258086-2 2800 East Park Lift Station 01/15/2019 285.55 285.55 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3258262-9 320 Alpenglow Lift Station 01/08/2019 156.48 156.48 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 32670101 330 Bennett - Compactor 01/08/2019 114.13 114.13  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3287727-6 320 Alpenglow LN- 01/15/2019 41.11 4111 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3386783-9 Btwn G and H on Clark 01/15/2019 43.26 43.26  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3386845-6 Btwn | and K on Callender 01/15/2019 40.21 40.21  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3386846-4 Btwn 7th and 8th on Summit 01/15/2019 26.29 26.29 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3506014-4 Brookstone/Elm 02/15/2019 5.52 5.52 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3566038-0 114 East Callender 01/15/2019 18.56 18.56  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3566039-8 115 East Lewis 01/15/2019 14.97 14.97 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3585235-9 New WRF 316 Bennett 01/09/2019 14,511.76 14,511.76  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3643752-3 115 East Clark 09/16/2019 15.22 15.22  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3643753-1 112 East Clark 09/04/2019 34.78 34.78 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3678204-3 502 River Dr. Pmp 10/16/2019 342.22 342.22  12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3725873-8 340 Bennett 12/12/2019 30.62 30.62 12/03/2020
151 NORTHWESTERN ENERGY 3753023-5 303 Bennett Street Transfer Statio ~ 08/07/2020 137.49 137.49  12/03/2020
Total NORTHWESTERN ENERGY: 26,354.46 26,354.46
PARK COUNTY TREASURER - TECH
1702 PARK COUNTY TREASURER -T 2020.11.24 NOV 2020 COLLECTIONS 11/24/2020 200.00 200.00 12/03/2020
Total PARK COUNTY TREASURER - TECH: 200.00 200.00
PARK COUNTY TREASURER/M.L.E.A.
2156 PARK COUNTY TREASURER/M. 2020.11.24 NOV 2020 COLLECTIONS 11/24/2020 260.00 260.00 12/03/2020
Total PARK COUNTY TREASURER/M.L.E.A.: 260.00 260.00
PARK COUNTY VICTIM WITNESS
1544 PARK COUNTY VICTIM WITNES 2020.11.24 NOV 2020 COLLECTIONS 11/24/2020 477.76 477.76  12/03/2020
Total PARK COUNTY VICTIM WITNESS: 477.76 477.76
REDSTONE LEASING
3842 REDSTONE LEASING 2021.1 CopER LEASE 27 OF 60 12/01/2020 203.07 203.07  12/03/2020
Total REDSTONE LEASING: 203.07 203.07
SAFEGUARD BUSINESS SYSTEMS
590 SAFEGUARD BUSINESS SYSTE 034320633 LASER SHEET 11/24/2020 201.46 201.46  12/03/2020
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City of Livingston Payment Approval Report - Claims Approval - Commission Meeting Page: 6
Report dates: 12/1/2020-12/15/2020 Dec 08, 2020 09:35AM
Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Amount Paid  Date Paid
Invoice Amount
Total SAFEGUARD BUSINESS SYSTEMS: 201.46 201.46
STORY DISTRIBUTING
3353 STORY DISTRIBUTING 92132 Diesel 514G 10/23/2020 994 .84 994.84  12/03/2020
3353 STORY DISTRIBUTING 92186 Diesel 561G 11/03/2020 1,021.97 1,021.97  12/03/2020
3353 STORY DISTRIBUTING 92400 Diesel 500G 11/13/2020 1,014.85 1,014.85 12/03/2020
3353 STORY DISTRIBUTING 93415 Diesel 286G 11/19/2020 587.79 587.79  12/03/2020
3353 STORY DISTRIBUTING 93470 Diesel 400G 11/06/2020 750.40 750.40 12/03/2020
3353 STORY DISTRIBUTING 93505 Diesel 245G 11/27/2020 510.90 510.90 12/03/2020
Total STORY DISTRIBUTING: 4,880.75 4,880.75
SWS Equipment
10000 SWS Equipment 0128115-IN ROCKER SWITCH 11/11/2020 798.75 798.75 12/03/2020
Total SWS Equipment: 798.75 798.75
THOMAS PRINTING, INC.
3744 THOMAS PRINTING, INC. 31171 SEWER BILLING POSTCARD 11/20/2020 604.91 604.91 12/03/2020
Total THOMAS PRINTING, INC.: 604.91 604.91
WHISTLER TOWING, LLC
3237 WHISTLER TOWING, LLC 4975 MEDIC 2 REPAIR 11/12/2020 619.33 619.33  12/03/2020
3237 WHISTLER TOWING, LLC 4986 CMD2 REPAIR 11/13/2020 1,172.38 1,172.38  12/03/2020
3237 WHISTLER TOWING, LLC 4997 2012 CHEVY 11/17/2020 523.63 523.63 12/03/2020
3237 WHISTLER TOWING, LLC 5026 OIL CHANGE MEDIC 1 11/18/2020 328.02 328.02 12/03/2020
3237 WHISTLER TOWING, LLC 5032 2017 FORD 11/18/2020 267.23 267.23 12/03/2020
Total WHISTLER TOWING, LLC: 2,910.59 2,910.59
WISPWEST.NET
2087 WISPWEST.NET 605365 Internet 12/01/2020 50.12 50.12 12/03/2020
Total WISPWEST.NET: 50.12 50.12
Grand Totals: 66,888.68 66,888.68
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City of Livingston Payment Approval Report - Claims Approval - Commission Meeting Page: 7
Report dates: 12/1/2020-12/15/2020 Dec 08, 2020 09:35AM
Vendor Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date Net Amount Paid  Date Paid
Invoice Amount
Dated:
Mayor:
City Council:

City Recorder:




File Attachments for ltem:

C. JUDGE'S MONTHLY REPORT OCTOBER 2020.
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LIVINGSTON CITY COURT
FINANCIAL REPORT October
2020
Date PD Monthly Report Received from City of Livingston Finance Offic 11/23/2020

Tickets/Criminal Complaints Cleared: 40

Dismissed-Plea Areement: 5
Dismissed-Pretrial Diversion/Deferred: 4
Dismissed-Miscellaneous: 7
Paid-Bond Forfeit/Fine: 16 $2,585.00
Paid-Time Payments: 8 $3,530.73
Warrant Fees:
Total $6,115.73
Parking Tickets: $1,000.00
Total: $7,115.73
Surcharges/Costs/Fees:
MLEA Surcharge: $260.00
TECH Surcharge: $200.00
Victim/Witness Surcharge: $477.76
MISD Surcharge: $350.00
Court Costs: $95.00
Public Defender Fee: 0 x $150.00
Public Defender Fee: 0 x $25000 $ -
102-410360-390  Jury Fees 0 x $295.00 $ -
102-410360-390  Interpreter 0 x $5000 § -
Total (51,382.76)
Total amount credited to City of Livingston General Fund: $5,732.97

I hereby certify that this is a true and correct statement of the amount of fines/fees/costs which
were fully paid and crezied with I/KE Livingston City Court during the month of: Oct. 2020

Prepared by: & ‘U_fr_’#—; Yo Date: ” J\S&ZO}O
Hon. Hofi Hagr)[{ '
Livingstor/ City fudge




File Attachments for ltem:

A. MORGAN SCARR OF AMATICS PRESENTS THE COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 20, 2020.
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COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Prepared by the City of Livingston Finance Department

18




CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

JUNE 30, 2020
TABLE OF CONTENTS
I. INTRODUCTORY SECTION
Letter OF TTANSIMILEAL .....cuertiitiitieteiteet ettt b e eh et et e bbbt sh e e bt eatea s et et e bt s bt e bt eb e ea s eatea b e bt se e bt e bt eh e eatea b et e e bt bt eh e e bt e a e e et et et e bt sheebeebeeat et et e be st e ebesaeeae I-1
Government Finance Officers Association Certificate 0f ACRIEVEIMENT . .......c..coiiiiiiiiiiiitete ettt ettt ettt e bt et et e e e st e s b s bt e bt eseeat et et enbesaeenes I-4
OrGANIZAtIONAL CRAIT.........iiiiiiiieii ettt ettt e st e st et e bt eteseesatesseasseesseenseessesssesaenseesseesseansesssesssesssanseenseasseessesssenseenseanseansesesesase s e anssanseasseasse s senseenseansesnsesnsesseenseansennns I-5
(0517 21 TeTwreTe W@ e 1 R 4 Vo O o) TSP I-6
II. FINANCIAL SECTION
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ...ttt ettt ettt sttt et e st et et e ete et e ebeeseea e e e em s e s e et e eaeeateseemeem s e s e eeeeseeeees e emtemsenseeseabeeseeneeneansenseaseasesaeeseeneensensans 1I-1
A. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALY SIS ...oiuiitetiieteteirieteetetetestetestetetesestetesestesesessesesessesasessesastasesasessssastssesassssesestssesasessesassasesesessesansasesessssesensasesensasns 1I-3
B. BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Government Wide Financial Statements
StAtEMENE OF INEE POSTHION .....teetieiiee ettt ettt et eh e e bt e bt e bt e et e e o et e et e eb e et e em et ea b e ee e e eb e e b e en bt em b e emeeseeeeaeeeaeemseemteenteebeesbeenbeenbeemaesseenees II-11
STALEINENE OF ACTIVITIES ...eentiiiieiiie ittt ettt ettt ettt s h e e st e et e e et ea bt ebeeeb e e bt em bt em bt eateeeeeea e e et emteem bt ee e e eb e e b e en bt embeemeeeaeesaeeeaeemseemteemteebeeabeenbeenteenaesneees II-12
Fund Financial Statements
Governmental Fund Financial Statements
Balance Sheet — GOVEINMENTAL FUINAS .....c..coueiiiiiiiiei ettt sttt b ettt e st b e bt e b e e bt e st et et et e sb e e bt s bt e bt ebtestens et e besbesbesbeebeennene II-13
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position — Governmental FUnds..........c.coceviiiiiiiiiniininiinceeeceesese e II-15
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances — Governmental FUnds..............ccoccveviieiiieiienienieneec e II-16
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to
the Statement of Activities — GOVEIrnMENTAl FUNAS .........cciiiiiiiieeeie ettt ettt e st e st este et ens e eneeessesseenseenseensesnnesneesseenseensens II-17
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements
Statement of Net Position — PropriCtary FUNAS .........ooi oottt ettt et ettt e e st e s bt e s bt e b e e bt e beemeesaeeeaeesaeenteanteenseeneeeseenrean II-18
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position — Proprietary FUnds ...........coocooiioiiiiiiiie e 11-20
Statement of Cash FIOWS — Propri€tary FUNGS .........cc.ooiiiiie ettt ettt et e s e et e bt e bt e bt e beemeesaeesaeesaeeneeeneeeneenseenseenseas II-21
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position — FIAUCIATY FUNAS ........couiiiiiiieee ettt h et at et e be bt e bt et st eme et e be st e besbeebeeneeneenes 11-23

INOLES 10 FINANCIAL STAtEIMENTS. .....cuviiiieiiiiiceieee ettt et et eet e e et eeeteeeeeeaaeeeeeateeeeeaaeesaasseeeeanteeseenaaseesanseeesarsseesanssseesamseseeensaeseensaseesanseeesansseesenseeessnsneeesnnreeesnnnns 11-24

19




CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
JUNE 30, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

C. REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION OTHER THAN MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Post-Employment Healthcare Benefits

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related RAtIOS ........c.ccverieriiriiiiieiiesieie ettt ae sttt e saessaesseesseenseensesssessaeseensesnsessnesseenses II-75
Note to Required Supplementary Information: OPEB ...........ccociooiiiiiiiieiicieeiecee ettt ettt s e st a et e e seesseessesseesseesseesseenseanseessesssensaenseensennsessnenses I1-76
Net Pension Liability
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - PERS......c..coiiiiiiiii ettt sttt s eae I1-79
Schedule of ContribULIONS - PERS....... .ottt ettt h et e e bt e et e et e e a e e et e e bt em et es e e eb e e bt e bt embeemeeeaeeeaeeaae et e emteemteebeesbeebeenseenaeeneesnes I1-79
Note to Required Supplementary Information - PERS ...ttt b ettt ettt e a e s bt et e e bt em e ea e e sbeeebe e beenteemeesaeenaes I1-80
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - MPORS ........oooui et ettt ettt ettt et e saee s bt e nbeenteenaesaeenees I1-81
Schedule of ContribULIONS = IMPORS ..ottt ettt eh et ea et et et e et e e bt ea e es e e st em b et e et e ebeeh e ebeeaeen s e s e s e bt ebeeb e estenteneenteabeeeeebesaeeneeneensenee II-81
Note to Required Supplementary Information - MPORS ...........coooiiiiiiiiiiiceceeceee ettt ettt e et te et a e beebeesbeesaesteesseesseesseessesssessseseeseessesssesaneees I1-82
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - FURS ........ooiiiiiiiiiiece ettt ettt s st sve b e esbeess e ssaessaesbeesseessessneses 11-84
Schedule of ContribULIONS = FURS ..ottt bt ea et et b et e bt s bt eb e e st e st et e et e e bt s bt eb e e bt ea b et et e bt eb e eb e ebeea b enten b et e st e ebesaeebeeneennenee I1-84
Note to Required Supplementary Information - FURS ..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiieieececeee ettt ettt ta e st e st a e beesbeessessaesseesseesseenseesseessesssesseenseessenssesaneses I1-85
Budgetary Comparison Schedule
GENETAL FUNM ..ttt b e ea ettt b e bt e bt eh e st ea s et e st e bt S bt eb e st ea s et e et e bt sh e eb e eatea b et et e bt sh e e bt ebeeab et et e benbeebe s bt ebeeaeene s 11-87
Tax Increment District Downtown Special REVENUE FUNM .......c.ooiiiiiii ettt et ettt e et e e bt et e sete s st e sbe et e enteeneeeseenteenneas I1-88
Note to Required Supplementary Information Other Than Management’s Discussion and ANalLySiS.........ccceceeierierieiieieniere e 11-89

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules
Combining Balance Sheet — Nonmajor GOvernmental FUNAS ..........ccoooiiiiiiiiieieeeece ettt ettt et e e st e e te e seessesssesseesseesseenseenseensenssensennsens I1-90

Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance — Nonmajor Governmental Funds ........c..ccccoccvveneieriiininincnnincneneenee 11-97

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual

Nonmajor GOVETIMENTAL FUINAS .....c.coviiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt et ettt sb e bt beeat et et et e s et b e s bt e bt e st e st et e st e bt sb e ebe e et eat et et e besaeebeeueeueentennen I1-104

Cemetery Perpetual Care Permanent FUN...........ooo ittt et ettt a et e ettt ea e eb e e e bt e bt e bt eebesseesbe e beenteeaeesaeenaeenaeenes II-117
Agency Funds

Combining Statement Of FIAUCIATY INEt POSTHION .......cviiieiiiiiiiieiteiteesie ettt et ettt e et e et esteesteebeesseessesseesseesseasseesseesseessasssesseesseessesssesseesseasseensesssesseesseenns II-118

Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities — AZENCY FUNAS ........ccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicceee ettt sreesteesbeesseeseesseenns II-119

20




I1I.

Iv.

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
JUNE 30, 2020
TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)
STATISTICAL SECTION

Financial Trends Section

INEt POSTHION DY COMPOMNENL......cuieiieiieiiertiertieteeitestesteesseessessesssesseesseasseasseasseassesssesseensesssesssesssesssesssenssenssassesssssssesseensesssesssesssesseenssenseessesssenseenseensesnsesnsesssenseensesnes -1
CRANGES 10 INEE POSILION. ... eetieiiiiieitieiieteste st et te et e sete st esteesteesseestessaessaeseessaanseansesasesseessenssanseasseesseassesseenseenseanseensesaeesseanssanseanseessenssensaensaenseensesnsesnsesseenseensennns 1-2
Fund Balances of GOVEINMENTAL FUNAS ..........ooiiiiiiiec ettt ettt et e sat et e e et ea et es e e e s eesh e e st easeemseemeesmeees e e st anseemseenseemseeseeseenseenseensesneesneenseenneenes 11-4
Changes in Fund Balances, GOVErNMENtal FUNAS .........c..couiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt st sb e sttt b st b e ebe bt et et et e st e e bt sbe e bt e et eunensentennenaeas II-5
Revenue Capacity Section
PSSt BV LT o) B 1o (S o0 () 1<) 4 OSSR PUUPRRRSR I1-6
Direct and Overlapping PrOPerty Tax RAIES .......cc.ciiiiiiiiiiieiei ettt ettt sa et e bt e st e st eh e e sh e e bt e bt e bt ea e e saeeebeeshe e bt emteemteemteebeeabee bt anseembesmeesueenaeenaeenes 1-7
Principal PrOPEITY TaX PAYETS .....ocueiiiiiitiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt et e e bt et s e teea e e sae et e ea et em et ea e e es e e eh e e bt e et easeemteeaeeeb e e st et e emteemteemtees e e bee bt embeamtesmeesaeenaeenneenes 11-8
Property TaxX Levies And COLIECHONS .......couiieiiiiiiieitieteete et eeteesteebeebeeetesteesteesteesseessessseaseasssasseasseessaessaassassesssesssasseassesssesssasssesseesseesseassesssesssesseessesnsesssesssesseensessns 11-9
ULty ACCOUNLS DY CUSTOIMETS ... eetiiuiiiiieieieiteeteeteeeteeteesteeteesseesseessasseesseesseesseessessseassassasseesseasseassaassesssesssasseasseasseassesssesseesseesseassasssesssesseesseassesssesssesssessennsenssens I1-10
WaAtEr SOLA DY TYPE OF CUSTOIMET ....c.veiviiiiiiiiiiieite et eete et e ete et e ebe et e eetestee s st e beesbeesaeeseeeseessessaesseasseassaassessaasssarseasseesseassasssesseesseesseassasssessaesseesseensesssesssesssesseensenssens II-11
WALET ANA SEWET RALES ......etititiiieeit ettt a oot ettt h e e bt eheea b et et e e bt eb e e bt eh e ee s eatea s e bt e bt eb e e bt estem e em b et e e b e e bt eb e ehtemten s e b e et e ebeeheestentenbenbenbenbesbeeseens 11-12
Debt Capacity Section
Ratios Of OULStANAING DEDE DY TYPE ..eeveiiiiiiiieiieitieieeteett et ettt e steste st este e bt esaeeseeessesssesseesseessaassaassessaesseanseasseasseassassanseesseesseassesssesssesseesseanseassesssenssensennsennsens II-13
Ratios of Net General BONAEA DEDL ........cc.oviiiiiriiiiiiteetee ettt ettt st b e at ettt et eb e bt e bt e et et et et e e bt e bt eb e eateat et e st e et e sbesbeeutemtenbenbenbenbesueebeens I1-14
Direct and Overlapping General Bonded Debt OULSTANAING. .........ccueeiuiiieiieiieitt ettt ete et et e s ee st eseeseeseesseesseenseenseanseassesssesseesseensesnsesnsesseanseenseensennsens I-15
Legal Debt Margin INFOIMATION. ......cc.eiiuiiie ettt ettt ettt et e bt e bt e et e aeeeae et e e et em e e emeeeseees e e see et amseemseemeeea e e st emseemteenteemteeseeaseenseenseemseemeeeneenneeseenseenneas II-16
PLedged REVENUE COVEIAZE .....c..eeiieiieiieeiie ittt ettt et et ee et e et e e bt e e e eueeeseeab e e st emseemeeeaeeea e e st e st em et emteemsees e e s e e st emseeaseemeeee e e st emeeem st amteemseesee st eseenseemseemeeeneesneenseenseennean 1m-17
Demographics and Economic Section
Demographic and ECONOIMIC STALISTICS .......eeuteteieietetetest et rte et et et et et e testeeteeueeseestes e sease et eeseeseemeaasanseaaeeseeseeseemeemsemseeseeseeseeseemtemsanseaseaseaneeneensensenseasenaeaseeneannans II-18
PrINCIPAL EIMPIOYETS. ......eieeteitieteet ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e e st eae et et e e et eheeaeemeem s e s amseeaeebeeseemeemseasem s e st eseeeeee e eetemsemseeseeeeeseeneentemsanseaseeseeseeateneensenseaseeseaneeneeneens 11-19
Operating Section
Full-time Equivalent City Government EMployees by FUNA/PIOZIAM.........ccoiiuiiiiiiiieiieieciieieeie ettt eteeae et e stteste e seesseessesssassaessaesseesseessesssesssesseesseessesssens 111-20
Operating INdicators DY FUNCHION/PIOGIAIMN...........ciiiriiiieiieitieteete et e et et eteebeebeettesteesteesseesseesseessasssasssessaessesssasssesssesseesseasseassesssenssesseesseessesssesssesseessessseassenssenns 11-21
Capital Assets StatiStics DY FUNCHON/PIOZIAIM ..........ccuiiiiiiiiiieiieiieteet ettt e testte st esteebeesaeeseeestasseesseesseesseassasssesssessesseasseassesssesssessaesseassaessesssesssesseesseansenseeans 111-22
SINGLE AUDIT SECTION

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements

Performed in Accordance with Government AUditing StANAATAS. .........ccueiiiiiiiieii ittt ettt et e steebeebeestesseesteesseesseesseesseessesssessaesseessesssesssesssesseenseenes IV-1
Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on

Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform GUIAANCE ..........ovvieriiiiiiiieiieriieit ettt ettt st e st e st esaeesteesseessesssessaesseeseenseansesssesssesseenseenes Iv-3
Schedule of EXpenditures 0f FEAEral AWATTS .........cceiiiriiiie ettt ettt et e e et e st e st e s st e te et e esseesaessaessaesseesseenseassesaeesseesssanseenseanseasseesae s eenseenseensesnsessnesseensennes IvV-5
Notes to Schedule of EXpenditures 0f FEAEral AWAITS.........ccueiiiiieiieiieie ettt ettt et et e e e et e satesatesse et e esseesseessessseseenseassesssesseesssenssenseenseessesssensaensennsennsesnses IvV-6
Schedule of FIndings and QUESTIONEA COSTS .....c..couirtiririirieriietieteterte sttt sttt ettt est ettt et e eatett et et e bt sae et e e bt ebeeatemt e besbeeb e eaeebteatemt e aesa e bt sbeeuteatens et e st e ebesbeebeemeenaenaentenbenae Iv-7

Summary Schedule Of PrioT YEar FINAINGS ......cc.ooiiiiiiiiiieeteteteesteet sttt sttt ettt et sb e bt beeb et et et e st b e ebeebt et et et e se e e bt sbeeatemtenb et e st e bt sueebeeneensenaenaenbenae Iv-9

21




PART I

INTRODUCTORY SECTION

22




23

City Manager
Michael Kardoes

Chairperson
Dorel Hoglund

Vice Chairman
Quentin Schwartz

(406) 823-6000 phone
(406) 222-6823 fax

citymanager@livingstonmontana.org Commissioners
www.livingstonmontana.org Mel Friedman
Warren Mabie
Melissa Nootz

‘ncorporated 1889

December 15, 2020

To the Citizens of the
City of Livingston, Montana

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City of Livingston, Montana, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 is hereby submitted. Responsibility for both the
accuracy of the data, and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed
data are accurate in all material respects and are reported in a manner designed to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of the various funds of the City.
All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the City's financial activities have been included.

PROFILE OF GOVERNMENT

The City of Livingston is the county seat of Park County, Montana and was incorporated in 1889. The City is bordered by the Yellowstone River and is just north of
Yellowstone National Park. With a population of 7,801 as of the 2019 census estimate, it is the 12 largest city in the state according to the 2010 Census.

The City of Livingston is governed by a commission-manager form of government. The City Commission is composed of five non-partisan commissioners, elected at large
by the voters of the City. The Commission elects a Chair and Vice Chair annually. The Livingston City Commission is the legislative and policy-making body of the City
and is responsible for the performance of all duties and obligations imposed upon the City by state law. The City Manager is appointed by, and serves at the pleasure of, the
City Commission. The City Manager's primary duty is to ensure that policies and guidelines adopted by the City Commission are executed as efficiently, fairly, and effectively
as possible.

The government provides a full range of services including police and fire protection; city court; the construction and maintenance of streets and infrastructure; recreational
activities; cultural events; planning and zoning; water, wastewater and solid waste utilities; and general administrative services. The main source of income for the City of
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Livingston is property tax revenue. State law limits the amount of taxes a municipality may levy making cities heavily dependent on new construction to increase their
property tax base. Other major sources of revenue are charge for services for utilities provided to residents within the city, however, these funds are not available for the
general operation of the government. The City, as a primary government, is supported or works closely with certain entities to provide these services to the citizens of the
City of Livingston.

The State of Montana requires a biannual audit of the books of accounts, financial records, and transactions of all administrative departments of the City by independent
certified accountants selected by the City Commission. It is the belief of the City Commission and Executive staff that an annual audit assures a higher level of financial
management and fiscal responsibility. This policy, along with the legal requirements, has been complied with and the auditors' opinion of Amatics CPA Group has been
included in this report.

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the City are protected from loss, theft
or misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance
recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by
management.

The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control. All departments of the City submit budget proposals to the Finance Department in
February/March of each year. The Finance Department uses these requests as the starting point for the development of the next fiscal year’s budget. The City Commission is
required to hold public hearings on the proposed budget with the final budget approved and adopted by resolution by the later of the first Thursday after the first Tuesday in
September or within 30 calendar days of receiving the certified taxable values from the Montana Department of Revenue. Although the legal level of budget appropriations
is the fund level, a management plan is prepared by fund, department, division and line item. The City maintains budgetary controls whose objective is to ensure compliance
with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriations budget approved by the City Commission.

ECONOMIC CONDITION AND OUTLOOK

The City of Livingston has recorded steady growth over the last 7 years, however due to its proximity to Bozeman it is starting to see an acceleration in that growth. The high
cost of living in the Gallatin Valley has resulted in more people moving to Livingston. In fiscal year 2020 the city issued 172 building permits, 59 of which were for residential
units. In addition, the city has seen an increased interest from developers for residential construction.

As of July 2020, Montana’s unemployment rate was 6.5% and Park County had a rate of 6.9%, compared to the national rate of 10.2%. Average salaries for the state were
$44,883, 16.1% lower than the national average of $53,490, and only $38,069 for Park County. In Livingston, specifically, this can be attributed to accommodation and food
service as the primary industry where wages are generally low. This has created a need for more low income housing as a high demand for rental units has resulted in an
increase in the cost of housing. Currently Homeword and HRDC are working to transform the old Livingston Memorial Hospital into 35-units of low income housing. In
addition, developers in the area are looking towards more high density housing options including an HRDC development of small manufactured homes.

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING AND MAJOR INITIATIVES
In August 2017, the City of Livingston began construction of a new wastewater treatment facility. The total cost of the project is estimated to be $19.5 million and was
substantially complete in August 2019. To fund the facility, the City used a combination of loans, impact fees, and grants provided by various funding agencies. For a City

that has, in the past, only completed projects as funds were available, this was a new strategy. A significant amount of work was invested by the employees of the city as well
as the various funding agencies to ensure this project could be completed and the city would be able to service the debt.
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The City began improving the infrastructure in the downtown area in the spring of 2018 as part of a multiyear project. This is a project that has been years in the making and
will include new streets, sidewalks, and other infrastructure. The City continued with the next two phases of this project beginning in the spring of 2019. Improvements
continued into 2020 and will be completed in the Fall. Future infrastructure projects will be focus in areas outside of Downtown.

In the early fall of 2018 the City began creating it’s 5-year Strategic Plan. The final plan was approved and adopted by the City Commission in March 2019. Details of the
Strategic Plan as well as the progress made can be found on the City’s website (livingstonmontana.org). This document is updated as need if priorities of the City have
changed.

Additional information related to City projects during the year can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis section of this report beginning on page 11-3.
AWARDS

The Government Finance Officers' Association (GFOA) awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Livingston for its
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. This was the eighth year the City has received this prestigious award. The Certificate
of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in the area of governmental accounting and financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant accomplishment
by the City. Each CAFR is judged by an impartial panel to meet the high standards of the program including demonstrating a constructive “spirit of full disclosure” to clearly
communicate its financial story and motivate potential users to read the CAFR.
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A M AT I C S 45 Discovery Dr. P 406.404.1925

Bozeman, MT 59718 F 406.404.1926

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

City Commissioners and City Manager
City of Livingston, Montana

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Livingston, Montana (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’ s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Livingston, Montana, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
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Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and analysis, schedules of changes in total other-
post employment benefits liability and related ratios, schedules of proportionate share of the City’s net pension liability and schedules of the City’s contributions for
PERS, MPORS, and FURS pension plans, and budgetary comparison information for the general fund and major special revenue funds, as listed in the table of contents,
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the City of Livingston, Montana’s basic financial
statements. The introductory section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, budget and actual schedules — nonmajor funds, and statistical
section, listed in the table of contents as supplemental information, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, budget and actual schedules — nonmajor funds, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards
are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, budget and actual schedules — nonmajor funds, and the schedule of expenditures of federal
awards are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 15, 2020, on our consideration of the City of
Livingston, Montana's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Sandards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Amatics CPA Group
Bozeman, Montana
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
June 30, 2020

As management of the City of Livingston (the City), Montana, we offer the readers of the City’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial
activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.

Financial Highlights

The City’s assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at June 30 by $38,785,246 (net position). Of this amount,
$2,900,489 is unrestricted net position, an increase of $908,852.

e  Total net position increased by $2,865,356 from the prior fiscal year. This is a result of an increase of $1,837,414 in the City’s net investment in capital assets,
$119,090 in restricted net position, and $908,852 in unrestricted net position from fiscal year 2019.

e  AsofJune 30, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $5,749,031, an increase of $948,533 from the prior year. Of this amount,
$4,601,840 is available for spending at the government’s discretion (committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances).

Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. The City’s basic financial statements consist of the following
three components:

1. Government-Wide Financial Statements;
2. Fund Financial Statements;
3. Notes to Financial Statements.
Required supplementary information is also included.

Government-Wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a
manner similar to private-sector businesses.

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities report information about the City as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer the question,
“Is the City’s financial position getting better or worse?”

The Statement of Net Position includes all assets and deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between them
reported as net position. The Statement of Activities presents revenue and expense information showing how the net position changed during the year. Over time, increases
or decreases to the City’s net position serve as a useful indicator of whether the City’s financial position is improving or deteriorating.

All changes to net position are reported using the accrual basis of accounting, which is the method of accounting used by most private-sector businesses. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, all of the reported year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when the related cash is received or paid. Thus, revenues and
expenditures are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation
leave).
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
June 30, 2020

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities distinguish between the following activities:

e Governmental Activities - much of the City’s basic services are reported here, including general administration, public safety, public works, culture and recreation,
and community development. Property taxes, state entitlement distributions, property assessments, and state and federal grants finance most of the costs of these
activities.

e Business-type Activities - the City charges a fee to customers to recover the cost of certain services provided. The City’s water, wastewater, solid waste, and
ambulance are reported here.

The government-wide statements can be found beginning on page 1I-11 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or
objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of
the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. These funds focus on how money flows into and out of the funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for use. These funds use the modified
accrual method of accounting, which measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a
detailed short-term view of the City’s general government operations and the basic services it provides. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s
near-term financing requirements. Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the
information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so,
readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for all funds. Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 34 requires budgetary information be shown
for the General fund and each major special revenue fund. The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found beginning on page II-13 of this report.

Proprietary Funds. The City maintains one type of proprietary funds (enterprise). Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses enterprise funds to account for its Water, Wastewater, Solid Waste, and Ambulance operations.
Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all activities are reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, but provide more detail and
additional information, such as cash flows. The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found beginning on page II-18 of this report.

Fiduciary Funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the
government-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds

is much like that used for proprietary funds. The City has one fiduciary fund categorized as an agency fund (perpetual cemetery fund).

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and
fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found beginning on page 11-24 of this report.

Other Information. All required supplementary information is included beginning on page I1-75.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
June 30, 2020

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the case of the City, assets and deferred outflows of
resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $38,785,246 at June 30, 2020.

The largest portion of the City’s net position ($33,907,654 or 87.4%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery and equipment), less any
related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not
available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this
debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. A summary of the statement of net position is
shown in the following table.

City of Livings ton
Net Position
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020
Current and other assets $ 5,871,018 $ 6,441,682 $ 4,712,258 $ 5,069,443 $ 10,583,276 $ 11,511,125
Capital assets 16,126,150 16,719,265 35,123,294 36,328,520 51,249,444 53,047,785
Total assets 21,997,168 23,160,947 39,835,552 41,397,963 61,832,720 64,558,910
Deferred outflows of resources 798,910 830,700 433,178 420,507 1,232,088 1,251,207
Long-term liabilities outstanding 7,443,480 7,302,654 16,993,893 17,842,858 24,437,373 25,145,512
Other liabilities 919,840 610,791 680,207 275,452 1,600,047 886,243
Total liabilities 8,363,320 7,913,445 17,674,100 18,118,310 26,037,420 26,031,755
Deferred inflows of resources 698,046 625,348 409,452 367,768 1,107,498 993,116
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 12,400,281 13,341,285 19,669,959 20,566,369 32,070,240 33,907,654
Restricted 942,249 1,130,133 915,764 846,970 1,858,013 1,977,103
Unrestricted 392,182 981,436 1,599,455 1,919,053 1,991,637 2,900,489
Total net position $ 13,734,712 $ 15,452,854 $ 22,185,178 $ 23,332,392 $ 35,919,890 $ 38,785,246
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
June 30, 2020

An additional portion of the City’s net position ($1,977,103 or 5.1%) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining
balance of unrestricted net position ($2,900,489 or 7.5%) may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

At June 30, 2020, the City reported overall positive net position, both for the City as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities.
Overall, the City’s net position increased during the current fiscal year by $2,865,356.

Governmental Activities. Governmental activities in fiscal year 2020 increased the City’s net position by $1,718,142. The key element of this increase is due to an
increase in Operating Grants and Contributions. This City received $567,731 in revenue from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act that was

not anticipated. The remaining portion of the increase represents a normal variation in revenues and expenditures.

Business-Type Activities. Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $1,147,214. This increase is a normal variation in revenues and expenses within
the City’s enterprise funds.

Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds

Governmental Funds. As of June 30, the City’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $5,749,031, an increase of $948,533 in comparison with the
prior year. Of this amount, $1,147,191 or 20% is restricted to indicate that it is not available for new spending, $4,601,840 is available for spending at the government’s
discretion.

The General fund is the primary operating fund of the City. At June 30, 2020, total fund balance was $2,239,046, of which $2,221,988 was unassigned and $17,058 was
non-spendable. The unassigned fund balance represents 40.4% of the general fund operating expenditures and transfers out. The fund balance increased $824,268 during
the current fiscal year as a result of additional tax collections, intergovernmental revenue and transfers in from other funds.

The Tax Increment District — Downtown had an ending fund balance of $490,453, a decrease of $611,110 from the prior year. This decrease in fund balance is from the
completion of downtown infrastructure improvements. The bond proceeds for this project were received during in the prior fiscal year. Also of note, tax revenue increased
$184,943 from the previous year due to the bi-annual property valuation completed by the State of Montana.

Proprietary Funds. The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights. Actual expenditures, including transfers out, in the General fund were $5,626,063, while appropriations were $5,994,246, resulting

an unexpended balance of $368,183. Unexpended funds are the result of certain grant revenue and related expenditures anticipated during the budget cycle but not
received.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
June 30, 2020

Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital Assets. The City of Livingston’s investment in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30
was $53,047,785. This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements other than buildings, machinery and equipment, construction in progress and

infrastructure. More detailed information on capital assets can be found beginning on page 11-33 of this report.

Capital asset additions during the current fiscal year include the following:

Governmental Proprietary

e Street shop roof - $29,500 e Ford F-150 - $7,035

e Civic Center kitchen remodel - $2,638 e Ford type I ambulance - $196,163

e Downtown capital improvements - $1,080,210 e Downtown capital improvements - $57,261
o Light poles - $52,345 e Water reclamation facility - $964,228

e O Street trail connector - $5,059 e John Deere loader - $79,932

e Hi-way spreader - $12,678 e Sewer flow monitoring equipment - $19,529
e Caterpillar loader - $6,895 e Solar system for WRF - $79,998

e 400U-10 Dump body - $10,047 e 5th - 8th sewer improvements - $374,076

e Wildcat snow blower - $20,000 e Solid Waste vehicle barn - $245,521

e Metal roll-off garbage bins - $25,548
e Excavator and trailer - $129,659
e Park street water main upgrades - $550,164
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Below is summary information related to the government's capital assets:

(net of accumulated depreciation)

Non-depreciable assets:
Land
Construction in progress

Depreciable assets:
Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total capital assets

June 30, 2020

City of Livings ton

Capital Assets

38

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ 375,226 52,980 $ 428,206
1,769,420 351,541 $ 2,120,961
2,144,646 404,521 2,549,167
2,312,090 2,081,375 4,393,465
1,635,460 - 1,635,460
1,923,351 1,302,869 3,226,220
8,703,718 32,539,755 41,243,473
14,574,619 35,923,999 50,498,618

$ 16,719,265 36,328,520 $ 53,047,785
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
June 30, 2020

Long-Term Debt. As of June 30, the City had total debt outstanding of $19,140,131. Of this amount $650,178 comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the
government; $2,169,008 is special assessment and tax increment debt for which the government is partially liable in the event of default by the property owners subject
to the assessment; $15,762,151 is bonds secured solely by specified revenue sources of the water and wastewater funds net of amortization of issuance costs and premiums
or discounts amortized over the life of the bonds; and the remaining $558,794 is loans and leases payable. Additional information on long-term debt can be found in the
notes of the basic financial statements. More detailed information on Long-Term Debt can be found beginning on page I1-37 of this report.

City of Livingston
Outstanding Debt as of June 30,2020

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

General obligation bonds $ 650,178 $ - $ 650,178
Notes payable 408,794 - 408,794
Special assessment debt with

government commitment 150,000 - 150,000
Tax increment 2,169,008 - 2,169,008
Revenue bonds - 15,762,151 15,762,151
Total $ 3,377,980 $ 15,762,151 $ 19,140,131
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
June 30, 2020

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates
The City changed various rates for fiscal year 2020 as follows:

e The City Commission approved rate increases in several funds to maintain or increase reserves to finance their respective Comprehensive Capital Improvement
Program. The approximate increase for each service is:

Average
Rate Increase

Governmental:
Street Maintenance District 0%
Light Maintenance District 0%
Proprietary:
Water 3%
Wastewater 0%
Solid Waste 17%

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for
additional financial information should be addressed to the City of Livingston, Finance Department, 110 South B Street, Livingston, MT 59047.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

ASSETS

Cash and investments

Restricted cash and investments

Receivables, net

Internal balances

Capital assets
Nondepreciable land
Construction in progress
Other capital assets, net of depreciation

Total capital assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows - pensions
Deferred outflows - other post employement benefits
Total deferred outflows of resources

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Compensated absences payable
Current portion long-term debt
Long-term liabilities
Compensated absences
Other post-employment health benefits
Net pension liabilitiy
Long-term debt due in more than one yeat
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows - pensions
Deferred inflows - other post-employment health benefits
Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted - nonexpendable
Restricted for public safety
Restricted for public works
Restricted for culture and recreation
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted

Total net position

June 30, 2020
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
$ 3,664,600 $ 3,201,548 $ 6,866,148
293,564 710,035 1,003,599
2,449,402 1,191,976 3,641,378
34,116 (34,116) -
375,226 52,980 428,206
1,769,420 351,541 2,120,961
14,574,619 35,923,999 50,498,618
16,719,265 36,328,520 53,047,785
23,160,947 41,397,963 64,558,910
750,850 379,117 1,129,967
79,850 41,390 121,240
830,700 420,507 1,251,207
175,007 186,819 361,826
90,000 40,000 130,000
345,784 448,633 794,417
369,173 151,951 521,124
652,136 338,031 990,167
3,249,149 1,639,358 4,888,507
3,032,196 15,313,518 18,345,714
7,913,445 18,118,310 26,031,755
342,293 221,047 563,340
283,055 146,721 429,776
625,348 367,768 993,116
13,341,285 20,566,369 33,907,654
244,878 - 244,878
49,947 - 49,947
378,038 - 378,038
35,732 - 35,732
421,538 846,970 1,268,508
981,436 1,919,053 2,900,489
$ 15,452,854 $ 23,332,392 $ 38,785,246

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Program Revenues

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

44

Operating Capital Primary Government
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Primary Government:
Governmental activities:
General government $ 1,460,018 $ 336,710 $ 638,733 $ - (484,575) $ - $ (484,575)
Public safety 3,760,377 696,516 491,308 6,400 (2,566,153) - (2,566,153)
Public works 1,633,362 1,350,824 149,697 62,906 (69,935) - (69,935)
Public health 160,943 21,812 - - (139,131) - (139,131)
Culture and recreation 1,286,079 97,082 527,147 - (661,850) - (661,850)
Interest, fiscal fees, and debt costs 124,641 - - - (124,641) - (124,641)
Total governmental activities 8,425,420 2,502,944 1,806,885 69,306 (4,046,285) (4,046,285)
Business-type activities:
Water 1,183,508 1,646,245 8,224 - - 470,961 470,961
Sewer 2,453,140 2,565,974 10,978 232,668 - 356,480 356,480
Solid Waste 2,029,699 2,473,568 9,733 - - 453,602 453,602
Ambulance 1,561,738 1,891,558 234,861 - - 564,681 564,681
Total business-type activities 7,228,085 8,577,345 263,796 232,668 - 1,845,724 1,845,724
Total primary government $ 15,653,505 $ 11,080,289 $ 2,070,681 $ 301,974 (4,046,285) 1,845,724 (2,200,561)
General revenues:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes 3,646,615 28,628 3,675,243
Property taxes, levied for debt service 60,057 - 60,057
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs 1,177,400 - 1,177,400
Unrestricted investment earnings 24,828 28,870 53,698
Miscellaneous 97,407 2,112 99,519
Total general revenues 5,006,307 59,610 5,065,917
Transfers 758,120 (758,120) -
5,764,427 (698,510) 5,065,917
Change in net position 1,718,142 1,147,214 2,865,356
Net position-beginning 13,734,712 22,185,178 35,919,890
Net position-ending 15,452,854 $ 23,332,392 $ 38,785,246

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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GOVERNMENTAL FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

General Fund: The General Fund is the primary operating unit of the City. It accounts for all financial resources of the City, except those required to be
accounted for in another fund.

Tax Increment District — Downtown Fund: The Downtown Tax Increment District was created after the adoption of the Livingston Urban Renewal Agency
Plan by the City Commission. The primary purpose of this District is to rehabilitate and develop identified blighted areas within the City of Livingston’s
Downtown area.




ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Property taxes
Customers, net
Other
Special assessments
Other governments
Due from other City funds
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2020

48

Tax Increment Other Total
District Governmental Governmental

General Downtown Funds Funds
$ 1,776,091 $ 129,707 $ 1,758,802 $ 3,664,600
36,174 8,903 10,492 55,569
50,883 - 14,488 65,371
40,000 - 731,431 771,431
- 4,718 414,854 419,572
464,007 60,471 612,981 1,137,459
17,058 138,100 22,608 177,766
32,722 162,175 98,667 293,564
$ 2,416,935 $ 504,074 $ 3,664,323 $ 6,585,332

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

II-13




CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2020
Tax Increment Other Total
District Governmental Governmental
General Downtown Funds Funds

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS
OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 61,977 $ - $ 75,795 $ 137,772
Court bonds payable 37,235 - - 37,235
Due to other City funds - - 143,650 143,650
Total liabilities 99,212 - 219,445 318,657
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows - tax revenues 36,174 8,903 9,340 54,417
Deferred inflows - special assessments - 4,718 416,006 420,724
Deferred inflows - court fines 42,503 - - 42,503
Total deferred inflows of resources 78,677 13,621 425,346 517,644
Fund balances:
Nonspendable 17,058 - 244,878 261,936
Restricted - - 885,255 885,255
Committed - 490,453 2,025,502 2,515,955
Unassigned 2,221,988 - (136,103) 2,085,885
Total fund balances 2,239,046 490,453 3,019,532 5,749,031
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances $ 2,416,935 $ 504,074 $ 3,664,323 $ 6,585,332

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2020

Fund balances - total governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are

different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore
are not reported in the governmental funds.

Governmental capital assets $ 23,758,571
Less: accumulated depreciation (7,039,306)

Advances and deferred inflows in the governmental funds are reported on the full accrual

basis in the entity-wide statements.

Deferred outflows related to pensions are not receivable in the current period and therefore

are not reported in the governmental funds.

Deferred inflows related to pensions and other post-employment health benefits are not

payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds.

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not

reported in the governmental funds.
Bonds payable (3,318,794)
Unamortized bond issuance premium (59,186)
Net pension liability (3,249,149)
Other post-employment health benefits (652,136)
Compensated absences (459,173)

Net position of governmental activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2020
Tax Increment Other Total
District Governmental Governmental
General Downtown Funds Funds
REVENUES
Taxes $ 2,443,664 $ 379,256 $ 883,672 $ 3,706,592
Special assessments - 5,680 1,352,035 1,357,715
Licenses and permits 349,841 - 16,600 366,441
Intergovernmental 2,215,651 40,967 796,973 3,053,591
Charges for services 101,805 - 529,675 631,480
Fines and forfeitures 121,384 - 771 122,155
Interest on investments 7,266 3,504 14,058 24,828
Other 84,032 - 13,375 97,407
Total revenues 5,323,643 429,407 3,607,159 9,360,209
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 1,342,739 11,805 66,562 1,421,106
Public safety 2,740,002 - 759,575 3,499,577
Public works 395,892 - 885,403 1,281,295
Public health 150,626 - 1,794 152,420
Culture and recreation 530,594 - 536,811 1,067,405
Capital outlay 120,814 869,787 398,919 1,389,520
Debt service
Principal payments 8,001 92,072 267,816 367,889
Interest and fiscal fees 2,095 66,853 55,693 124,641
Total expenditures 5,290,763 1,040,517 2,972,573 9,303,853
Excess (deficiency) of revenues ovet
expenditures 32,880 (611,110) 634,586 56,356
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 1,126,688 - 648,557 1,775,245
Transfers out (335,300) - (681,825) (1,017,125)
Issuance of debt - - 20,000 20,000
Total other financing sources (uses) 791,388 - (13,268) 778,120
Net change in fund balances 824,268 (611,110) 621,318 834,476
FUND BALANCE -
beginning of year, originally reportec 1,414,778 1,101,563 2,284,157 4,800,498
prior period adjustment - - 114,057 114,057
beginning of year, restated 1,414,778 1,101,563 2,398,214 4,914,555
FUND BALANCE -
end of year S 2,239.046 $ 490.453 $ 3.019.532 S 5.749.031

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 834,476

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. In the statement of
activities, however, the cost of these assets is depreciated over the assets'
useful lives.
Expenditures for capital assets $ 1,389,520
Less: current year depreciation (796,406)

593,114

Repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but

this repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net

position.
Bond and loan proceeds (20,000)
Principal payments 367,889

347,889

Governmental funds do not report a liability for other post-employment
health benefits and net pension liabilities. (63,248)

Some revenues and expenses reported in the statement of activities do not
require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported
as revenues and expenses in the governmental funds. 25,233

Some expenditures reported in governmental funds are to be collected on a
long-term basis and therefore are not reported as expenses in the statement
of activities.
Accrued compensated absences (19,322)

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 1,718,142

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PROPRIETARY FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS

These funds are used to account for the financing, acquisition, operation and maintenance of water, sewer, and solid waste facilities, which are supported by
user charges.

Major Enterprise Funds —

Water Fund: Accounts for the activities of the City's water services.

Sewer Fund: Accounts for the activities of the City's wastewater services.

Solid Waste Fund: Accounts for the activities of the City’s sanitation services.

Ambulance Fund: Accounts for the activities of the City’s ambulance services.




ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Taxes
Customers receivables, net
Other
Special assessments
Other governments
Due from other City funds

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and investments

Total noncurrent assets

Property, plant and equipment
Nondepreciable:
Land
Construction work in process
Depreciable:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Source of supply
Transmission and distribution
General plant

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Net property, plant and equipment

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred outflows related to pensions

Deferred outflows - other post-employment health benefits

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

55

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
June 30, 2020
Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Water Sewer Solid Waste Ambulance Total

$ 1,188,318 $ 1,564,820 83,934 $ 364,476 $ 3,201,548
- - - 564 564

188,220 269,731 260,033 203,157 921,141
976 - - - 976

155 116 102 - 373

- - - 268,922 268,922

- 17,058 - - 17,058
1,377,669 1,851,725 344,069 837,119 4,410,582
- 710,035 - - 710,035

- 710,035 - - 710,035

52,980 - - - 52,980
17,455 24,590 309,496 - 351,541
645,920 4,285,681 958,814 165,261 6,055,676
909,443 1,249,164 1,614,049 743,132 4,515,788
1,228,040 - - - 1,228,040
9,948,236 8,783,845 - - 18,732,081
48,164 23,532,236 - - 23,580,400
(5,623,521) (10,624,493) (1,352,647) (587,325) (18,187,986)
7,226,717 27,251,023 1,529,712 321,068 36,328,520
8,604,386 29,812,783 1,873,781 1,158,187 41,449,137
68,000 90,767 80,475 139,875 379,117
8,664 10,758 10,161 11,807 41,390
76,664 101,525 90,636 151,682 420,507

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (CONTINUED)

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
June 30, 2020
Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Water Sewer Solid Waste Ambulance Total
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 8,722 $ 6,783 $ 164,384 $ 5,684 $ 185,573
Utility deposit payable 1,246 - - - 1,246
Due to other City funds - - 51,174 - 51,174
Compensated absences 9,000 13,000 8,000 10,000 40,000
Bonds, notes, and loans payable - 448,633 - - 448,633
Total current liabilities 18,968 468,416 223,558 15,684 726,626
Noncurrent liabilities
Compensated absences 10,415 43,365 50,426 47,745 151,951
Other post-employment health benefits 70,759 87,860 82,986 96,426 338,031
Net pension liability 371,857 496,360 440,077 331,064 1,639,358
Bonds, notes, and loans payable - 15,313,518 - - 15,313,518
Total noncurrent liabilities 453,031 15,941,103 573,489 475,235 17,442,858
Total liabilities 471,999 16,409,519 797,047 490,919 18,169,484
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows - pensions 57,568 76,343 68,129 18,507 221,047
Deferred inflows - other post-employment health benefits 30,713 38,135 36,020 41,853 146,721
88,281 114,978 104,149 60,360 367,768
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 7,226,717 11,488,872 1,529,712 321,068 20,566,369
Restricted for debt service - 846,970 - - 846,970
Unrestricted 894,053 1,053,969 (466,491) 437,522 1,919,053
Total net position 3 8,120,770 $ 13.389.811 3 1,063,221 3 758.590 $ 23332392

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Water Sewer Solid Waste Ambulance Totals
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 1,646,240 $ 2,519,581 $ 2,473,555 $ 1,890,558 $ 8,529,934
Special assessments 5 - 13 - 18
Total operating revenues 1,646,245 2,519,581 2,473,568 1,890,558 8,529,952
OPERATING EXPENSES
Personal services 488,160 687,713 592,422 1,315,968 3,084,263
Depreciation and amortization 327,590 1,011,280 129,141 55,876 1,523,887
Supplies, service, materials 365,937 425,254 1,305,110 189,894 2,286,195
Total operating expenses 1,181,687 2,124,247 2,026,673 1,561,738 6,894,345
Operating income 464,558 395,334 446,895 328,820 1,635,607
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest income 9,917 17,517 (278) 1,714 28,870
Interest expense (1,821) (328,893) (3,026) - (333,740)
Other revenue - 46,393 - 1,000 47,393
Intergovernmental revenue 8,224 243,646 9,733 234,861 496,464
Sale of capital assets - - - 2,112 2,112
Tax revenue - - - 28,628 28,628
Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 16,320 (21,337) 6,429 268,315 269,727
Income before contributions and transfers 480,878 373,997 453,324 597,135 1,905,334
Transfers out (179.813) (237,103) (203,732) (137.472) (758,120)
Change in net position 301,065 136,894 249,592 459,663 1,147,214
NET POSITION,
beginning of year 7,819,705 13,252,917 813,629 298,927 22,185,178
NET POSITION,
end of year $ 8.120.770 $§ 13.389.811 $ 1,063,221 $ 758.590 $ 23332392

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Receipts from customers
Receipts from (payments to) others
Operating loans from (to) other funds
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities:
Cash receipts from property taxes
Receipts from grants
Transfers out
Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Noncapital Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Principal paid on bonds, interfund loans, loans, and leases
Proceeds from issuance of bonds, loans, and leases
Interest paid on bonds, interfund loans, loans and leases
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

Net Cash Flows Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest received on investments
Net Cash Flows Provided (Used) by Investing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year

Classified As:
Current Assets
Restricted Assets

Totals

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2020
Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds
‘Water Sewer Solid Waste Ambulance Total
$ 1,601,500 $ 2,526,938 $ 2,517,405 $ 1,753,261 $ 8,399,104
(431) 325 812 1,000 1,706
- 191,061 (224,182) - (33,121)
(408,516) (460,579) (1,153,119) (195,198) (2,217,412)
(507,275) (667,399) (588,692) (1,284,546) (3,047,912)
685,278 1,590,346 552,224 274,517 3,102,365
- - - 28,650 28,650
8,224 290,039 9,733 234,861 542,857
(179,813) (237,103) (203,732) (137,472) (758,120)
(171,589) 52,936 (193,999) 126,039 (186,613)
(697,278) (1,557,570) (271,069) (203,196) (2,729,113)
(85,295) (438,066) - (523,361)
- 832,178 - - 832,178
(1,821) (328,893) (3,026) - (333,740)
- - - 2,112 2,112
(784,394) (1,492,351) (274,095) (201,084) (2,751,924)
9,917 17,517 (278) 1,714 28,870
9,917 17,517 (278) 1,714 28,870
(260,788) 168,448 83,852 201,186 192,698
1,449,106 2,106,407 82 163,290 3,718,885
$ 1.188.318 $ 2.274.855 $ 83.934 $ 364.476 $ 3.911.583
$ 1,188,318 $ 1,564,820 $ 83,934 $ 364,476 $ 3,201,548
- 710,035 - - 710,035
$ 1.188.318 $ 2.274.855 $ 83.934 $ 364.476 $ 3911.583

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

Operating income

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization

Change in assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and
deferred inflows:
(Increase) Decrease in:
Accounts receivable
Other receivables
Deferred outflows of resources
Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable
Other post-employment benefits
Net pension liability
Deferred inflows of resources
Loans from other City funds
Accrued employee benefits payable

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by
operating activities

59

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2020
Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds
Water Sewer Solid Waste Ambulance Total
$ 464,558 $ 395,334 $ 446,895 $ 328,820 $ 1,635,607
327,590 1,011,280 129,141 55,876 1,523,887
(44,745) 7,357 43,837 32,172 38,621
(431) 325 812 (168,469) (167,763)
9,974 8,749 12,276 (18,328) 12,671
(42,579) (35,325) 151,992 (5,304) 68,784
(1,089) (538) (5,115) 9,447 2,705
15,616 42,933 16,921 12,988 88,458
(18,372) (19,877) (23,345) 19,910 (41,684)
- 191,061 (224,183) - (33,122)
(25,244) (10,953) 2,993 7,405 (25,799)
220,720 1,195,012 105,329 (54,303) 1,466,758
$ 685,278 $ 1,590,346 $ 552,224 $ 274,517 $ 3,102,365

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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FIDUCIARY FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS

AGENCY FUNDS

Agency funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments and/or other funds.

Payroll Agency Fund: Accounts for payment of payroll liabilities and health insurance premiums.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
June 30, 2020
Agency
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 206,538
Prepaid health insurance 41,772
Total assets $ 248,310
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 248,310
Total liabilities $ 248,310

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Livingston, Montana (the City), is an independent political entity established under Montana Law. The City is governed by an appointed City
Manager and elected City Commission. The City Commission, by law, has the authority to adopt budgets, appropriate funds, levy taxes, employ personnel and
pass ordinances. The Park County Treasurer's office functions in a fiduciary capacity to the extent that it bills and collects taxes and receives certain
intergovernmental revenue for the City; however, Park County does not function in an oversight capacity with regard to the City.

The accompanying financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as prescribed by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. In June 1999 the GASB issued Statement No. 34 Basic Financial Statements-and Management’s Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local
Governments. This Statement establishes new financial reporting requirements for state and local governments throughout the United States. It requires new
information and restructures much of the information that governments have presented in the past. Comparability with reports issued in prior years is affected.

The accompanying financial statements present the financial position of the City and the various funds and fund types, the results of operations of the City and
the various funds and fund types, and the cash flows of the proprietary funds. The financial statements are presented as of June 30, 2020, and for the year then
ended.

The more significant accounting policies of the City are described below.

Reporting Entity

For financial reporting purposes, the City has included all funds, organizations, agencies, boards, commissions and authorities. The City has also considered all
potential component units for which it is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the City
are such that exclusion would cause the City’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has set forth
criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. These criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (1)
the ability of the City to impose its will on that organization or (2) the potential for the organization to provide specific benefits to, or impose specific financial
burdens on, the City.

Basis of Accounting/Measurement Focus

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted
for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund balance, revenues and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.
Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which
spending activities are controlled.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Government-Wide Financial Statements

The Government-wide Financial Statements (the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) report information of all the nonfiduciary activities of
the government. These statements present summaries of Governmental and Business-Type Activities for the City accompanied by a total column.

These statements are presented on an “economic resources’ measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all of the City’s assets and
liabilities, including capital assets and long-term liabilities, are included in the accompanying Statement of Net Position. The City did not retroactively include
infrastructure in its assets.

The Statement of Activities presents changes in net position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are
earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. The types of transactions reported as program revenues for the City are
reported in three categories: 1) charges for services, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions.

Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB 34 with regard to interfund activities, payables and receivables. All internal balances in the
Statement of Net Position have been eliminated except those representing balances between the governmental activities and the business-type activities, which
are presented as internal balances and eliminated in the total primary government column. There are no internal service fund transactions to be eliminated.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Fund Financial Statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for all major
governmental funds and nonmajor funds aggregated. An accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the differences in fund balances and
changes in fund balances as presented in these statements to the net position and changes in net position presented in the Government-Wide Financial Statements.
The City has presented all major funds that met those qualifications.

All governmental funds are accounted for on a spending or “current financial resources’” measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Accordingly, only current assets, current deferred outflows of resources, current liabilities, and current deferred inflows of resources are included on the Balance
Sheets. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances present increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases
(expenditures and other financing uses) in net current assets. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in
which they become both measurable and available. When an asset is recorded in governmental fund financial statements, but the revenue is not available, the
City reports a deferred inflow of resources until such time as the revenue becomes available. Revenues are recorded when received in cash, except that revenues
subject to accrual (generally 60 days after year-end) are recognized when due. The primary revenue sources which have been treated as susceptible to accrual by
the City are property tax, intergovernmental revenues, and other taxes. Expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position, and a
Statement of Cash Flows for each major proprietary fund. There is no column representing internal service funds presented in the statements.

Proprietary funds are accounted for using the “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all assets, deferred
outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources (whether current or noncurrent) are included on the Statement of Net Position. The Statement
of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position presents increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net position. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred.

Operating revenues in the proprictary funds are those revenues that are generated from the primary operations of the fund. All other revenues are reported as
non-operating revenues. Operating expenses are those expenses that are essential to the primary operations of the fund. All other expenses are reported as non-
operating expenses.

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position. The City’s Fiduciary Funds represent Agency Funds, which are custodial in nature
(assets equal liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. Therefore, the Agency Funds do not have a measurement focus. These funds

are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. The following Agency Funds are included in the Fiduciary Fund financial statements:

Payroll Agency Fund: Accounts for payment of payroll liabilities and health insurance premiums.

Funds
As mentioned, the Governmental Fund Financial Statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
for all major governmental funds and nonmajor funds aggregated. The following major funds are presented in a separate column on the Governmental Fund

Financial Statements:

Governmental Funds

1. General Fund: The General Fund is the primary operating unit of the City. It accounts for all financial resources of the City, except those required to be
accounted for in another fund.
2. Tax Increment District Downtown: The Downtown Tax Increment District was created after the adoption of the Livingston Urban Renewal Agency Plan

by the City Commission. The primary purpose of this District is to rehabilitate and develop identified blighted areas within the City of Livingston’s
Downtown area.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Proprietary Funds

1. Water Fund: Accounts for the activities of the City's water services.

2. Sewer Fund: Accounts for the activities of the City's wastewater services.

3. Solid Waste Fund: Accounts for the activities of the City’s sanitation services.
4. Ambulance Fund: Accounts for the activities of the City’s ambulance services.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

An annual appropriated operating budget is adopted each fiscal year for the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, Debt Service Funds, and Capital Projects
Funds on the modified accrual basis. An annual appropriated operating budget is adopted each fiscal year for the Proprietary Funds on the accrual basis.

The final budget is legally enacted by the City Commission by the later of the first Thursday after the first Tuesday in September or within 30 calendar days of
receiving certified taxable values from the Department of Revenue, as required by State statutes.

The operating budgets cannot be increased except through a public hearing or for a public emergency, which could not have been reasonably foreseen at the time
of adoption of the budget. Budget appropriation transfers may be made between the general classifications of salaries and wages, maintenance and operation and
capital outlay.

Capital Assets

The City’s assets are capitalized at historical cost or estimated historical cost. City policy has set the capitalization threshold for reporting capital assets at
$5,000. Gifts or contributions of capital assets are recorded at fair market value when received. Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items
are reported at acquisition value rather than fair value. Depreciable capital assets are reported on the Statement of Net Position, net of applicable accumulated
depreciation. Capital assets which are not depreciable, such as land and construction in progress, are reported separately. Depreciation expense is reported in
Statement of Activities and is calculated using the straight-line method based on the assets estimated useful life.

Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets as follows:

Building and structures 10 to 100 years
Improvements 5 to 30 years
Machinery and equipment 5 to 30 years
Infrastructure 40 years

In June 1999, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement 34 which requires the inclusion of infrastructure capital assets in local
governments’ basic financial statements. According to GASB 34, the City must record infrastructure assets prospectively from the date of implementation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
The City defines infrastructure as the basic physical assets that allow the City to function. The assets to be recorded will include the street system, water
purification and distribution system, sewer collection treatment system; park and recreation lands and improvement system, storm water conveyance system, and

buildings combined with the site amenities such as parking and landscaped areas; and streets, sidewalks, curbs, and street lights.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. Improvements are
capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets, as applicable.

Enterprise Accounts Receivable

Ambulance receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. Ambulance receivables in excess of 90 days comprise the allowance for
uncollectible accounts, which was $139,580 at June 30, 2020. Other enterprise receivable bad debts are written-off using the direct write-off method. Use of this
method does not result in a material difference from the allowance method required by generally accepted accounting principles.

Revolving Loan Funds

The City has contracted a local non-profit economic development entity to administer its CDBG revolving loan funds. The agreement between the City and the
entity stipulates administrative and loan service fees paid by the City in exchange for the entity’s administration of the loans.

Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund
financial statements.

On-Behalf Payments for Fringe Benefits

On-behalf payments for fringe benefits are direct payments made by one entity to a third-party recipient for the employees of another legally separate entity. On-
behalf payments include pension plan contributions. The State’s pension contributions are recorded as intergovernmental revenue with offsetting expenditures in
the General, Library, Dispatch, Street, Water, Sewer, Solid Waste, and Ambulance funds.

Compensated Absences Payable

Earned but unpaid vacation and sick pay is included as a liability in the proprietary funds and Government-Wide Financial Statements. A liability for these
amounts is reported in the governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations or retirements.

Employees earn vacation leave ranging from 15 to 24 days per year depending on the individual’s years of service. Accumulated vacation is restricted under
Montana statute to a maximum accumulation of two times the amount earned annually. Sick leave is accumulated at 12 days per year with no limitations on the
amount that may be accumulated. Upon retirement or resignation, an employee is eligible for 100 percent of the accumulated vacation leave and 25 percent of
the accumulated sick leave.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers all investments with original maturities of three months or less to be highly liquid investments
and, therefore, cash equivalents.

Inventories

Inventories of materials and supplies are expensed at the time of purchase. Inventories of materials and supplies on hand are not maintained. Inventory balances
were not considered material.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Interfund Transactions

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds that may result in amounts owed between funds. Those short-term loans
related to goods and services type transactions are classified as “due to and from other funds.” Long-term interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as
“advances to and from other funds.” Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the
government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.” Interfund receivables and payables between funds are eliminated in the Statement of Net Position.

Fund Balance/Net Position

Fund Balance

Per GASB Statement No. 54, fund balance in the governmental funds is reported in two general classifications: nonspendable and spendable. Nonspendable
represents the portion of fund balance that is not in spendable form such as inventories, and, in the general fund, long term notes and loans receivable. Spendable
fund balance is further categorized as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned.

The restricted fund balance category contains balances that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by external parties or through enabling
legislation. External parties include grantors, debt covenants, votes, and laws and regulations of other governments. The committed fund balance category
includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority,
the City Commission. A resolution by the City Commission is required to establish, modify, or rescind a fund balance commitment.

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the government for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified
as restricted or committed. Assignments of fund balance are created by an official who the governing body has delegated the authority to assign amounts to be
used for specific purposes. The governing body (City Commission) has delegated this authority to the City Manager. The policy used by the governing body to
authorize the assignment of fund balance came in the form of a resolution, which gave the authority to assign fund balance to the City Manager. In governmental
funds other than the general fund, assigned fund balance also represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or committed. Also included in the assigned
fund balance for the general fund are assignments for the portion of the current general fund balance that is projected to be used to fund expenditures and other
cash outflows in excess of the expected revenues and other cash inflows in the next fiscal year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the government’s general fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other
classifications. In other funds, the unassigned classification should be used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific purposes for
which amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available in a fund, the assumed order of spending is restricted first, next committed, next assigned, and
finally unassigned.

Minimum General Fund — Fund Balance
The City does not maintain a stabilization fund.

Net Position

In funds other than governmental, net position represents the difference between (a) assets and deferred outflows of resources and (b) liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any
borrowing used for the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Net position are reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on
their use either through enabling legislation or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments. Certain
proceeds of the water and sewer revenue bonds and tax increment bonds are classified as restricted assets because their use is limited by applicable bond
restrictions.

Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position

Concepts Statement No. 4, Elements of Financial Statements, introduced and defined deferred outflows of resources as a consumption of net position by the
government that is applicable to a future reporting period, and defined deferred inflows of resources as an acquisition of net position by the government that is
applicable to a future reporting period. Previous financial reporting standards do not include guidance for reporting those financial statement elements, which are
distinct from assets and liabilities. Concepts Statement 4 also identifies net position as the residual of all other elements presented in the statement of financial
position.

Deferred inflows of resources in the governmental fund financial statements represent outstanding property taxes, special assessments, and court revenues. These
amounts are reported as revenue in the government-wide financial statements in the period in which they are levied/assessed. Deferred inflows and outflows of
resources in the government-wide financial statements relate to pension plan and OPEB calculations.

Pension Plans

The Montana Public Employees Retirement Administration (MPERA) prepared financial statements using the accrual basis of accounting. The same accrual
basis was used by MPERA for the purposes of determining the Net Pension Liability (NPL); Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
related to pensions; Pension Expense; the Fiduciary Net Position; and Additions to or Deductions from Fiduciary Net Position. Member contributions are
recognized in the period in which contributions are due. Employer contributions are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to
provide the contributions. Revenues are recognized in the accounting period they are earned and become measurable. Benefit payments and refunds are
recognized in the accounting period in which they are due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Expenses are recognized in the period incurred.
Investments are reported at fair value. MPERA adhered to all accounting principles generally accepted by the United States of America. MPERA applied all
applicable pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).
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CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Cash and investments may include cash, demand, time, savings, and fiscal agent deposits; investments in the State Short-Term Investment Pool (STIP); direct
obligations of the United States government and securities issued by agencies of the United States; repurchase agreements; and registered warrants. The City’s
cash, cash equivalents and investments as of year end are reported as follows:

Unrestricted Restricted Total
Governmental activities $ 3,664,600 $ 293,564 $ 3,958,164
Business-type activities 3,201,548 710,035 3,911,583
Fiduciary funds 206,538 - 206,538
$ 7.072.686 $ 1.003.599 § 8.076.285

Custodial Credit Risk—Deposits. Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the City’s deposits may not be
returned, or the City will not be able to recover the collateral securities in the possession of the outside party. The City does not have a deposit policy for
custodial credit risk. Account balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000 per bank, per depositor. The uninsured
portion of the bank balance ($5,902,453) was fully secured by pledged securities held by the financial institutions or by their trust departments or agents.

The City minimizes custodial credit risk by restrictions set forth in City policy and state law. The City’s policy requires deposits to be 102 percent secured by
collateral valued at market value. The City Finance Director maintains a listing of financial institutions, which are approved for investment purposes. Types of
securities that may be pledged as collateral are detailed in Section 17-6-103 of the Montana Code Annotated (MCA). City policy requires that specific
safeguards against risk of loss be evidenced when the City does not physically hold the securities.

Montana statutes require that the City obtain securities for the uninsured portion of the deposits as follows: 1) securities equal to 50% of such deposits if the
institution in which the deposits are made has a net worth to total assets ratio of 6% or more, or 2) securities equal to 100% of the uninsured deposits if the
institution in which the deposits are made has a net worth to total assets ratio of less than 6%. The state statutes do not specify in whose custody or name the
collateral is to be held. The amount of collateral held for City deposits at year end exceeds the amount required by state statutes.

Credit Risk. As noted above, statutes authorize the City to invest in direct obligations of the United States Government and securities issued by agencies of the
United States, repurchase agreements, and the State Short-Term Investment Pool (STIP). The City has no investment policy that would further limit its
investment choices. The City’s investments primarily consist almost entirely of certificates of deposit with effective interest rates of 0.09% to 2.7%. The
investments are recorded at cost, which materially approximates fair value.

Fair Value Measurement and Application. The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted

accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.
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The City voluntarily participates in the STIP (Short Term Investment Pool) administered by the Montana Board of Investments (MBOI). A local government’s
STIP ownership is represented by shares, the prices of which are fixed at $1.00 per share, and participants may buy or sell shares with one business day’s notice.
STIP administrative expenses are charged daily against the STIP income, which is distributed on the first calendar day of each month. Shareholders have the
option to automatically reinvest their distribution income in additional shares. STIP is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission. STIP is not
FDIC insured or otherwise insured or guaranteed by the federal government, the State of Montana, the Montana Board of Investments or any other entity against
investment losses and there is no guaranteed rate of return on funds invested in STIP shares. The Montana Board of Investments maintains a reserve fund to
offset possible losses and limit fluctuations in STIP’s valuation. The STIP investment portfolio consists of securities with maximum maturity of 2 years.
Information on investments held in the STIP can be found in the Annual Report on the Montana Board of Investments website at
http://investment.com/AnnualReports Audits.

U.S. Government bonds are valued using quoted market prices and certificates of deposit are valued using quoted prices in markets that are not active. These
investments are recorded using recurring fair value measurements.

The following table provides information about the City’s deposits and investments.

Cash/Cash Total Fair Credit Risk Fair Value

Equivalents Investments Value Maturities Rating Hierarchy
Petty cash $ 1,050 $ - $ 1,050 N/A N/A N/A
Demand deposits 5,681,222 - 5,681,222 N/A FDIC N/A
Certificate of deposits - 1,171,584 1,171,584 N/A FDIC Level 2
STIP - 672,429 672,429 N/A N/A N/A
U.S. Government bonds - 550,000 550,000 1-5 years S&P AA+ Level 2

$ 5,682,272 § 2394013 § 8076,285

TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS RECEIVABLE

Property tax levies are set in August in connection with the budget process and are based on taxable values listed as of January 1 for all property located in the
City’s jurisdiction. Taxable values are established by the Montana Department of Revenue based on market values. A re-evaluation of all property is required to
be completed on a periodic basis. Taxable value is defined by state statute as a fixed percentage of market value.

Real property taxes and special assessments are generally billed as of November 1 and are payable 50% by November 30 and 50% by May 31. After these dates,
taxes and assessments become delinquent and the City may file a lien on the related property. Most personal property taxes are due and payable on January 1 and
become delinquent 30 days after billing. Personal property taxes are based on levies set during the prior September. Property taxes are maintained and collected
by the County Treasurer. No allowance is made for uncollectible taxes as they are not considered significant.

Taxes and assessments that become delinquent are charged interest at the rate of 5/6 of 1% per month plus a penalty of 2%. Real property on which taxes and
assessments remain delinquent and unpaid may be seized and sold at tax sales. In the case of personal property, the property may be seized and sold after the
taxes become delinquent. The City is permitted by state statutes to levy taxes up to certain fixed limits for various purposes. The taxes levied by the City for the
year were within legal limits. The tax levies for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, were based upon a taxable valuation of $15,167,046.
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4.

CAPITAL ASSETS

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020

All capital assets of the City are depreciable with the exceptions of land and construction in progress. Capital assets of the City consisted of the following:

Governmental activities:
Non-depreciable
Land
Construction in progress

Total non-depreciable

Depreciable
Buildings/improvements
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total depreciable

Less accumulated depreciation
Buildings/improvements
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total accumulated depreciation

Total governmental activities

73

June 30, 2019 Additions Disposals Transfers June 30, 2020

$ 375,226 $ - $ - $ 375,226
1,758,920 17,450 (6,950) 1,769,420
2,134,146 17,450 (6,950) 2,144,646
3,625,091 55,825 6,950 3,687,866
2,514,648 - - 2,514,648
4,564,076 196,080 - 4,760,156
9,531,089 1,120,165 - 10,651,254
20,234,904 1,372,070 6,950 21,613,924
(1,272,889) (102,887) - (1,375,776)
(712,485) (165,624) - (878,109)
(2,565,161) (272,725) - (2,837,886)
(1,692,365) (255,169) - (1,947,534)
(6,242,900) (796,405) - (7,039,305)

$ 16,126,150 $ 593.115 $ - $ 16,719,265
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)
Transfers/
June 30, 2019 Additions Disposals Adjustments June 30, 2020
Business-type activities:

Non-depreciable

Land $ 52,980 $ - $ - $ - $ 52,980

Construction in progress 17,985,070 280,427 - (17,913,956) 351,541
Total non-depreciable 18,038,050 280,427 - (17,913,956) 404,521
Depreciable

Buildings and systems 29,809,998 1,904,355 (22,164) 17,904,006 49,596,195

Machinery and equipment 4,226,137 544,331 (264,628) 9,950 4,515,790
Total depreciable 34,036,135 2,448,686 (286,792) 17,913,956 54,111,985
Less accumulated depreciation

Buildings and systems (13,739,237) (1,258,027) 22,164 - (14,975,100)

Machinery and equipment (3,211,654) (265,860) 264,628 - (3,212,886)
Total accumulated depreciation (16,950,891) (1,523,887) 286,792 - (18,187,986)

Total business-type activities $ 35,123,294 $ 1,205,226 $ - $ - $ 36,328,520

In accordance with GASB 34, the City has reported all capital assets, with the exception of pre-July 1, 2003 infrastructure in the Government-Wide Statement of
Net Position. The assets are reported whereby accumulated depreciation and depreciation expense have been recorded.

For the year ended June 30, 2020, depreciation expense on capital assets was charged to the functions/programs as follows:

Governmental activities: Business-type activities:
General government $ 29,892 Water $ 327,590
Public safety 196,230 Sewer 1,011,280
Public works 356,260 Solid Waste 129,141
Public health 7,664 Ambulance 55,876
Culture and recreation 206,359 Total - business type activities $ 1523887

Total - governmental activities $  796.405
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INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS

Interfund balances as of June 30, 2020, consisted of the following:

Internal
Due To Due From Balances
Governmental activities:
General $ - $ 17,058 $ 17,058
Tax increment district downtown - 138,100 138,100
Nonmajor governmental funds (143,650) 22,608 (121,042)
Total governmental activities $ (143,650) $ 177,766 $ 34,116
Business-type activities
Water $ - $ - $ -
Sewer - 17,058 17,058
Solid waste (51,174) - (51,174)
Ambulance - - -
Total business-type activities $  (51,174) $ 17,058 $ (34,116)
Total $  (194,824) $ 194,824 $ -

The balance of $51,174 due to the General, Perpetual Cemetery, and Sewer funds resulted in loans made to provide funding for a new solid waste transfer station.
$51,174 of the balance is schedule to be collected in the subsequent year. To cover cash deficits, various funds loaned amounts which are expected to be repaid
during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.
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INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS (Continued)

Interfund transfers consisted of the following for the year:

76

Transfer In Transfer Out Total

Governmental activities:

General $ 1,126,688 $  (335,300) 791,388

Nonmajor governmental funds 648,557 (681,825) (33,268)
Total governmental activities $ 1,775,245 $ (1,017,125) 758,120
Business-type activities

Water $ - $  (179,813) (179,813)

Sewer - (237,103) (237,103)

Solid waste - (203,732) (203,732)

Ambulance - (137,472) (137,472)
Total business-type activities $ - $ (758,120) (758,120)
Total $ 1,775,245 $ (1,775,245) -

Transfers are used to finance various programs accounted for in individual funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. Transfers between funds consist of
transfers into the General fund from Library, Dispatch, Street, Water, Sewer, Solid Waste, and Ambulance fund in the amount of $824,511 to cover the cost of
administrative expenses paid by the general fund. Funds are also transferred to the Comprehensive Liability fund to cover costs of general insurance for the City.
The amount of the transfer into the Comprehensive Liability fund was $175,092 and was provided by the General, Library, Dispatch, Street, Water, Sewer, Solid
Waste, and Ambulance fund. They city received tax revenue from its permissive health insurance levy. The proceeds are transferred to various funds for health

insurance costs.
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COMPENSATED ABSENCES

The City’s policy relating to compensated absences is described in Note 1. As shown in the table below, the long-term portion of the debt, amounting to
$369,173 for governmental activities and $151,951 for business-type activities at June 30, 2020, is expected to be paid in future years from future resources. In
prior years, compensated absences have been liquidated primarily by the general fund and the proprietary funds.

Balance Balance Due within Due after
June 30, 2019 Incurred Satisfied June 30, 2020 one year one year
Compensated absences
Governmental activities $ 439.850 $ 109,323  $ (90,000) $ 459,173 $ 90,000 $ 369,173
Business-type activities 217,750 14,201 (40.000) 191,951 40,000 151,951
Total compensated absences $ 657,600 $ 123,524 § (130.000) $ 651,124 $ 130.000 $ 521.124

LONG-TERM DEBT
Governmental Activities Long-Term Debt

The following is a summary of long-term debt transactions of the City’s governmental activities:

Current Long-term
Balance Balance (Due within one (Due after one
June 30, 2019 Issuances Repayments June 30, 2020 year) year)

General obligation bonds ~ $ 716,953 $ - $ (66,775) S 650,178 $ 36,775 $ 613,403
Notes payable 511,836 20,000 (123,042) 408,794 122,937 285,857
Special improvement 176,000 - (26,000) 150,000 27,000 123,000
Tax increment 2,321,080 - (152.072) 2,169,008 159,072 2.009.936
Totals $§ 3725869 $ 20,000 $ (367.889) $§ 3.377.980 $ 345,784 $ 3,032,196
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LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

General Obligation Bonds

The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities. General obligation bonds are direct
obligations of the City and are backed by the full faith and credit of the City. General obligation bonds currently outstanding are as follows:

Original Balance Due within one

Amount Term Interest Rate June 30, 2020 year
2016 Fire Truck GO Bonds $ 750,000 20 yr 1.5% - 4.0% $ 620,000 35,000
2016 bond issuance premium $ 35,503 20 yr 1.5% - 4.0% 30,178 1,775
S 650,178 $ 36,775

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as follows:

Principal Interest Total
Year ending June 30,
2021 $ 36,775 $ 20,294 $ 57,069
2022 36,775 19,594 56,369
2023 31,775 18,894 50,669
2024 31,775 18,218 49,993
2025 36,775 17,544 54,319
2026-2030 148,875 60,460 209,335
2031-2035 228,875 42,240 271,115
2036-2040 98,553 4,530 103,083

$ 650,178 $ 201.774 $ 851,952
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LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

Notes Payable

The City has notes payable outstanding with the Montana Board of Investments. Principal and interest are due in semi-annual payments. The notes bear interest
at a rate which is adjusted each August. Outstanding notes payable are as follows:

Original Balance Due within one

Amount Term Interest Rate June 30, 2020 year
Street maintenance $ 400,000 10 yr Variable, 1.00%  $ 124,957 $ 41,244
Railroad underpass $ 150,000 Syr Variable, 0.00% 30,616 30,616
Dispatch remodel $ 75,000 10 yr Variable, 2.50% 54,109 7,216
DOT Aeronatics - Airport $ 9,625 10 yr 1.625% 3,777 963
Snowblower $ 20,000 4 yr Variable, 2.50% 17,898 4,260
Freightliner Street Sweeper $ 240,000 Syr Variable, 3.15% 177,437 38,638

$ 408,794 $ 122,937

Notes payable debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total
2021 $ 122,937 $ 6,591 § 129,528
2022 102,213 6,413 108,626
2023 100,279 4,193 104,472
2024 59,226 2,175 61,401
2025 24,139 902 25,041
$ 408,794 $ 20274 8 429,068
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LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

Special Improvement (SID) Bonds

The City issues special improvement (SID) bonds to provide funds for improvements. SID bonds outstanding are as follows:
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Original Balance Due within one
Amount Term Interest Rate June 30, 2020 year
SID No. 179 No. 1-2006 $ 322,088 20 yr 3.75% $ 98,000 $ 18,000
SID No. 179 No. 2-2006 $ 158,500 20 yr 3.75% 52,000 9,000
$ 150,000 $ 27,000
Special improvement (SID) bond debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:
Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 27,000 $ 2,870  $ 29,870

2022 29,000 2,320 31,320

2023 30,000 1,730 31,730

2024 31,000 1,130 32,130

2025 33,000 500 33,500

$ 150,000 $ 8550 $ 158,550
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LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

Tax Increment Bonds

The City issues tax increment bonds to provide funds for water, sewer, streets, and sidewalks. The bonds are repaid from the tax dollars received by the City
from its west end tax increment area and downtown tax increment area. Tax increment bonds outstanding are as follows:

Original Balance Due within one
Amount Term Interest Rate June 30, 2020 year
Tax increment bonds-2006 $ 1,009,825 20 yr 3.75% $ 340,000 $ 62,000
Downtown CIP Phase III & IV $ 2,015,000 15 yr 3.0% -4.0% 1,800,000 95,000
2019 bond issuance premium $ 31,080 20 yr 1.5% - 4.0% 29,008 2,072

$§ 2,169,008 $ 159,072

Tax increment bond debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 159,072 $ 72,366  § 231,438

2022 163,072 68,256 231,328

2023 171,072 64,078 235,150

2024 202,072 60,046 262,118

2025 155,072 55,946 211,018

2026-2030 470,360 179,297 649,657

2031-2035 848,288 115,995 964,283

$ 2,169,008 $ 615984 § 2,784,992

Compliance requirements for the tax increment and SID No. 179 bonds consist of establishing and funding reserve and capitalized interest accounts. Further, the
SID bonds require a reserve of 5% of the outstanding bonds be established in the debt service revolving fund. The government is in substantial compliance.
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LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)
Business-type Activities Long Term Debt

The following is a summary of long-term debt transactions of the City’s business-type activities:

Balance Balance
June 30, 2019 Issuances Repayments June 30, 2020
Revenue bonds $ 15,438,040 $ 832,178 § (508,067) $ 15,762,151
Notes payable 15,295 - (15,295) -
Totals § 15453335 $ 832,178 § (523362 § 15.762.151

Revenue Bonds

The City also issues bonds where the City pledges income derived from the acquired or constructed assets to pay debt service. The SRF-18429 note will be

forgiven upon completion of the program requirements. Revenue bonds outstanding are as follows:
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Current Long-term
(Due within one (Due after one
year) year)
$ 448,633 $ 15,313,518
$ 448,633 § 15313518

Original Balance Due within one
Amount Term Interest Rate June 30, 2020 year
Wastewater improvement - ARRA B $ 359,300 20 yr 1.75% $ 184,000 $ 18,000
Wasterwater treatment plant - SRF $ 4,840,000 20 yr 2.50% 4,283,793 176,000
USDA-RD WRF Note $ 5,000,000 40 yr 1.375% 4,769,358 97,633
SRF-18429 Forgivable Note $ 400,000 N/A N/A 400,000 -
SRF-18430 WTP $ 6,500,000 40 yr 2.50% 6,125,000 157,000
§ 15.762.151 $ 448,633

11-42




7.

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2020
LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)
Revenue bond debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:
Principal Interest Total
Year ending June 30,

2021 $ 448,633 $ 331,720 $ 780,353
2022 458,985 321,667 780,652
2023 468,355 311,381 779,736
2024 479,577 301,036 780,613
2025 491,149 290,452 781,601
2026-2030 2,610,398 1,277,317 3,887,715
2031-2035 2,820,636 975,626 3,796,262
2036-2040 2,942,291 637,802 3,580,093
2041-2045 2,019,488 340,849 2,360,337
2046-2050 1,452,487 133,700 1,586,187
2051-2055 757,830 55,170 813,000
2056-2060 812,322 7.615 819.937
$ 15,762,151 $ 4,984,335 $ 20,746.486

The significant compliance provisions of the water and sewer system revenue bonds require 1) a debt service account will be established and credited monthly
with one-sixth of the interest and principal due within the next six months with respect to all outstanding bonds payable from that account, 2) establish a reserve
account equal to the maximum principal and interest due in any fiscal year; this account will be established from net revenues and 3) produce net revenues not
less than 110%-125% of maximum principal and interest due in any subsequent fiscal year. The City is in substantial compliance with the provisions of the
water and sewer system revenue bonds.

Debt Defeasance

In October 2018, the City used cash reserves to complete an in-substance defeasance of the 2012 Series Sewer system refunding bond. The City placed
$1,140,535 in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for the payment of remaining principal and interest on the refunding bond. The defeasance
resulted in a $1,282,000 reduction in the City’s principal and interest payments over the next nine years in the sewer fund. The $15,472 difference between the
reacquisition price ($1,140,472 placed in trust) and the net carrying amount of the refunding bond ($1,125,000) was recognized as a gain/loss in the sewer fund.
As of June 30, 2020, the remaining principal amount of defeased in substance debt outstanding was $1,000,000.

Notes Payable

The City had notes payable outstanding with the Montana Board of Investments with principal and interest due in semi-annual payments through February 15,
2020. These notes were paid off during the year ended June 30, 2020.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Long-term liability activity for the year was as follows:

Governmental activities:
Long-term debt:
General obligation debt
Notes payable
Special improvement
Tax increment
Compensated absences

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:
Revenue bonds
Notes payable

Compensated absences

Total business-type activities

For the governmental activities, long-term debt obligations are liquidated by the debt service funds. Compensated absences are paid from the fund which the

employee is assigned.
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June 30, 2020
Balance Balance Due Within One
June 30, 2019 Issuances Repayments June 30, 2020 Year

$ 716,953 $ - $ (66,775)  $ 650,178 $ 36,775
511,836 20,000 (123,042) 408,794 122,937

176,000 - (26,000) 150,000 27,000
2,321,080 - (152,072) 2,169,008 159,072
439.850 109,323 (90,000) 459,173 90,000

$ 4,165,719 $ 129,323 $ (457.889) $ 3,837,153 $ 435,784
$ 15,438,040 $ 832,178 $ (508,067) $ 15,762,151 $ 448,633

15,295 - (15,295) - -
217,750 14,201 (40,000) 191,951 40,000
$ 15,671,085 $ 846,379 $ (563.362) $ 15,954,102 $ 488,633
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June 30, 2020

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The Plan, which is available to all
City employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination,
retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 32, the City has removed the balances from their financial statements
related to the deferred compensation plan, as these amounts represent neither assets nor liabilities to the City, and the plan is administered by an independent
third party.

DEFICIT FUND EQUITY

At June 30, 2020, the funds listed below had fund balance deficits. The deficit balances do not represent any type of legal violation, and it is the City
management's opinion that the deficits will be eliminated by additional grant funding, collection of long-term receivables, or transfers from other funds.

Special Revenue Funds

Sidewalks $ 130,874
Debt Service Funds
S.I.D. No. 180 $ 5,229

SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS
Because the City’s enterprise funds are reported as major funds in the fund financial statements, segment disclosures herein are not required.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

Plan Description

The City administers an Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) plan providing medical, prescription drug, and life benefits to retired employees and their
dependents under certain conditions. This option creates a defined benefit other post-employment benefits plan (OPEB), since retirees are typically older than the
average age of active plan participants and therefore receive a benefit of lower insurance rates. The City does not issue a separate report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information for the OPEB plan. The OPEB plan is a single-employer defined benefit plan administered by the City. The
City covers OPEB costs when they come due, on a pay-as-you-go basis. In general, OPEB costs are paid from the funds in which the related payroll expenses
were incurred.

Benefits Provided

Individuals who are employed by the City and are eligible to participate in the group health plan are eligible to continue healthcare benefits upon retirement
eligibility with IPERS. Coverage during retirement continues in the group health plans and a life insurance benefit. Employees covered by the plan make
contributions toward the plan premiums.
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (Continued)

Actuarial Valuation

An actuarial valuation was performed for the City OPEB plan as of June 30, 2020.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

As of June 30, 2020, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive members currently receiving benefits
Inactive members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits
Active members

Total
Total OPEB Liability

The City’s total OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2020 and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020.

Actuarial Present Value of Future Benefits
Retired - Employees
Retired - Spouses/Dependents
Actives - Employees
Actives - Spouses/Dependents

Total OPEB Liability
Retired - Employees
Retired - Spouses/Dependents
Actives - Employees
Actives - Spouses/Dependents

There are no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75, so the Net Fiduciary Position is $0 and the Net

OPEB Liability would be equal to the Total OPEB Liability.
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$ 210,841
42,331
1,481,904
427,056

S 2162132

$ 210,841
42,331
568,026
168,969

$ 990,167
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (Continued)

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate

The following presents the total OPEB liability, calculated using the current healthcare cost trend rate of 5.0%, as well as the total OPEB liability calculated
using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage point lower (4.0%) or 1-percentage point higher (6.0%) than the current rate:

Current Healthcare

1.0% Decrease Cost Trend Rate 1.0% Increase
(4.0%) (5.0%) (6.0%)
Total OPEB Liability $ 887,227 $ 990,167 $ 1,114,680

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the total OPEB liability, calculated using the current discount rate of 2.21%, as well as the total OPEB liability calculated using a
discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (1.21%) or 1-percentage point higher (3.21%) than the current rate:

1.0% Decrease Current Discount 1.0% Increase
(1.21%) Rate (2.21%) (3.21%)
Total OPEB Liability $ 1,083,970 $ 990,167 $ 907,342
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
Total OPEB liability - beginning of year $ 984,784
Service cost 63,821
Interest 39,762
Changes in benefit terms -
Difference between expected and actual experience (190,279)
Changes of assumptions 134,418
Benefit payments (42,339)
Net change in OPEB liability 5,383
Total OPEB liability - end of year $§ 990,167
Covered-employee payroll $ 4,152,763

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 23.84%
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11. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (Continued)

OPEB Expense

For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense of $67,735.

Service cost $ 63,821
Interest 39,762
Recognition of deferred (inflows)/outflows of resources
Economic/demographic (gains)/losses (34,141)
Assumption changes (1,707)
OPEB expense $ 67,735

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

The City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Inflows of Outflows of
Resources Resources
Difference between expected and
actual experience $ 303,256 $ -
Changes in assumptions or other
inputs 126,520 121,240

$ 429,776 $ 121,240

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year ending

June 30 Amount
2021 $  (35,848)
2022 $  (35,848)
2023 $  (35,848)
2024 $  (35,848)
2025 $  (35,848)

Thereafter $ (129,296)
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (Continued)

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs

The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all
periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 3.00% per year
Salary increases 3.00% per year
Discount rate 2.21%
Healthcare cost trend rates 5.00% all years
Expected average remaining

service lifetime 10.2 years

As an unfunded plan, the discount rate reflects the index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or
higher as of the measurement date. Mortality rates were based on the RP 2014 annuitant distinct mortality table adjusted to 2006 with MP-2019 generational
projection of future mortality improvement.

NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED AMOUNTS

The City’s employees participate in pension plans administered by the Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration (MPERA), Public Employees’
Retirement System (PERS), Municipal Police Officers’ Retirement System (MPORS) and Firefighters’ Unified Retirement System (FURS). Information on
these plans is disclosed in Notes 13, 14, and 15.

Aggregate pension liability and related deferred inflows of resources and outflows of resources as of June 30, 2020, are disclosed below.

Deferred Deferred
Net Pension Inflows of Outflows of
Plan Liability Resources Resources
PERS $ 3,365,334 $ 520,995 $ 615,403
MPORS 863,865 5,488 236,006
FURS 659,308 36,857 278,558

§ 4,888,507 $ 563,340 $§ 1,129,967

Governmental activities $ 3,249,149 $ 342,293 $ 750,850
Business-type activities 1,639,358 221,047 379,117

§ 4,888,507 $ 563,340 $ 1,129,967
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020

PENSION PLANS - PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS)

In accordance with GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, employers and the non-employer contributing entity are required to
recognize and report certain amounts associated with participation in the Public Employees' Retirement System Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (the Plan). This
includes the proportionate share of the collective Net Pension Liability; Pension Expense; and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows associated with pensions.
The following information for financial reporting as of June 30, 2020, is based on a June 30, 2019 measurement date.

Plan Description

The PERS-Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (DBRP), administered by the Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration (MPERA), is a multiple-
employer, cost-sharing plan established July 1, 1945, and governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 3, MCA. This plan provides retirement benefits to covered
employees of the State, and local governments, and certain employees of the Montana University System, and school districts. Benefits are established by state
law and can only be amended by the Legislature.

All new members are initially members of the PERS-DBRP and have a 12-month window during which they choose to remain in the PERS-DBRP or join the
PERS-DCRP by filing an irrevocable election. Members may not be participants of both the defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans. All new

members from the universities also have a third option to join the university system’s Montana University System Retirement Program (MUS-RP).

Benefits Provided

The PERS-DBRP provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Benefits are based on eligibility, years of service,
and highest average compensation (HAC). Members rights are vested after five years of service.

Service retirement:
Hired prior to July 1, 2011 Age 60, 5 years of membership service;
Age 65, regardless of membership service; or
Any age, 30 years of membership service.
Hired on or after July 1, 2011 Age 65, 5 years of membership service;
Age 70, regardless of membership service.
Early retirement:

Hired prior to July 1, 2011 Age 50, 5 years of membership service; or
Any age, 25 years of membership service.
Hired on or after July 1, 2011 Age 55, 5 years of membership service.

Second Retirement (requires returning to PERS-covered employer or PERS service):
1. Retired before January 1, 2016 and accumulate less than 2 years additional service credit or retire on or after January 1, 2016 and accumulate less than 5
years additional service credit:
a. A refund of member's contributions plus return interest (currently .77% effective July 1, 2017).
b. No service credit for second employment;
c. Start the same benefit amount the month following termination; and
d. Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA) starts again in the January immediately following the second retirement.
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13. PENSION PLANS - PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued)

Benefits Provided (Continued)

2. Retired before January 1, 2016 and accumulate at least 2 years of additional service credit:
a. A recalculated retirement benefit based on provisions in effect after the initial retirement; and
b. GABA starts on the recalculated benefit in the January after receiving the new benefit for 12 months.
3. Retired on or after January 1, 2016 and accumulate 5 or more years of service credit:
a. The same retirement as prior to the return to service;
b. A second retirement benefit as prior to the second period of service based on laws in effect upon the rehire date; and
c. GABA starts on both benefits in the January after receiving the original and the new benefit for 12 months.

Member’ s highest average compensation (HAC)
Hired prior to July 1, 2011 - highest average compensation during any consecutive 36 months;
Hired on or after July 1, 2011 — highest average compensation during any consecutive 60 months;

Compensation Cap
Hired on or after July 1, 2013 — 110% annual cap on compensation considered as part of a member’s highest average compensation.

Monthly benefit formula

Members hired prior to July 1, 2011:
e Less than 25 years of membership service: 1.785% of HAC per year of service credit;
e 25 years of membership service or more: 2% of HAC per year of service credit.

Members hired on or after July 1, 2011:
e Less than 10 years of membership service: 1.5% of HAC per year of service credit;
e 10 years or more, but less than 30 years of membership service: 1.785% of HAC per year of service credit;
e 30 years or more of membership service: 2% of HAC per year of service credit.

Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA)*
After the member has completed 12 full months of retirement, the member’s benefit increases by the applicable percentage (provided below) each January,

inclusive of other adjustments to the member’s benefit
e 3% for members hired prior to July 1, 2007
e 1.5% for members hired between July 1, 2007 and June 30, 2013
e  Members hired on or after July 1, 2013:
1.5% for each year PERS is funded at or above 90%;
1.5% is reduced by 0.1% for each 2% PERS is funded below 90%; and
0% whenever the amortization period for PERS is 40 years or more.
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PENSION PLANS - PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued)
Contributions

The state Legislature has the authority to establish and amend contribution rates. Member and employer contribution rates are specified by Montana Statute and
are a percentage of the member’s compensation. Contributions are deducted from each member’s salary and remitted by participating employers.

Soecial Funding: The state of Montana, as the non-employer contributing entity, paid to the Plan additional contributions that qualify as special funding. Those
employers who received special funding are all participating employers.

Not Special Funding: Per Montana law, state agencies and universities paid their own additional contributions. The employer paid contributions are not
accounted for as a special funding for state agencies and universities but are reported as employer contributions.

Member and employer contribution rates are shown in the table below.

Member State &
Fiscal Hired Hired University Local Governments School Districts
Year <7/1/11 >7/1/11 Employer Employer State Employer State
2020 7.900% 7.900% 8.770% 8.670% 0.100% 8.400% 0.370%
2019 7.900% 7.900% 8.670% 8.570% 0.100% 8.300% 0.370%
2018 7.900% 7.900% 8.570% 8.470% 0.100% 8.200% 0.370%
2017 7.900% 7.900% 8.470% 8.370% 0.100% 8.100% 0.370%
2016 7.900% 7.900% 8.370% 8.270% 0.100% 8.000% 0.370%
2015 7.900% 7.900% 8.270% 8.170% 0.100% 7.900% 0.370%
2014 7.900% 7.900% 8.170% 8.070% 0.100% 7.800% 0.370%
2012-2013 6.900% 7.900% 7.170% 7.070% 0.100% 6.800% 0.370%
2010-2011 6.900% 7.170% 7.070% 0.100% 6.800% 0.370%
2008-2009 6.900% 7.035% 6.935% 0.100% 6.800% 0.235%
2000-2007 6.900% 6.900% 6.800% 0.100% 6.800% 0.100%

1. Member contributions to the system of 7.9% are temporary and will be decreased to 6.9% on January 1 following actuary valuation results that show the
amortization period has dropped below 25 years and would remain below 25 years following the reduction of both the additional employer and
additional member contribution rates.

2. Employer contributions to the system:

a. Effective July 1, 2014, following the 2013 Legislative Session, PERS-employer contributions increase an additional 0.1% a year and will
continue over 10 years through 2024. The additional employer contributions including 0.27% added in 2007 and 2009, will terminate on
January 1 following an actuary valuation that shows the amortization period of the PERS-DBRP has dropped below 25 years and remains
below the 25 years following the reduction of both the additional employer and member contribution rates.

b. Effective July 1, 2013, employers are required to make contributions on working retirees’ compensation. Member contributions for working
retirees are not required.

¢. The portion of employer contributions allocated to the PCR are included in the employers reporting. The PCR was paid off effective March
2016 and the contributions previously directed to the PCR are now directed to member accounts.
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PENSION PLANS - PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued)

3. Non Employer Contributions
a. Special Funding
i. The State contributes 0.1% of members’ compensation on behalf of local government entities.
ii. The State contributes 0.37% of members’ compensation on behalf of school district entities.
iii. The state contributed a Statutory Appropriation from the General Fund of $33,615,000.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 24, on-behalf payments of fringe benefits and salaries for the City are recognized as revenues and expenditures in the
fund financial statements. The covered payroll and contributions to the plan for the current year and two previous years are presented in the following table. The
amounts contributed for those years were equal to the required contributions for each year. In general, pension contributions are made from the funds in which
the related payroll expenses were incurred.

Year Ended Covered Employee Employer State
June 30 Payroll Contributions Contributions Contributions
2020 $ 3,147,587 $ 248,830 $ 272,896 $ 3,148
2019 $ 3,049,194 $ 240,886 $ 262,317 $ 3,050
2018 $ 2,905,799 $ 229,594 $ 246,160 $ 2,906

Pension Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

GASB Statement 68 allows a measurement date of up to 12 months before the employer’s fiscal year-end can be utilized to determine the Plan’s TPL. The basis
for the TPL as of June 30, 2019, was determined by taking the results of the June 30, 2018, actuarial valuation and applying standard roll forward procedures.
The roll forward procedure uses a calculation that adds the annual normal cost (also called the service cost), subtracts the actual benefit payments and refunds for
the plan year, and then applies the expected investment rate of return for the year. The roll forward procedure will include the effects of any assumption changes
and legislative changes. The update procedures are in conformity with Actuarial Standards of Practice issued by the Actuarial Standards Board. The Total
Pension Liability (TPL) minus the Fiduciary Net Position equals the Net Pension Liability (NPL). The proportionate shares of the employer’s and the state of
Montana’s NPL for June 30, 2019, and 2018, are displayed below. The employer’s proportionate share equals the ratio of the employer’s contributions to the sum
of all employer and non-employer contributions during the measurement period. The state’s proportionate share for a particular employer equals the ratio of the
contributions for the particular employer to the total state contributions paid. The employer recorded a liability of $3,365,334 and the employer’s proportionate
share was 0.160997 percent.

Net Pension Net Pension Percent of Percent of Change in
Liability as of Liability as of Collective NPL Collective NPL Percent of
6/30/2020 6/30/2019 as of 6/30/2020 as of 6/30/2019 Collective NPL
Employer Proportionate Share $ 3365334 § 3,186,417 0.1610% 0.1527% 0.0083%
State of Montana Proportionate Share
associated with Employer 1,096,350 1,068,307 0.0524% 0.0512% 0.0013%
Total $ 44601684 § 4,254,724 0.2134% 0.2039% 0.0096%
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Changesin actuarial assumptions and methods. There were no changes in assumptions or other inputs that affected the measurement of the TPL.

Changesin benefit terms: There have been no changes in benefit terms since the previous measurement date.

Changes in proportionate share: There were no changes between the measurement date of the collective NPL and the employer’s reporting date that are
expected to have a significant effect on the employer’s proportionate share of the collective NPL.

Pension Expense

At June 30, 2020, the employer recognized $332,719 for its proportionate share of the Plan’s pension expense and recognized grant revenue of $2,827 for the
state of Montana proportionate share of the pension expense associated with the employer. Additionally, the employer recognized grant revenue of $71,603 from
the State Statutory Appropriation from the General Fund.

Pension
Expense as of
6/30/2020
Employer Proportionate Share of PERS $ 332,719
Employer Grant Revenue - State of Montana Proportionate Share for employer 2,827
Employer Grant Revenue - State of Montana State Apportionment for employer 71,603
Total $ 407,149

Recognition of Deferred Inflows and Qutflows

At June 30, 2020, the employer reported its proportionate share of PERS’ deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources from the following
sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources
Actual vs. Expected Experience $ 159,577 % 158,352
Projected vs. Actual Investment Earnings 40,804 -
Changes in Assumptions 142,870 -
Changes in Proportionate Share and Differences between Employer
Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions - 362,643
Employer Contributions Subsequent to the Measurement Date 272,152 -
Total $ 615,403 $ 520,995
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13. PENSION PLANS - PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (PERS) (Continued)

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in employer’s pension expense as follows:

Recognition of Deferred
Outflows and Inflows in
future years as an

Year ended increase or (decrease) to
June 30: Pension Expense
2021 $ 287,594
2022 (244,986)
2023 15,179
2024 36,621
2025 -
Thereafter -
$ 94,408

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation as determined using the following actuarial assumptions.

Investment Return (net of admin expense): 7.65%
Admin Expense as a % of Payroll: 0.26%
General Wage Growth (includes inflation at 2.75%): 3.50%
Merit Increases: 0% to 6.30%

Postretirement Benefit Increases:
Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA)
After the member has completed 12 full months of retirement, the member’s benefit increases by the applicable percentage each January, inclusive of
other adjustments to the member’s benefit.
o 3.0% for members hired prior to July 1, 2007
o 1.5% for members hired between July 1, 2007 and June 30, 2013
o Members hired on or after July 1, 2013
1.5% for each year PERS is funded at or above 90%;
1.5% is reduced by 0.1% for each 2% PERS is funded below 90%; and
0% whenever the amortization period for PERS is 40 years or more.
Mortality assumptions among contributing members, service retired members, and beneficiaries based on RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant
Mortality Tables projected to 2020 with scale BB, males set back 1 year.
Mortality assumptions among disabled members are based on RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality Tables with no projections.
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The most recent experience study, performed for the period covering fiscal years 2011 through 2016, is outlined in a report dated May 5, 2017 and can be located
on the MPERA website. The long-term expected return on pension plan assets is reviewed as part of the regular experience studies prepared for the Plan. Several
factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption including historical rates of return, rate of return assumptions adopted by similar
public-sector systems, and by using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class included in the target asset allocation (78c & 78f) as of June 30, 2019, are summarized in the following table.

Long-Term
Expected
Real Rate of
Target Asset Return
Asset Class Allocation Arithmetic Basis

Cash Equivalents 3.00% 4.09%
Domestic Equity 36.00% 6.05%
Foreign Equity 18.00% 7.01%
Fixed Income 23.00% 2.17%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.53%
Real Estate 8.00% 5.65%

Total

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.65%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from
participating plan members, employers, and non-employer contributing entities would be made based on the Board’s funding policy, which established the
contractually required rates under the Montana Code Annotated. The state contributed 0.1% of the salaries paid by local governments and 0.37% paid by school
districts. In addition, the state contributed a statutory appropriation from the general fund. Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was
projected to be adequate to make all the projected future benefit payments of current plan members through the year 2122. Therefore, the long-term expected rate
of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the TPL. A municipal bond rate was not incorporated
in the discount rate.
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Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the employer’s sensitivity of the NPL to the discount rate in the table below. A small change in the discount rate can create a significant
change in the liability. The NPL was calculated using the discount rate of 7.65%, as well as what the NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
1.00% lower or 1.00% higher than the current rate.

1.0% Decrease Current Discount 1.0% Increase
(6.65%) Rate (7.65%) (8.65%)
Net Pension Liability $ 4,835,026 $ 3,365,334 $ 2,130,243

Defined Contribution Plan

The City contributed to the state of Montana Public Employee Retirement System Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (PERS-DCRP) for employees that have
elected the DCRP. The PERS-DCRP is administered by the PERB and is reported as a multiple-employer plan established July 1, 2002, and governed by Title
19, chapters 2 & 3, MCA.

All new PERS members are initially members of the PERS-DBRP and have a 12-month window during which they may choose to remain in the PERS-DBRP or
join the PERS-DCRP by filing an irrevocable election. Members may not be participants of both the defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans.

Member and employer contribution rates are specified by state law and are a percentage of the member’s compensation. Contributions are deducted from each
member’s salary and remitted by participating employers. The state Legislature has the authority to establish and amend contribution rates.

Benefits are dependent upon eligibility and individual account balances. Participants are vested immediately in their own contributions and attributable income.
Participants are vested after 5 years of membership service for the employer’s contributions to individual accounts and the attributable income. Non-vested
contributions are forfeited upon termination of employment per 19-3-2117(5), MCA. Such forfeitures are used to cover the administrative expenses of the PERS-
DCRP.

At the plan level for the measurement period ended June 30, 2019, the PERS-DCRP employer did not recognize any net pension liability or pension expense for
the defined contribution plan. Plan level non-vested forfeitures for the 320 employers that have participants in the PERS-DCRP totaled $714,024.

Stand-Alone Statements

The financial statements of the Montana Public Employees Retirement Board (PERB) Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) and the GASB 68
Report disclose the Plan’s fiduciary net position. The reports are available from the PERB at PO Box 200131, Helena MT 59620-0131, (406) 444-3154 or the
MPERA website at http://mpera.mt.gov.
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PENSION PLANS - MUNICIPAL POLICE OFFICERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (MPORS)

In accordance with GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, employers and the non-employer contributing entity are required to
recognize and report certain amounts associated with participation in the Public Employees' Retirement System Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (the Plan). This
includes the proportionate share of the collective Net Pension Liability; Pension Expense; and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows associated with pensions.
The following information for financial reporting as of June 30, 2020, is based on a June 30, 2019 measurement date.

Plan Description

The Municipal Police Officers’ Retirement System (MPORS), administered by the Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration (MPERA), is a
multiple-employer, cost-sharing defined benefit plan established in 1974 and governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 9, MCA. This plan provides retirement benefits
to all municipal police officers employed by first- and second-class cities and other cities that adopt the plan. Benefits are established by state law and can only
be amended by the Legislature. The MPORS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries.

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP): Beginning July 2002, eligible members of MPORS can participate in the DROP by filing a one-time irrevocable
election with the Board. The DROP is governed by Title 19, Chapter 9, Part 12, MCA. A member must have completed at least twenty years of membership
service to be eligible. They may elect to participate in the DROP for a minimum of one month and a maximum of 60 months and may only participate in the
DROP once. A participant remains a member of the MPORS, but will not receive membership service or service credit in the system for the duration of the
member’s DROP period. During participation in the DROP, all mandatory contributions continue to the retirement system. A monthly benefit is calculated based
on salary and years of service to date as of the beginning of the DROP period. The monthly benefit is paid into the member’s DROP account until the end of the
DROP period. At the end of the DROP period, the participant may receive the balance of the DROP account in a lump-sum payment or in a direct rollover to
another eligible plan, as allowed by the IRS. If the participant continues employment after the DROP period ends, they will again accrue membership service and
service credit. The DROP account cannot be distributed until employment is formally terminated.

Summary of Benefits

MPORS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Benefits are based on eligibility, years of service, and
compensation. Members rights are vested after five years of service.

Eligibility for benefit and benefit formulas

Service retirement:
e 20 years of membership service, regardless of age
e Age 50, 5 years of membership service
e 2.5% of FAC x years of service credit

Second retirement
Recalculated using specific criteria for members who return to covered MPORS employment prior to July 1, 2017:
1. Less than 20 years of membership service, upon re-employment, repay benefits and subsequent retirement is based on total MPORS service.
2. More than 20 years of service, upon re-employment, receives benefit and a new retirement benefit based on additional service credit and FAC after
re-employment.
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Applies to retirement system members re-employed in a MPORS position on or after July 1, 2017:
1. If the member works more than 480 hours in a calendar year and accumulates less than 5 years of service credit before terminating again, the
member:
a. Is not awarded service credit for the period of reemployment;
b. Isrefunded the accumulated contributions associated with the period of reemployment;
c. Starting the first month following termination of service, receives the same retirement benefit previously paid to the member; and
d. Does not accrue post-retirement benefit adjustments during the term of re-employment but receives a Guaranteed Annual Benefit
Adjustment (GABA) in January immediately following second retirement.
2. If the member works more than 480 hours in a calendar year and accumulates at least 5 years of service credit before terminating again, the
member:
a. Is awarded service credit for the period of re-employment;
b. Starting the first month following termination of service, receives:

I The same retirement benefit previously paid to the member, and
il. A second retirement benefit for the period of reemployment calculated based on the laws in effect as of the member's rehire date;
and
c. Does not accrue post-retirement benefit adjustments during the term of re-employment but receives a GABA:
1. On the initial retirement benefit in January immediately following second retirement, and
ii. On the second retirement benefit starting in January after receiving that benefit for at least 12 months.

d. A member who returns to covered service is not eligible for a disability benefit.

Member’ sfinal average compensation (FAC)
Hired prior to July 1, 1977 - average monthly compensation of final year of service;
Hired on or after July 1, 1977 - final average compensation (FAC) for last consecutive 36 months

Compensation Cap
Hired on or after July 1, 2013 — 110% annual cap on compensation considered as a part of a member’s final average compensation

Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA)
Hired on or after July 1, 1997, or those electing GABA, and has been retired for at least 12 months, a GABA will be made each year in January equal to 3%.

Minimum benefit adjustment (non-GABA)
The minimum benefit provided may not be less than 50% of the compensation paid to a newly confirmed police officer of the employer that last employed the
member as a police officer in the current fiscal year.

Contributions

The State Legislature has the authority to establish and amend contribution rates to the plan. Member and employer contribution rates are specified by Montana
Statute and are a percentage of the member’s compensation. Contributions are deducted from each member’s salary and remitted by participating employers.
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14. PENSION PLANS — MUNICIPAL POLICE OFFICERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (MPORS) (Continued)

Special Funding: MCA 19-9-702 requires the State of Montana to contribute a percentage of total compensation directly to the Plan annually after the end of each
fiscal year. Member, Employer and State contribution rates are shown in the table below.

Member
Hired
Fiscal Hired Hired Hired > 6/30/97
Year <7/1/75 > 6/30/75 > 6/30/79 GABA Employer State
2000-2020 5.800% 7.000% 8.500% 9.000% 14.410% 29.370%
1998-1999 7.800% 9.000% 10.500% 11.000% 14.410% 29.370%
1997 7.800% 9.000% 10.500% 14.360% 29.370%

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 24, on-behalf payments of fringe benefits and salaries for the City are recognized as revenues and expenditures in the
fund financial statements. The covered payroll and contributions to the plan for the current year and two previous years are presented in the following table. The
amounts contributed for those years were equal to the required contributions for each year. In general, pension contributions are made from the funds in which
the related payroll expenses were incurred.

Year Ended Covered Employee Employer State
June 30 Payroll Contributions Contributions Contributions
2020 $ 793,265 $ 71,394 $ 114,309 $ 232,982
2019 $ 715,290 $ 64,376 $ 103,074 $ 210,081
2018 $ 701,658 $ 63,149 $ 101,109 $ 206,077

Pension Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

GASB Statement 68 allows a measurement date of up to 12 months before the employer’s fiscal year-end can be utilized to determine the Plan’s TPL. The basis
for the TPL as of June 30, 2019, was determined by taking the results of the June 30, 2018, actuarial valuation and applying standard roll forward procedures.
The roll forward procedure uses a calculation that adds the annual normal cost (also called the service cost), subtracts the actual benefit payments and refunds for
the plan year, and then applies the expected investment rate of return for the year. The roll forward procedure will include the effects of any assumption changes
and legislative changes. The update procedures are in conformity with Actuarial Standards of Practice issued by the Actuarial Standards Board. The Total
Pension Liability (TPL) minus the Fiduciary Net Position equals the Net Pension Liability (NPL). The proportionate shares of the employer’s and the State of
Montana’s NPL for June 30, 2019, and 2018, are displayed below. The employer’s proportionate share equals the ratio of the employer’s contributions to the sum
of all employer and non-employer contributions during the measurement period. Due to the existence of the special funding situation, the state is required to
report a proportionate share of a local government’s collective NPL that is associated with the non-state employer. The state’s proportionate share for a particular
employer equals the ratio of the contributions for the particular employer to the total state contributions paid. The employer recorded a liability of $863,865 and
the employer’s proportionate share was 0.4340 percent.
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Net Pension Net Pension Percent of Percent of Change in
Liability as of Liability as of Collective NPL Collective NPL Percent of
6/30/2020 6/30/2019 as of 6/30/2020 as of 6/30/2019 Collective NPL
Employer Proportionate Share $ 863,865 $ 761,289 0.4340% 0.4445% -0.0105%
State of Montana Proportionate Share associated
with Employer 1,759,125 1,556,226 0.8838% 0.9087% -0.0249%
Total $§ 2622990 § 2,317,515 1.3178% 1.3532% -0.0354%

Changesin actuarial assumptions and methods. There were no changes in assumptions or other inputs that affected the measurement of the TPL.
Changesin benefit terms: There have been no changes in benefit terms since the previous measurement date.

Changes in proportionate share: There were no changes between the measurement date of the collective NPL and the employer’s reporting date that are
expected to have a significant effect on the employer’s proportionate share of the collective NPL.

Pension Expense

At June 30, 2020, the employer recognized its proportionate share of the Plan’s pension expense of $134,397. The employer also recognized grant revenue of
$210,729 for the support provided by the State of Montana for the proportionate share of the pension expense that is associated with the employer.

Pension
Expense as of
6/30/2020
Employer Proportionate Share of MPORS $ 134,397
Employer Grant Revenue - State of Montana Proportionate Share for employer 210,729
Total $ 345,126
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Recognition of Deferred Inflows and Outflows

At June 30, 2020, the employer reported its proportionate share of the Plan’s deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources from the following

102

sources:
Deferred Outflows of  Deferred Inflows of
Resources Resources
Actual vs. Expected Experience $ 76,669 $ 5,488
Projected vs. Actual Investment Earnings 16,057 -
Changes in Assumptions 17,373 -
Changes in Proportionate Share and Differences between Employer
Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions 11,487 -
Employer Contributions Subsequent to the Measurement Date 114,420 -
Total $ 236,006 $ 5,488

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended
June 30:

Recognition of Deferred
Outflows and Inflows in
future years as an
increase or (decrease) to
Pension Expense

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$ 170,627
26,337

25,464

8,090

$ 230,518
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PENSION PLANS — MUNICIPAL POLICE OFFICERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (MPORS) (Continued)

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation as determined using the following actuarial assumptions.

e Investment Return (net of admin expense): 7.65%

e  Admin Expense as a % of Payroll: 0.23%

e  General Wage Growth (includes inflation at 2.75%): 3.50%

e Merit Increases: 0% to 6.60%
e  Postretirement Benefit Increases:

Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA)
o Hired on or after July 1, 1997, or those electing GABA, and has been retired for at least 12 months, a GABA will be made each year in January
equal to 3%.
Minimum Benefit Adjustment (non-GABA)
o Ifhired before July 1, 1997 and member did not elect GABA, the minimum benefit adjustment provided is equal to 50% of the current base
compensation of a newly confirmed police officer of the employer that last employed the member as a police officer.
e Mortality assumptions among contributing members, service retired members and beneficiaries were based on RP 2000 Combined Employee and
Annuitant Mortality Tables projected to 2020 using scale BB, set back one year for males.
e  Mortality assumptions among Disabled Retirees are based on RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality Tables.

The most recent experience study, performed for the period covering fiscal years 2011 through 2016, is outlined in a report dated May 5, 2017 and can be located
on the MPERA website. The long-term expected return on pension plan assets is reviewed as part of the regular experience studies prepared for the Plan. Several
factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption including historical rates of return, rate of return assumptions adopted by similar
public-sector systems, and by using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class included in the target asset allocation (78c & 78f) as of June 30, 2019, are summarized in the following table.

Long-Term
Expected
Real Rate of
Target Asset Return
Asset Class Allocation Arithmetic Basis

Cash Equivalents 2.60% 4.00%
Domestic Equity 36.00% 4.55%
Foreign Equity 18.00% 6.35%
Fixed Income 23.40% 1.00%
Private Equity 12.00% 7.75%
Real Estate 8.00% 4.00%
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Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.65%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from
participating plan members, employers, and non-employer contributing entities would be made based on the Board’s funding policy, which established the
contractually required rates under the Montana Code Annotated. The state contributed 29.37% of the salaries paid by employers. Based on those assumptions, the
Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be adequate to make all the projected future benefit payments of current plan members through the year 2132.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the TPL. A
municipal bond rate was not incorporated in the discount rate.

Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the employer’s sensitivity of the NPL to the discount rate in the table below. A small change in the discount rate can create a significant
change in the liability. The NPL was calculated using the discount rate of 7.65%, as well as what the NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
1.00% lower or 1.00% higher than the current rate.

1.0% Decrease Current Discount 1.0% Increase
(6.65%) Rate (7.65%) (8.65%)
Employer's Net Pension Liability $ 1,270,027 $ 863,865 $ 538,736

Stand-Alone Statements

The financial statements of the Montana Public Employees Retirement Board (PERB) Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) and the GASB 68
Report disclose the Plan’s fiduciary net position. The reports are available from the PERB at PO Box 200131, Helena MT 59620-0131, (406) 444-3154 or the
MPERA website at http://mpera.mt.gov.

PENSION PLANS - FIREFIGHTERS’ UNIFIED RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FURS)

In accordance with GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, employers and the non-employer contributing entity are required to
recognize and report certain amounts associated with participation in the Public Employees' Retirement System Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (the Plan). This
includes the proportionate share of the collective Net Pension Liability; Pension Expense; and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows associated with pensions.
The following information for financial reporting as of June 30, 2020, is based on a June 30, 2019 measurement date.

Plan Description

The Firefighters’ Unified Retirement System (FURS), administered by the Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration (MPERA), is a multiple-
employer, cost-sharing defined benefit plan established in 1981, and governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 13, Montana Code Annotated (MCA). This plan provides
retirement benefits to firefighters employed by first and second-class cities, other cities and rural fire district departments that adopt the plan, and to firefighters
hired by the Montana Air National Guard on or after October 1, 2001. Benefits are established by state law and can only be amended by the Legislature.
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Summary of Benefits

The FURS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Benefits are based on eligibility, years of service, and
highest average compensation (HAC). Member rights are vested after five years of service.

Eligibility for benefit and benefit formulas
Service retirement and monthly benefit formula:
e Hired on or after July 1, 1981, or has elected to be covered by GABA:
o 20 years of service membership
o 2.5% of HAC x years of service credit
e  Hired prior to July 1, 1981, and who had not elected to be covered by GABA, the greater of above, or:
o If membership service is less than 20 years — 2% of the highest monthly compensation (HMC) x years of service credit
o If membership service is greater or equal to 20 years — 50% of HMC + 2% of HMC x years of service credit in excess of 20
e  Early retirement:
o Age 50, 5 years of membership service — normal retirement benefit calculated using HAC and service credit

Second retirement:
Applies to retirement system members re-employed in a FURS position on or after July 1, 2017
e  If the member works more than 480 hours in a calendar year and accumulates less than 5 years of service credit before terminating again, the member:
o is not awarded service credit for the period of reemployment;
o isrefunded the accumulated contributions associated with the period of reemployment;
o starting the first month following termination of service, receives the same retirement benefit previously paid to the member; and
o does not accrue post-retirement benefit adjustments during the term of reemployment but receives a Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment
(GABA) in January immediately following second retirement.
e  Ifthe member works more than 480 hours in a calendar year and accumulates at least 5 years of service credit before terminating again, the member:
o is awarded service credit for the period of reemployment;
o starting the first month following termination of service, receives:
= the same retirement benefit previously paid to the member; and
= asecond retirement benefit for the period of reemployment calculated based on the laws in effect as of the members’ rehire date, and
o does not accrue post-retirement benefit adjustments during the term of reemployment but receives a GABA:
=  on the initial retirement benefit in January immediately following second retirement, and
=  on the second retirement benefit starting in January after receiving that benefit for at least 12 months.
e A member who returns to covered service is not eligible for a disability benefit.

Member’ s compensation period used in benefit calculation
e Hired prior to July 1, 1981 and not electing GABA - highest monthly compensation (HMC)
e Hired on or after June 30, 1981and those electing GABA — highest average compensation (HAC) during any consecutive 36 months (or shorter period
of total service)
e  Part-time firefighter — 15% of regular compensation for a newly confirmed full-time firefighter
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Compensation Cap
Hired on or after July 1, 2013 — 110% annual cap on compensation considered as a part of a member’s highest average compensation

Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA)

Hired on or after July 1, 1997, or those electing GABA, and has been retired for at least 12 months — the member’s benefit increases by a maximum of 3% each
January

Minimum Benefit Adjustment (non-GABA)
A member with 10 or more years of membership service who has not elected to be covered under GABA - the minimum benefit provided may not be less than

50% of the monthly compensation paid to a newly confirmed active firefighter of the employer that last employed the member as a firefighter in the current fiscal
year.

Contributions

The State Legislature has the authority to establish and amend contribution rates to the plan. Member and employer contribution rates are specified by Montana
Statute and are a percentage of the member’s compensation. Contributions are deducted from each member’s salary and remitted by participating employers.

Special Funding
MCA 19-13-604 requires the State of Montana to contribute a percentage of total compensation directly to the Plan annually after the end of each fiscal year.
Member, Employer and State contribution rates are shown in the following table.

Member
Fiscal Year Non-GABA GABA Employer State
1998-2020 9.500% 10.700% 14.360% 32.610%
1997 7.800% 14.360% 32.610%

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 24, on-behalf payments of fringe benefits and salaries for the City are recognized as revenues and expenditures in the
fund financial statements. The covered payroll and contributions to the plan for the current year and two previous years are presented in the following table. The
amounts contributed for those years were equal to the required contributions for each year. In general, pension contributions are made from the funds in which
the related payroll expenses were incurred.

Year Ended Covered Employee Employer State
June 30 Payroll Contributions Contributions Contributions
2020 § 1,037,180 $ 110,978 $ 148,939 $ 338,225
2019 $ 996,655 $ 106,642 $ 143,120 $ 325,009
2018 $ 938,602 $ 100,431 $ 134,783 $ 306,078
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PENSION PLANS - FIREFIGHTERS’ UNIFIED RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FURS) (Continued)

Pension Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

GASB Statement 68 allows a measurement date of up to 12 months before the employer’s fiscal year-end can be utilized to determine the Plan’s TPL. The basis
for the TPL as of June 30, 2019, was determined by taking the results of the June 30, 2018, actuarial valuation and applying standard roll forward procedures.
The roll forward procedure uses a calculation that adds the annual normal cost (also called the service cost), subtracts the actual benefit payments and refunds for
the plan year, and then applies the expected investment rate of return for the year. The roll forward procedure will include the effects of any assumption changes
and legislative changes. The update procedures are in conformity with Actuarial Standards of Practice issued by the Actuarial Standards Board. The Total
Pension Liability (TPL) minus the Fiduciary Net Position equals the Net Pension Liability (NPL). The proportionate shares of the employer’s and the State of
Montana’s NPL for June 30, 2019, and 2018, are displayed below. The employer’s proportionate share equals the ratio of the employer’s contributions to the sum
of all employer and non-employer contributions during the measurement period. Due to the existence of the special funding situation, the state is required to
report a proportionate share of a local government’s collective NPL that is associated with the non-state employer. The state’s proportionate share for a particular
employer equals the ratio of the contributions for the particular employer to the total state contributions paid. The employer recorded a liability of $659,308 and
the employer’s proportionate share was 0.5747 percent.

Net Pension Net Pension Percent of Percent of Change in
Liability as of Liability as of Collective NPL Collective NPL Percent of
6/30/2020 6/30/2019 as of 6/30/2020 as of 6/30/2019 Collective NPL
Employer Proportionate Share $ 659,308 $ 687,285 0.5747% 0.5967% -0.0220%
State of Montana Proportionate Share
associated with Employer 1,594,538 1,571,515 1.3900% 1.3645% 0.0255%
Total $ 2,253,846 $ 2,258,800 1.9647% 1.9612% 0.0035%

Changesin actuarial assumptions and methods. There were no changes in assumptions or other inputs that affected the measurement of the TPL.
Changesin benefit terms: There have been no changes in benefit terms since the previous measurement date.

Changes in proportionate share: There were no changes between the measurement date of the collective NPL and the employer’s reporting date that are
expected to have a significant effect on the employer’s proportionate share of the collective NPL.
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PENSION PLANS - FIREFIGHTERS’ UNIFIED RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FURS) (Continued)
Pension Expense

At June 30, 2020, the employer recognized its proportionate share of the Plan’s pension expense of $128,481. The employer also recognized grant revenue of
$332,184 for the support provided by the state of Montana for the proportionate share of the pension expense that is associated with the employer.

Pension
Expense as of
6/30/2020
Employer Proportionate Share of MPORS $ 128,481
Employer Grant Revenue - State of Montana Proportionate Share for employer 332,184
Total $ 460,665

Recognition of Deferred Inflows and Outflows

At June 30, 2020, the employer reported its proportionate share of the Plan’s deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources from the following
sources:

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of

Resources Resources

Actual vs. Expected Experience $ 59,271 $ 6,840
Projected vs. Actual Investment Earnings 21,970 -
Changes in Assumptions 48,610 -
Changes in Proportionate Share and Differences between Employer

Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions - 30,017
Employer Contributions Subsequent to the Measurement Date 148,707 -
Total $ 278,558  $ 36,857
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PENSION PLANS - FIREFIGHTERS’ UNIFIED RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FURS) (Continued)

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Recognition of Deferred
Outflows and Inflows in
future years as an

Year ended increase or (decrease) to
June 30: Pension Expense
2021 $ 180,373
2022 14,128
2023 30,516
2024 20,980
2025 (4,296)
Thereafter -
$ 241,701

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation as determined using the following actuarial assumptions.

e Investment Return (net of admin expense): 7.65%

e  Admin Expense as a % of Payroll: 0.25%

e  General Wage Growth (includes inflation at 2.75%): 3.50%

e Merit Increases: 0% to 6.3%
e  Postretirement Benefit Increases:

Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA)
o Hired on or after July 1, 1997, or those electing GABA, and has been retired for at least 12 months, the member’s benefit increases by 3% each
January
Minimum Benefit Adjustment (non-GABA)
o Hired before July 1, 1997 and member did not elect GABA — the minimum benefit adjustment is provided equal to 50% of the current base
compensation of a newly confirmed active firefighter of the employer that last employed the member as a firefighter
e Mortality assumptions among contributing members, terminated vested members, service retired members and beneficiaries based on RP 2000
Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality Tables projected to 2020 using Scale BB, males set back 1 year.
e  Mortality assumptions among Disabled Retirees are based on RP 2000 Combined Mortality Tables.

The most recent experience study, performed for the period covering fiscal years 2011 through 2016, is outlined in a report dated May 5, 2017 and can be located
on the MPERA website. The long-term expected return on pension plan assets is reviewed as part of the regular experience studies prepared for the Plan. Several
factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption including historical rates of return, rate of return assumptions adopted by similar
public-sector systems, and by using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
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PENSION PLANS - FIREFIGHTERS’ UNIFIED RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FURS) (Continued)
These ranges were combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation

percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the target asset allocation (78c
& 78f) as of June 30, 2019, are summarized below.

Long-Term Expected
Target Asset Real Rate of Return

Asset Class Allocation Arithmetic Basis
Cash Equivalents 3.00% 4.09%
Domestic Equity 36.00% 6.05%
Foreign Equity 18.00% 7.01%
Fixed Income 23.00% 2.17%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.53%
Real Estate 8.00% 5.65%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.65%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from
participating plan members, employers, and non-employer contributing entities would be made based on the Board’s funding policy, which established the
contractually required rates under the Montana Code Annotated. The state contributed 32.61% of the salaries paid by employers. Based on those assumptions, the
Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be adequate to make all the projected future benefit payments of current plan members through the year 2133.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the TPL. A
municipal bond rate was not incorporated in the discount rate.

Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the employer’s sensitivity of the NPL to the discount rate in the table below. A small change in the discount rate can create a significant
change in the liability. The NPL was calculated using the discount rate of 7.65%, as well as what the NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
1.00% lower or 1.00% higher than the current rate.

1.0% Decrease Current Discount 1.0% Increase
(6.65%) Rate (7.65%) (8.65%)
Employer's Net Pension Liability $ 1,151,496 $ 659,308 $ 262,453

Stand-Alone Statements

The financial statements of the Montana Public Employees Retirement Board (PERB) Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) and the GASB 68
Report disclose the Plan’s fiduciary net position. The reports are available from the PERB at PO Box 200131, Helena MT 59620-0131, (406) 444-3154 or the

MPERA website at http://mpera.mt.gov.
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INTERLOCAL AGREEMENTS

The City and Park County entered into an agreement to fund a library for City and County residents. The City maintains the library accounting records and
includes the financial activities of the library in its financial statements. The County contributed $451,636 during fiscal year 2020.

The City and Park County entered into agreements for the City-County Law Enforcement Dispatch Center and Ambulance Services. The City provides dispatch
and ambulance services to the County. During the fiscal year, the County contributed $702,138 for ambulance and $327,300 for dispatch services.

The City-County airport is owned and operated jointly by the City and Park County. The operation of the airport is accounted for by the County. The airport is
administered by a five-member board, consisting of two City-appointed members, two County-Appointed members and one member at-large appointed by the
Airport Board. The budget is approved by the controlling members. The Airport Board exercises control over the airport’s normal operations.
CLASSIFICATION OF NET POSITION

In the Government-Wide Financial Statements, net position is classified in the following categories:

Net Investment in Capital Assets — This category groups all capital assets, including infrastructure in future years, into one component of net position.

Accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balances of debt that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of these assets reduce this
category.

Restricted — This category presents external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments and restrictions
imposed by law through constitutional provision or enabling legislation. Restricted net position is presented restricted by major purpose.

Unrestricted — This category represents the net position of the City which is not restricted for any project or other purpose.

In the Fund Financial Statements, commitments and assignments segregate portions of fund balance that are either not available or have been earmarked for
specific purposes. The various commitments and assignments are established by actions of the City Commission and Management and can be increased, reduced
or eliminated by similar actions.

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

During the year ended June 30, 2020, the City determined it should be reporting the CDBG revolving loan fund activity and balances based on the transactions
between the City and the entity administering the funds, rather than reflecting the activity between the administering entity and the CDBG subrecipients.
Accordingly, adjustments were made to previously reported advances and receivables. The adjustment increased beginning fund balance in the CDBG non-major
special revenue fund by $114,057.
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June 30, 2020
RISK MANAGEMENT

The City faces a considerable number of risks of loss, including: a. damage to and loss of property and contents, b. employee torts c. professional liability, i.e.,
errors and omissions d. environmental damage e. workers' compensation, i.e. employee injuries, and f. medical insurance cost of employees.

A variety of methods are used to provide insurance for these risks. Commercial policies, transferring all risks of losses, except for relatively small deductible
amounts, are purchased for property and content damage, employee medical costs, and professional liabilities. The City participates in two state-wide public risk
pools operated by the Montana Municipal Interlocal Authority (MMIA), for workers' compensation and for tort liability coverage. And, given the lack of
coverage available, the City has no coverage for potential losses from environmental damages.

Coverage limits and the deductibles on the commercial policies have stayed relatively constant for the last several years. The premiums for the policies are
allocated between the City's enterprise funds and an Insurance (Special Revenue) Fund based on total appropriations. The Insurance Fund has a special-purpose
property tax levy for this purpose. Settled claims resulting from these risks did not exceed commercial insurance coverage during this fiscal year.

In 1986, the City joined together with other Montana cities to form the Montana Municipal Interlocal Authority (MMIA), which established a workers'
compensation plan and a tort liability plan. Both public entity risk pools currently operate as common risk management and insurance programs for the member
governments.

The liability limits for damages in tort action are $750,000 per claim and $1.5 million per occurrence, and $12.5 million per occurrence for any claim that is not
subject to the limitations on government liability, as described in Montana Code Annotated Section 2-9-108 (the Statute) or any successor statute, either as matter
of law, by operation of the Statute, or by a judicial determination that the Statute is inapplicable or is otherwise invalid, with a $1,500 deductible per occurrence.
State tort law limits the City's liability to $1.5 million. The City pays premiums for its employee injury insurance coverage, which is allocated to the employer
funds based on total salaries and wages. The agreements for formation of the pools provide that they will be self-sustaining through member premiums.

The City also owns a policy with MMIA for loss or damage to property. This is an all risk policy, essentially all property owned by the City being insured for

100% of replacement cost, subject to a $1,000 deductible per occurrence. MMIA reinsures their property insurance with a national municipal pool, Public
Entities’ Property Insurance.
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Tax Increment Nonmajor Total
General District Governmental Governmental
Fund Downtown Funds Funds
Nonspendable
Long-term interfund receivable $ 17,058 $ - $ - $ 17,058
Cemetery perpetual care - - 244,878 244,878
Total nonspendable 17,058 - 244,878 261,936
Restricted
Public works - - 463,717 463,717
Debt service - - 421,538 421,538
Total restricted - - 885,255 885,255
Committed
General government - 490,453 800,991 1,291,444
Public safety - - 187,834 187,834
Public works - - 466,081 466,081
Public health - - 130 130
Culture and recreation - - 482,920 482,920
Capital projects - - 59,806 59,806
Debt service - - 27,740 27,740
Total committed - 490,453 2,025,502 2,515,955
Unassigned 2,221,988 - (136,103) 2,085,885
Total fund balances $ 2,239,046 $ 490,453 $ 3,019,532 $ 5,749,031
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June 30, 2020
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
At year-end, the City had commitments outstanding, in the form of contracts of $1,087,416 for the Phases V and VI of the Downtown Capital Improvement Plan.
The City is also jointly named with Park County on a loan for Mission Field with a principal balance outstanding of $7,750. This debt is being serviced in-full by
Park County.
Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed
claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures that may be disallowed by the
grantor cannot be determine at this time, although the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.
The City is involved with numerous other lawsuits which arise out of the normal course of operations by the City. Management of the City intends to vigorously
defend each claim and believes no material losses will be incurred on such claims. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not presently determinable, in the
opinion of the City’s counsel the resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the City.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has evaluated subsequent events through December 15, 2020, the date on which the financial statements were available to be issued.

I1-74




C. REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
OTHER THAN MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

115




OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTHCARE BENEFITS

116




CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
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2020 2019 2018
Total OPEB Liability
Service cost $ 63,821 [ $ 61,962 | $ 82,832
Interest 39,762 37,460 49,743
Changes in benefit terms - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience (190,279) - (178,090)
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 134,418 - (171,175)
Benefit payments (42,339) (41,275) (34,885)
Net change in total OPEB liability 5,383 58,147 (251,575)
Total OPEB liability - beginning 984,784 926,637 1,178,212
Total OPEB liability - ending $ 990,167 [ § 984,784 | § 926,637
Covered-employee payroll $ 4,152,763 | $ 4,184,393 | $ 4,062,517
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 23.84% 23.53% 22.81%

Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

See Independent Auditors' Report
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Notes to Required Supplementary Information - OPEB (Other Post-Employment Healthcare Benefits)

Measurement Date
Valuation Date
Reporting Date
Measurement Period

Discount Rate

General Inflation
Salary Increases

Initial Health Coverage Claims Cost
(including administrative expenses)

Age Based Morbidity

Health Care Cost Trend Rates

Mortality

Year Ended June 30, 2020

June 30, 2020
June 30, 2020
June 30, 2020
July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020

2.21% per year

As an unfunded plan, the discount rate reflects the index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal
bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher as of the measurement date.

The index rate used to measure the total pension liability was 2.21% as of June 30, 2020.

3.0% per year

3.0% per year

Age Per Participant
Under age 65:
Bridger Plan at age 60 $ 14,139
Madison Plan at age 60 $ 13,645
Mission plan at age 60 $ 12,584
HDHP at age 60 $ 9,164
Age 65 and over: Assumed to be equal to the post-65 medical premiums

The assumed claim costs were determined from the fully-pooled premiums and underlying claim experience of the
OPEB Plans and actuarial age adjustment factors.

The assumed claim costs are assumed to increase related to age as follows:

Ages Rate
18-29 1.00%
30-39 2.50%
40-49 3.00%
50-54 3.30%
55-59 3.60%
60-64 4.20%
Year Rate
All years 5.00%

RP 2014 annuitant distinct mortality table adjusted to 2006 with MP 2019 generational projection of future
mortality improvement.

See Independent Auditors' Report
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Future Retiree Participation Rate

Initial Spouse Participation Rate

Turnover

Disability

Retirement

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTE TO RSI (Continued)
Notes to Required Supplementary Information - OPEB (Other Post-Employment Healthcare Benefits)

Year Ended June 30, 2020

70% for participants not yet eligible for Medicare. Upon Medicare eligibility, participation is expected to reduce
by 50%. It is assumed that life insurance benefits will only be retained by retirees that elect to continue health

insurance benefits with the City.

Male Employees:
Female Employees:

Rates based on Fiscal Year 2011 Actuarial Valuation for statewide retirement systems:

25.0%
25.0%
Husbands are assumed to be three years older than wives.
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Service PERS MPORS FURS
0 25% 15% 4%
1 20% 10% 4%
2 15% 10% 2%
3 10% 10% 2%
4 10% 5% 2%
5-9 5% 5% 2%
10-14 5% 2% 2%
15 and over 2% 1% 1%

None

Rates based on Fiscal Year 2011 Actuarial Valuation for statewide retirement systems:

PERS:
Age Under 30 Years 30 Years or More

Under 50 0% 10%
50-54 3% 10%
55 3% 15%

56 4% 15%
57-58 5% 15%
59 6% 15%

60 8% 15%

61 15% 15%

62 25% 25%
63-64 15% 15%
65-66 30% 30%
67-69 25% 25%
70 and over 100% 100%

See Independent Auditors' Report
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Retirement (Continued) Fire and Police:

20 Years or More

Age Under 20 Years MPORS FURS
Under 50 0% 12% 5%

50-54 3% 15% 10%
55 3% 20% 25%

56 4% 20% 25%
57-58 5% 20% 25%
59 6% 20% 25%

60 8% 20% 50%

61 15% 20% 50%

62 25% 100% 50%
63-64 15% 100% 100%
65-66 30% 100% 100%
67-69 25% 100% 100%
70 and over 100% 100% 100%

Under GASB 75, gains and losses which are amortized over future years are referred to as deferred inflows or
gains, and deferred outflows or losses. Economic and demographic gains and losses and changes in the total
OPEB liability due to changes in assumptions are recognized over a closed period equal to the average expected
remaining service lives of all covered active and inactive members, determined as of the beginning of the
measurement period. The amortization period is calculated as the weighted average of expected remaining service
lives assuming zero years for all inactive members.

Expected Remaining Service Lives

The amortization period for the July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 measurement period was determined as follows:

Number of members Expected remaining

as of July 1, 2020 service lives
Active Members &5 11.41
Inactive Members 10 -
Weighted average rounded to
10.2

nearest tenth

See Independent Auditors' Report
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SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the
employer 0.16100% 0.15270% 0.20900% 0.20820% 0.21487% 0.22315% 0.23150%
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 3,365,334 | $ 3,186,417 | $ 4,070,772 | $ 3,547,026 | $ 3,003,553 [ $ 2,780,478 | $ 3,578,048
State of MT proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the
employer 1,096,350 1,068,307 54,255 43,341 36,894 33,954 43,693
Total $ 4,461,684 | § 4,254,724 [ § 4,125,027 [ § 3,590,367 [ § 3,040,447 [ § 2,814,432 [ § 3,621,741
Employer's covered payroll $ 2,656,421 [ $ 2,510,532 [ $ 2,592,832 [ § 2,494,335 [ § 2,507,530 [ $§ 2,526,058 | Not available
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability as of its covered payroll 126.92% 126.92% 157.00% 142.20% 119.78% 110.07%| Not available
Plan fiduciary net position as a percent of the total pension liability 73.47% 73.47% 73.75% 74.71% 78.40% 79.87%| Not available

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually required contributions $ 237486 |$ 2284718 212658 |$ 217,022 |$ 215355($ 213,108 [$ 212,294
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contributions $ 237486 |$ 228471 |8 212658 |$ 217,022 |$ 215355($ 213,108 [$§ 212294
Contribution deficiency (excess) - - - - - - -
Employer's covered payroll $ 2,739,161 [ $§ 2,656,421 | § 2,510,532 [ § 2,592,832 [ § 2,494,335 [ § 2,507,530 [ § 2,526,058
Contributions of covered payroll 8.67% 8.60% 8.47% 8.37% 8.63% 8.50% 8.40%

Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available

See Independent Auditors' Report
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Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Changes of Benefit Terms
The following changes to the plan provision were made as identified:

2017 Legislative Changes:

Working Retiree Limitations - for PERS
Effective July 1, 2017, if a PERS retiree returns as an andependent contractor to what would otherwise be PERS-covered employment, general contractor overhead costs are excluded
from PERS working retiree limitations.

Refunds
1) Terminating members eligible to retire may, in lieu of receiving a monthly retirement benefit, refund their accumulated contributions in a lump sum.
2) Terminating members with accumulated contributions between $200 and $1,00 who wish to rollover their refund must do so within 90 days of termination of service.
3) Trusts, estates, and charitable organizations listed as beneficiaries are entitled to receive only a lump-sum payment.

Interest credited to member accounts
Effective July 1, 2017, the interest rate credited to member accounts increased from 0.25% to 0.77%

Lump-sum payouts
Effective July 1, 2017, lump-sum payouts in all systems are limited to the member's accumulated contribution rate than the present value of the member's benefit.

Disabled PERS Defined Contribution (DC) Members
PERS members hired after July 1, 2011 have a normal retirement after of 65. PERS DC members hired after July 1, 2011 who became disabled were previously only eligible for a
disability benefit until age 65. Effective July 1, 2017, these individuals will be eligible for a disability benefit until they reach 70, thus ensuring the same 5-year time period available
to PERS DC disabled members hired prior to July 1, 2011 who have a normal retirement age of 60 and are eligible for a disability benefit until age 65.

Changes in Actuarial Assumptions and Methods

Method and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contribution:

The following Actuarial Assumptions were adopted from June 2016 Experience Study:
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General Wage Growth* 3.50%

Investment Rate of Return* 7.65%

*Includes inflation at 2.75%

Merit salary increased 0% to 6.30%

Asset valuation method 4-year smoothed market
Actuarial cost method Entry age Normal

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, open
Remaining amortization perido 30 years

Mortality (Heathy Members)

For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Morality
Table projected to 2020 using Scale BB, males set back 1 year

Mortality (Disabled members)

For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Morality Table

Admin Expense as % of Payroll

0.26%

Administrative expenses are recognized by an additional amount added to the normal cost contribution rate for the System. This amount varies from year to year based on the prior year's

actual administrative expenses.

See Independent Auditors' Report
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MUNICIPAL POLICE OFFICERS' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (MPORS)
Last Seven Fiscal Years
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SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the
employer 0.43400% 0.44450% 0.41760% 0.41400% 0.43748% 0.46022% 0.46022%
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 863865|% 761,289 8% 743,016 |8 745225|8% 723,685|% 723,175|% 823,956
State of MT proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the
employer 1,759,125 1,556,226 1,514,389 [ $ 1,479,303 [ § 1,466,255 [ $ 1,460,901 | $ 1,664,490
Total $ 2,622,990 [ § 2,317,515 [ § 2,257,405 [ § 2,224,528 [ § 2,189,940 [ § 2,184,076 [ § 2,488,446
Employer's covered payroll $§ 715290 [$ 701,658 [$§ 624,530 [ $§ 584,407 [$ 605483 [ $ 617,498 [ Not available
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability as of its covered payroll 120.77% 108.50% 118.97% 127.52% 119.52% 117.11%| Not available
Plan fiduciary net position as a percent of the total pension liability 68.84% 70.95% 68.34% 65.62% 66.90% 67.00%| Not available

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually required contributions $ 114420 (S 103484 (S 104945 ($ 89,995 | $ 85,713 | $ 85,344 | $ 89,782
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contributions $ 114420 (S 103484 S 104945 | $ 89,995 | $ 85,713 | $ 85,344 | $ 89,782
Contribution deficiency (excess) - - - - - - -
Employer's covered payroll $ 794032 (8§ 715290 [8$ 701,658 [$§ 624,530 [$ 584,407 8% 605483 [$ 617,498
Contributions of covered payroll 14.41% 14.47% 14.96% 14.41% 14.67% 14.10% 14.54%

Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

See Independent Auditors' Report
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTE TO RSI
Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Municipal Police Officers' Retirement System (MPORS)
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Changes of Benefit Terms
The following changes to the plan provision were made as identified:

2017 Legislative Changes:
Working Retiree Limitations - for MPORS
Applies to retirement system members who return on or after July 1, 2017 to covered employment in the system from which they retired.
1) Members who return for less than 480 hours in a calendar year:
a. May not become an active member in the system; and
b. Are subject to a $1 reduction in their retirement benefit for each $3 earned in excess of $5,000 in the calendar year.
2) Members who return for 480 or more hours in a calendar year:
a. Must become an active member of the system;
b. Will stop receiving a retirement benefit from the system; and
c. Will be eligible for a second retirement benefit if they earn 5 or more years of service credit through their second employment.
3) Employee, employer and state contributions, if any apply as follows:
a. Employer contributions and state contributions (if any) must be paid on all working retirees;
b. Employee contributions must be paid on working retirees who return to covered employment for 480 or more hours in a calendar year.

Second Retirement Benefit - for MPORS
Applies to retirement system members who return on or after July 1, 2017 to active service covered by the system from which they retired.
1) If the member works more than 480 hours in a calendar year and accumulates less than 5 years of service credit before terminating again, the member:
a. Is not awarded service credit for the period of reemployment;
b. Is refunded the accumulated contributions associated with the period of reemployment;
c. Starting the first month following termination of service, receives the same retirement benefit previously paid to the member; and
d. Does not accrue post-retirement benefit adjustments during the term of reemployment but receives a Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA) in January immediately
following second retirement.
2) If the member works more than 480 hours in a calendar year and accumulates less than 5 years of service credit before terminating again, the member:
a. Is awarded service credit for the period of reemployment;
b. Starting the first month following termination of service, receives:
i. The same retirement benefit previously paid to the member, and
ii. A second retirement benefit for the period of reemployment calculated based on the laws in effect as of the member's rehire date; and
c. Does not accrue post-retirement benefit adjustments during the term of reemployment but receives a GABA:
i. On the initial retirement benefit in January immediately following second retirement, and
ii. On the second retirement benefit starting in January after receiving that benefit for at least 12 months.
3) A member who returns to covered service is not eligible for a disability benefit.

Refunds
1) Terminating members eligible to retire may, in lieu of receiving a monthly retirement benefit, refund their accumulated contributions in a lump sum.
2) Terminating members with accumulated contributions between $200 and $1,000 who wish to rollover their refund must do so within 90 days of termination of service.
3) Trusts, estate, and charitable organizations listed as beneficiaries are entitled to receive only a lump-sum payment.

See Independent Auditors' Report
11-82
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTE TO RSI (Continued)
Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Municipal Police Officers' Retirement System (MPORS)
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Interest credited to member accounts
Effective July 1, 2017, the interest rate credited to member accounts increase from 0.25% to 0.77%

Lump-sum payouts
Effective July 1, 2017, lump-sum payouts in all systems are limited to the member's accumulated contributions rate than the present value of the member's benefit.

Changes in Actuarial Assumptions and Methods
Method and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contributions

The following Actuarial Assumptions were adopted from the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation:

126

General Wage Growth* 3.50%
Investment Rate of Return 7.65%
*Includes inflation at 2.75%
Merit salary increases 0% to 6.60%
Asset valuation method Four-year smoothed market
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal
Amortization method Level percentage of pay, open
Mortality (Health members) For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality
Table projected to 2020 using Scale BB, males set back 1 year
Mortality (Disabled members For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Mortality Table
Admin Expense as % of Payroll 0.23%

Administrative expenses are recognized by an additional amount added to the normal cost contribution rate for the System. This amount varies from year to year based on the prior year
actual administrative expenses.

See Independent Auditors' Report
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

FIREFIGHTERS' UNIFIED RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FURS)
Last Seven Fiscal Years
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SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the
employer 0.5747% 0.5967% 0.5964% 0.6146% 0.6135% 0.6361% 0.6361%
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 659308 |% 6872858 674,153 % 701,961 |$ 627422 |$ 620913 |$ 794,731
State of MT proportionate share of the net pension liability associated with the
employer 1,594,538 1,571,515 1,530,932 [ § 1,590,422 [ § 1,397,436 [ § 1,400,749 | $ 1,792,875
Total $ 2,253,846 [ § 2,258,800 [ § 2,205,085 [ § 2,292,383 [ § 2,024,858 [ § 2,021,662 [ § 2,587,606
Employer's covered payroll $ 996,655 8% 939,843 [$ 897400 ([$ 865474 [$ 824,391 [ $ 826,239 [ Not available
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability as of its covered payroll 66.15% 73.13% 75.12% 81.11% 76.11% 75.15%| Not available
Plan fiduciary net position as a percent of the total pension liability 80.08% 79.03% 77.77% 75.48% 76.90% 76.70%| Not available

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually required contributions $ 148707 |$ 137351 |$ 138330 ($ 128034 |$ 123,740 S 120,686 S 119,419
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contributions $ 148707 |$ 137,351 |$ 138330 |$ 128,034 |$ 123,740 |$ 120686 | % 119,419
Contribution deficiency (excess) - - - - - - -
Employer's covered payroll $ 1,035565 8 996,655 |8 939,843 [$§ 897,400 8§ 865474 8§ 824391 [§ 826,239
Contributions of covered payroll 14.36% 13.78% 14.72% 14.27% 14.30% 14.64% 14.45%

Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

See Independent Auditors' Report
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTE TO RSI
Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Firefighters' Unified Retirement System (FURS)
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Changes of Benefit Terms
The following changes to the plan provision were made as identified:

2017 Legislative Changes:
Working Retiree Limitations - For FURS
Applies to retirement system member who return on or after July 1, 2017 to covered employment in the system from which they retired.
1) Members who return for less than 480 hours in a calendar year:
a. May not become an an active mender in the system; and
b. Are subject to a $1 reduction in their retirement benefit for each $3 earned in excess of $5,000 in the calendar year.
2) Members who return for 480 or more hours in a calendar year:
a. Must become an active member of the system;
b. Will stop receiving a retirement benefit from the system; and
c. Will be eligible for a second retirement benefit if they earn 5 or more years of service credit through their second employment.
3) Employee, employer and state contributions, if any, apply as follows:
a. Employer contributions and state contributions (if any) must be paid on all working retiree;
b. Employee contributions must be paid on working retirees who return to covered employment for 480 or more hours in a calendar year.

Second Retirement Benefit - for FURS
Applies to retirement system members who return on or after July 1, 2017 to active service covered by the system from which they retired.
1) If the member works more than 480 hours in a calendar year and accumulates less than 5 years of service credit before terminating again, the member:
a. Is not awarded service credit for the period of reemployment;
b. Is refunded the accumulated contributions associated with the period of reemployment;
c. Starting the first month following terminating of service, receives the same retirement benefit previously paid to the member; and
d. Does not accrue post-retirement benefit adjustment during the term of reemployment benefit but receives a Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA) in January
immediately following second retirement.
2) If the member works more than 480 hours in a calendar year and accumulates at least 5 years of service credit before terminating again, the member:
a. Is awarded service credit for the period of reemployment;
b. Starting the first month following termination of service, receives:
i. The same retirement benefit previously paid to the member, and
ii. A second retirement benefit for the period of reemployment calculated based on the laws in effect as of the member's rehire date; and
c. Does not accrue post-retirement benefit adjustments during the term of reemployment but receives a GABA:
i. On the initial retirement benefit in January immediately following second retirement, and
ii. On the second retirement benefit starting in January after receiving that benefit for at least 12 months.
3) A member who returns to covered service is not eligible for a disability benefit.

Refunds
1) Terminating members eligible to retire may, in lieu of receiving a monthly retirement benefit, refund their accumulated contribution in a lump sum.
2) Terminating members with accumulated contributions between $200 and $1,000 who wish to rollover their refund must do so within 90 days of termination of service.
3) Trusts, estates, and charitable organizations listed as beneficiaries are intitled to receive only a lump-sum payment.

See Independent Auditors' Report
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Interest credited to member accounts

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

NOTE TO RSI (Continued)
Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Firefighters' Unified Retirement System (FURS)
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Effective July 1, 2017, the interest rate credited to member accounts increase from 0.25% to 0.77%

Lump-sum payouts

Effective July 1, 2017, lump-sum payouts in all systems are limited to the member's accumulated contributions rate than the present value of the member's benefit.

Changes in Actuarial Assumptions and Methods

Method and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contributions

The following Actuarial Assumptions are adopted from the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation:
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General Wage Growth* 3.50%
Investment Rate of Return* 7.65%
*Includes inflation at 2.75%
Merit salary increase 0% t0 6.3%
Asset valuation method Four-year smoothed market
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal

Amortization method

Level percentage of pay, open

Mortality (Health members)

For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality
Table projected to 2020 using Scale BB, males set back 1 year.

Mortality (Disabled members)

For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Mortality Table

Admin Expense as % of Payroll

0.25%

Administrative expenses are recognized by an additional amount added to the normal cost contribution rate for the System. This amount varies from year to year based on the prior

year's actual administrative expenses.

See Independent Auditors' Report
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BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES
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Budgetary fund balance, July 1
Resources (inflows):
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Proceeds from long-term debt
Sale of assets
Interest on investments
Loan repayment
Transfers from other funds
Other

Amounts available for appropriation

Charges to appropriations (outflows):

Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Public health
Culture and recreation
Other

Capital outlay

Debt service

Transfers to other funds

Total charges to appropriations

Budgetary fund balance, June 30

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND
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Year Ended June 30, 2020
Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Actual Final Budget

Original Final Amounts Positive (Negative)

$ 1,414,778 $ 1,414,778 $ 1,414,778 $ -
2,461,188 2,461,188 2,443,664 (17,524)

299,450 299,450 349,841 50,391
1,805,877 2,267,074 2,215,651 (51,423)
134,900 134,900 101,805 (33,095)

116,250 116,250 121,384 5,134

2,000 2,000 7,266 5,266

1,125,681 1,125,681 1,126,688 1,007
173,271 173,271 84,032 (89,239)
7,533,395 7,994,592 7,865,109 (129,483)

1,374,138 1,374,138 1,342,739 31,399

2,802,136 2,802,136 2,740,002 62,134

457,511 457,511 395,892 61,619
145,615 145,615 150,626 (5,011)
519,562 519,562 530,594 (11,032)

5,321 5,321 - 5,321

296,052 296,052 120,814 175,238

10,101 10,101 10,096 5

383,810 383,810 335,300 48,510

5,994,246 5,994,246 5,626,063 368,183

$ 1,539,149 $ 2,000,346 8 2,239,046 $ 238,700

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT DOWNTOWN SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2020
Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Actual Final Budget
Original Final Amounts Positive (Negative)
Budgetary fund balance, July 1 $ 1,101,563 $ 1,101,563 $ 1,101,563 $ -
Resources (inflows):

Taxes 193,400 193,400 379,256 185,856
Special assessments 3,552 3,552 5,680 2,128
Licenses and permits - - - -
Intergovernmental 40,967 40,967 40,967 -

Charges for services - - - -
Fines and forfeitures - - - -
Proceeds from long-term debt - - - -
Sale of assets - - - -
Interest on investments 1,500 1,500 3,504 2,004
Loan repayment - - - -
Transfers from other funds - - - -
Other - - - -

Amounts available for appropriation 1,340,982 1,340,982 1,530,970 189,988

Charges to appropriations (outflows):
Current
General government 7,500 12,125 11,805 320
Public safety - - - -
Public works - - - -

Public health - - - -

Culture and recreation - - - -

Other - - - -

Capital outlay - 869,800 869,787 13
Debt service 158,925 158,925 158,925 -
Transfers to other funds - - - -
Total charges to appropriations 166,425 1,040,850 1,040,517 333
Budgetary fund balance, June 30 $ 1,174,557 $ 300,132 $ 490,453 $ 190,321

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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Explanation of Differences between Budgetary Inflows and Outflows and GAAP Revenues and Expenditures

Sources/inflows of resources

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
NOTE TO RSI

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Tax Increment

133

Actual amounts (budgetary basis) "available for appropriation" from the budgetary

comparison schedule
Differences - budget to GAAP:

The fund balance at the beginning of the year is a budgetary resource but is

Transfers from other funds are inflows of budgetary resources but are not

revenues for financial reporting purposes.

Total revenues as reported on the statement of revenues, expenditures, and

changes in fund balances - governmental funds

Uses/outflows of resources

Actual amounts (budgetary basis) "total charges to appropriations" from the

budgetary comparison schedule
Differences - budget to GAAP:

Transfers to other funds are outflows of budgetary resources but are not

expenditures for financial reporting purposes.

Total expenditures as reported on the statement of revenues, expenditures, and

General District
Fund Downtown

§ 7,865,109 $ 1,530,970
not a current-year revenue for financial reporting purposes. (1,414,778) (1,101,563)
(1,126,688) -

$ 5,323,643 $ 429,407

§ 5,626,063 § 1,040,517

(335,300) -

$ 5,290,763 $ 1,040,517

changes in fund balances - governmental funds

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES
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NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Comprehensive Liability Insurance: Subject to MCA 15-10-420, the City may levy an annual property tax in the amount necessary to fund the contribution for insurance.
The insurance premiums are for the entire City and include Liability Insurance, Insurance on buildings, vehicles, equipment, boiler insurance, and surety bonds.
Deductibles are paid within the function that incurred the claim.

Library: The Livingston-Park County Public Library is governed by a board of trustees composed of five appointed volunteers, who may each serve two consecutive five-
year terms. Two trustees are appointed by the City Commission, two by the County Commissioners, and one at-large trustee is appointed by the four city and county
trustees. The library is supported jointly by the City and the County. The City of Livingston levies a property tax to support the library function.

Emergency/Disaster: On June 10, 1996 the City of Livingston declared a State of Emergency as a result of a flood of the Yellowstone River. This emergency disaster fund
was created to account for the assessment of the initial emergency millage of 2 mills to cover the expenditures incurred as a result of this flood as authorized by MCA 10-3-
405. In total 8.1 emergency mills were assessed on the property tax payers of Livingston over 4 fiscal years to cover the expenditures relating to the 1996 and 1997 floods
of the Yellowstone River. The remaining funds shall be used only for expenditures arising from future emergencies.

Dispatch/Communication: The communications department functions as the central emergency services and 911center for Park County; receiving all calls for service and
dispatching for the Livingston Police Department, Park County Sherriff’s Office, Livingston Fire and Rescue, several Park County rural fire departments and many other
local, state, and federal entities as needed. The communications department also maintains law enforcement and court related records and routinely retrieves NCIC/CJIN
data for local law enforcement purposes. The support of the dispatch is split equally between the City of Livingston and Park County. The City of Livingston support is in
the form of a transfer from the General Fund.

Tax Increment District — Downtown: The Downtown Tax Increment District was created in December of 2003 after the adoption of the Livingston Urban Renewal Agency
Plan by the City Commission. The primary purpose of this District is to rehabilitate and develop identified blighted areas within the City of Livingston’s Downtown area.
This district measures approximately 143 acres. The sunset date for the Downtown TIF is anticipated as being December of 2018.

Permissive Medical Levy: According to MCA 2-9-212, the amount of City contribution in excess of the base contribution (the level of contribution in 2000) is not subject
to the mill levy cap. Levies implemented under this section must be calculated separately and are not subject to an inflation factor.

CDBG Economic Development Revolving Fund: This fund accounts for the City’s revolving loan program. The revenue source is proceeds from CDBG loan repayments.

Impact Fees: MCA 7-6-1604 provides the authority to local governments to impose impact fees on new development to fund all or a portion of the public facility capital
improvements affected by the new development. In 2006 the City of Livingston adopted an ordinance which established the City’s Impact Fee Policy. Expenditure out of
this fund must be for capacity expanding improvements and cannot be used for the normal maintenance and operations of current facilities. The cash balance in this fund is
split into four designations; Fire/EMS, Transportation, Police, and Parks/Recreation.

S.I.D. Lighting: SID Lighting, or the Light Maintenance District Fund, is a city-wide assessment whose boundaries include the entire existing town and any annexations
that may occur in the future. These assessments cover the energy costs of the public lighting as well as the replacement and maintenance of those lights.

Street Maintenance Fund: Accounts for the resources accumulated and payments made for maintenance and repairs of city-owned streets.
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Sidewalks: The mission of the District is to aid in facilitation and strengthening of commerce, provide maintenance assistance, beautify and enhance streetscapes, impr
security and safety, and stimulate development and vitality in Livingston’s historic downtown district. Funding is provided through an assessment on each business within
the district, on a per square foot basis.

Business Improvement District: Assessments from past year’s sidewalk replacements are deposited within this fund. When enough cash is accumulated, additional
sidewalk replacements will be made out of this fund, generating more interest revenue.

Parks Department: This fund is comprised of a number of cash accounts which support various functions of the park system. The designated cash accounts are for the
Sacajawea Park, The McNair Skate Park, The Sacajawea Statue, Trees, and the Skillman Trust. This money is to be used for recreation activities that otherwise would not
have been funded.

Law Enforcement: This fund was established to accommodate donations from citizens or civic groups that are intended to be used exclusively for police services, as well as
court ordered assessments. In an agreement with Park County, the City maintains the Joint Equipment Fund while Park County maintains a similar fund for training. These
funds may be used by both the City and County law enforcement agencies, with the expenditures being informally agreed upon.

Gas Tax Apportionment: The state collects and distributes gas tax funds to cities, towns, counties, and consolidated city-county governments. These funds are allocated
based on our population. Expenditures from this fund, in excess of $80,000 must follow applicable bidding procedures and may not be used for the purchase of capital
equipment (MCA 15-7-101).

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

2016 Fire Truck GO Bonds: In November of 2015, the voters approved a bond election to acquire firefighting apparatus and equipment. This fund has been established to
accumulate tax revenue and pay the bond payers.

2000 Fire Truck GO Bonds: In November of 1999, the voters approved a bond election to acquire firefighting equipment consisting of a 75 foot ladder truck and related
equipment and a quint (fire truck) for the city. The pay off date for these bonds is July 2020.

West End Tax Increment District: This fund accounts for the financial activity of the West End Tax Increment District. The payoff date on these bonds is July of 2025.

S.I.D. Revolving: The City has established a Special Improvement District Revolving Fund to secure the payment of its special improvement district bonds. At the time of
issuance, state law allows the City to deposit at least 5%, but no more than 10% into this fund. This fund is used to secure prompt payment of any special improvement
district bonds should there not be a sufficient balance in the Special Improvement District Funds.

S.I.D. 179: Accounts for the resources accumulated and payments made for principal and interest on special improvement debt.

S.I.D. 180: SID 180 was created in April of 2008 for the purpose of installing Sewer Mains in the area of Carol Lane. The final property owner assessments will be
collected in June of 2023. This special improvement district was financed by an inter-fund loan from the Park Improvement Special Revenue fund.
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CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS

Capital Improvements: This fund is used for capital purchases for non-enterprise functions. The cash balance in this fund is comprised of designated cash for the
improvements to the Civic Center, Sidewalks, Dispatch, Land Lease Revenue, Fire vehicles or equipment, and for general capital improvement projects. State law requires
purchases from this fund to be in excess of $5,000 and have a life expectancy of at least 5 years.

Library Extension: This fund is for the replacement and acquisition of property, capital improvements, and equipment necessary to maintain and improve the Livingston-
Park County Library.

Railroad Underpass: In September of 2008, the citizens of Livingston approved a ballot measure allowing the City to levy a maximum of 11.25 mills for 5 years for the
creation of a Railroad Underpass on the West side of Livingston. This levy will allow the City to complete the preliminary engineering known as Phase One.

PERMANENT FUNDS

Perpetual Cemetery Care: The Perpetual Cemetery Card fund is used to account for 50% of cemetery plot sales which are dedicated to the perpetual care of the cemetery.
The interest income from the trust is transferred to the general fund for use in maintaining the City’s cemetery.




ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Property taxes
Customers, net
Other
Special assessments
Other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Due from other City funds
Advances to other City funds
Notes receivable
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Other assets
Due from other City funds

Total assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Advances
Due to other City funds

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of tax revenues
Deferred inflows of special assessments

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

139

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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June 30, 2020
Special Revenue Funds
CDBG
Comprehensive Permissive Economic
Liability Dispatch/ Medical Development
Insurance Library Communication Levy Revolving

4,106 255,084 S 8,651 $ - 907

2,009 1,820 - 3,830 -

- - 3,625 - -

- - - - 731,431

15,073 165,559 164,743 47,535 -
21,188 422.463 177,019 51,365 732,338
21.188 422,463 177.019 $ 51.365 732,338

- 9,591 1,632 $ - -

- 9,591 1,632 - -

2,009 1,820 - 3,830

2,009 1,820 - 3,830 -

19,179 411,052 175,387 47,535 732,338
19,179 411.052 175,387 47,535 732,338
21.188 422,463 177.019 $ 51.365 732,338
(continued)




ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Property taxes
Customers, net
Other
Special assessments
Other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Due from other City funds
Advances to other City funds
Notes receivable
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Other assets
Due from other City funds

Total assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Advances
Due to other City funds

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of tax revenues
Deferred inflows of special assessments

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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June 30, 2020
Special Revenue Funds
Business
Impact S.I.D. Street Improvement Parks
Fees Lighting Maintenance Sidewalks District Department
349,337 $ 95,747 S 202,219 $ 66 S 15,044 70,544
- - - - 1,152 -
- - 10,863 - - -
- 1,474 9,197 223,845 - -
- 20,190 140,796 7,160 4,733 -
349,337 117,411 363,075 231,071 20,929 70,544
349,337 $ 117411 ) 363.075 $ 231.071 S 20,929 70.544
- $ 360 S 13,845 $ - $ - -
- - - 138,100 - -
- 360 13,845 138,100 - -
- 1.474 9.197 223.845 1,152 -
- 1.474 9.197 223.845 1,152 -
349,337 - - - - -
- 115,577 340,033 - 19,777 70,544
_ - - (130,874) - -
349,337 115,577 340,033 (130,874) 19.777 70,544
349,337 $ 117411 S 363.075 $ 231.071 S 20,929 70.544

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Property taxes
Customers, net
Other
Special assessments
Other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Due from other City funds
Advances to other City funds
Notes receivable
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Other assets
Due from other City funds

Total assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Advances
Due to other City funds

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of tax revenues
Deferred inflows of special assessments

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

June 30, 2020
Special Revenue Funds
Law Gas Tax
Enforcement Apportionment Total
N 6,534 S 164,747 S 1,172,986
- - 8,811
- - 14,488
- - 731,431
- - 234,516
- - 565,789
6.534 164.747 2,728,021
S 6534 S 164747 S 2728021
S - S 50,367 S 75,795
- - 138.100
- 50,367 213.895
- - 7,659
- - 235.668
- - 243.327
- 114,380 463,717
6,534 - 1,937,956
- - (130.874)
6.534 114,380 2,270,799
S 6534 S 164747 S 2728021
(continued)
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ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Property taxes
Customers, net
Other
Special assessments
Other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Due from other City funds
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Other assets
Due from other City funds

Total assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Advances
Due to other City funds

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of tax revenues
Deferred inflows of special assessments

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2020
Debt Service Funds
2016 2000 West End
Fire Truck Fire Truck Tax Increment S.L.D.
GO Bonds GO Bonds District Revolving
$ 15,385 2,433 $ 238,093 $ 18,754
524 615 - -
3,756 2,504 40,600 -
- - - 5,550
- - 98,667 -
19,665 5,552 377,360 24,304
$ 19,665 5,552 $ 377.360 $ 24,304
$ - - $ - $ -
524 615 - -
524 615 - -
19,141 4,937 377,360 20,100
- - - 4,204
19,141 4,937 377,360 24,304
$ 19,665 5,552 $ 377.360 $ 24,304
(continued)
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

143

June 30, 2020
Debt Service Funds
S.L.D. S.I.D.
179 180 Total
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 23,536 $ - $ 298,201
Receivables
Property taxes - - 1,139
Customers, net -
Other - - -
Special assessments 170,200 10,138 180,338
Other governments - 321 47,181
Prepaid expenditures -
Due from other City funds - - 5,550
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - - 98,667
Total current assets 193,736 10,459 631,076
Other assets
Due from other City funds - - -
Total assets $ 193,736 $ 10,459 $ 631,076
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ - $ - $ -
Advances - - -
Due to other City funds - 5,550 5,550
Total liabilities - 5,550 5,550
Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of tax revenues - - 1,139
Deferred inflows of special assessments 170,200 10,138 180,338
Total deferred inflows of resources 170,200 10,138 181,477
Fund balances:
Nonspendable - - -
Restricted - - 421,538
Committed 23,536 - 27,740
Unassigned - (5,229) (5,229)
Total fund balances 23,536 (5,229) 444,049
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances S 193,736 $ 10,459 $ 631,076
(continued)

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
11-94




ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Property taxes
Customers, net
Other
Special assessments
Other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Due from other City funds
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Other assets
Due from other City funds

Total assets

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Advances
Due to other City funds

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of tax revenues
Deferred inflows of special assessments

Total deferred inflows of resources

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2020
Capital Project Funds
Capital Library Railroad
Improvements Extension Underpass Total

$ 8,490 $ 25,281 $ 26,024 $ 59,795
- - 542 542

- - 11 11

8,490 25,281 26,577 60,348

$ 8,490 $ 25,281 $ 26,577 $ 60,348
$ - $ - $ - $ -
- - 542 542

- - 542 542

8,490 25,281 26,035 59,806

8,490 25,281 26,035 59,806

$ 8,490 $ 25,281 $ 26,577 $ 60,348
(continued)
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2020

Permanent Fund

Perpetual
Cemetery Care
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 227,820

Receivables
Property taxes -
Customers, net -
Other -

Special assessments -
Other governments -
Prepaid expenditures -
Due from other City funds 17,058
Restricted cash and cash equivalents -

Total current assets 244,878

Other assets
Due from other City funds -

Total assets $ 244,878

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ -
Advances -
Due to other City funds -

Total liabilities -

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows of tax revenues -
Deferred inflows of special assessments -

Total deferred inflows of resources -

Fund balances:

Nonspendable 244,878
Restricted -
Committed -
Unassigned -

Total fund balances 244,878

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances $ 244.878

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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Total Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

145

$ 1,758,802

10,492
14,488
731,431
414,854
612,981
22,608
98,667

3,664,323

A

$ 75,795

143,650

219,445

9,340
416,006

425346

244,878
885,255
2,025,502

(136,103)

3,019,532

$ 3,664,323




COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

REVENUES
Taxes

Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments

Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government
Public safety

Public works

Public health

Culture and recreation

Capital outlay
Debt service

Principal payments
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in
Transfers out

Issuance of debt

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

FUND BALANCES -
beginning of year, originally reported
prior period adjustment
beginning of year, restated

FUND BALANCES -

end of year

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NONMAJOR FUNDS - SPECIAL REVENUE

Year Ended June 30, 2020
CDBG
Comprehensive Permissive Economic
Liability Dispatch/ Medical Development
Insurance Library Communication Levy Revolving
$ 143,737 100,282 $ - 452,014 $ -
- 527,147 106,941 . .
- 3,212 332,300 - -
- 771 - - -
(1,138) 1,375 (319) 1,342 2,924
- 2,143 - - 8,975
142,599 634,930 438,922 453,356 11,899
15,866 - - - 9,192
90,717 - 599,671 - -
195,122 - - - -
1,794 - - - R
19,227 517,584 - - -
322,726 517,584 599,671 - 9,192
(180,127) 117,346 (160,749) 453,356 2,707
175,092 50,317 382,204 - -
- (37,752) (68,736) (437,775) -
175,092 12,565 313,468 (437,775) -
(5,035) 129,911 152,719 15,581 2,707
24,214 281,141 22,668 31,954 615,574
- - - - 114,057
24,214 281,141 22,668 31,954 729,631
$ 19,179 411,052 $ 175,387 47.535 $ 732,338

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Public health
Culture and recreation
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of debt

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

FUND BALANCES -
beginning of year, originally reported
prior period adjustment
beginning of year, restated

FUND BALANCES -
end of year

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

NONMAJOR FUNDS - SPECIAL REVENUE (CONTINUED)
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Year Ended June 30, 2020
Business
Impact S.I.D. Street Improvement Parks
Fees Lighting Maintenance Sidewalks District Department
$ - $ - $ - $ - - -
- 145,980 1,006,136 119,265 42,336 -
- - 16,600 - - -
- - 296 - - -
190,838 - - - - -
2,301 388 256 (684) 63 512
- - 2,257 - - -
193,139 146,368 1,025,545 118,581 42,399 512
- - - - 41,504 -
- 69,187 - - - -
3,919 - 546,558 - - -
57,029 52,345 104,781 184,764 - -
- - 84,667 - - -
- . 12,582 . - -
60,948 121,532 748,588 184,764 41,504 -
132,191 24,836 276,957 (66,183) 895 512
- - 32,944 - - -
- - (134,996) B} 3 i
- - 20,000 - - -
- - (82,052) - - -
132,191 24,836 194,905 (66,183) 895 512
217,146 90,741 145,128 (64,691) 18,882 70,032
217,146 90,741 145,128 (64,691) 18,882 70,032
$ 349,337 $ 115,577 $ 340,033 $ (130,874) 19,777 70.544
(continued)
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

NONMAJOR FUNDS - SPECIAL REVENUE (CONTINUED)

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
Year Ended June 30, 2020

REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Public health
Culture and recreation
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of debt

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

FUND BALANCES -
beginning of year, originally reported
prior period adjustment
beginning of year, restated

FUND BALANCES -
end of year

Enforcement

Gas Tax
Apportionment

Special
Revenue
Totals

$ -

149,400
350

944

$ 696,033

1,313,717
16,600
783,784
526,700
771
8,012
13,375

150,694

3,358,992

139,804

66,562
759,575
885,403

1,794
536,811
398,919

84,667
12,582

139,804

2,746,313

10,890

612,679

640,557
(679,259)
20,000

(18,702)

48

10,890

593,977

6,486

103,490

1,562,765
114,057

6,486

103,490

1,676,822

6,534

————————————

$ 114,380

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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2,270,799

$=
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS - DEBT SERVICE
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Public health
Culture and recreation
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of debt

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

FUND BALANCES -
beginning of year, originally reported
prior period adjustment
beginning of year, restated

FUND BALANCES -
end of year

Year Ended June 30, 2020
2016 2000 West End
Fire Truck Fire Truck Tax Increment S.1.D.
GO Bonds GO Bonds District Revolving
36,247 23,810 127,571 $ -
- - 13,189 -
243 166 2,334 177
36,490 23,976 143,094 177
31,775 35,000 60,000 -
19,469 1,050 14,438 -
51,244 36,050 74,438 -
(14,754) (12,074) 68,656 177
(14,754) (12,074) 68,656 177
33,895 17,011 308,704 24,127
33,895 17,011 308,704 24,127
19,141 4.937 377.360 $ 24,304

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS - DEBT SERVICE (CONTINUED)
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Year Ended June 30, 2020

S.L.D. S.L.D.
179 180

REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ -
Special assessments 34,563 3,755
Licenses and permits - -
Intergovernmental - -
Charges for services - -
Fines and forfeitures - -
Interest on investments 189 57

Other - -

Total revenues 34,752 3,698

EXPENDITURES

Current
General government - -
Public safety - -
Public works - -
Public health - -
Culture and recreation - -

Capital outlay - -

Debt service
Principal payments 26,000 -
Interest and fiscal fees 6,356 -

Total expenditures 32,356 -
Revenues over (under) expenditures 2,396 3,698

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in - -
Transfers out - -
Issuance of debt - -

Total other financing sources (uses) - -

Net change in fund balance 2,396 3,698

FUND BALANCES -
beginning of year, originally reported 21,140 (8,927)
prior period adjustment - -

beginning of year, restated 21,140 (8,927)
FUND BALANCES -
end of year $ 23.536 $ (5.229)

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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Debt Service
Totals

$ 187,628
38,318

13,189

3,052

242,187

152,775
41313

194,088

48,099

48,099

395,950

395,950

$ 444,049

(continued)
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REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Public health
Culture and recreation
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of debt

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

FUND BALANCES -
beginning of year, originally reported
prior period adjustment
beginning of year, restated

FUND BALANCES -
end of year

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS - CAPITAL PROJECTS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

151

Year Ended June 30, 2020
Capital
Capital Library Railroad Projects
Improvements Extension Underpass Totals
$ - $ - $ 11 11
55 184 189 428
55 184 200 439
- - 30,374 30,374
- - 1,798 1,798
- - 32,172 32,172
55 184 (31,972) (31,733)
- - 8,000 8,000
- - 8,000 8,000
55 184 (23,972) (23,733)
8,435 25,097 50,007 83,539
8,435 25,097 50,007 83,539
$ 8,490 $ 25,281 $ 26,035 59.806
(continued)
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS - PERMANENT FUND
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Year Ended June 30, 2020

REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current
General government
Public safety
Public works
Public health
Culture and recreation
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal payments
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures
Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of debt

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

FUND BALANCES -
beginning of year, originally reported
prior period adjustment
beginning of year, restated

FUND BALANCES -
end of year

Perpetual
Cemetery Care

5,541

(2,566-)

(2,566)

2,975

241,903

241,903

$ 244878

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

$ 883,672
1,352,035

16,600

796,973

529,675

771

14,058

13,375

3,607,159

66,562
759,575
885,403

1,794
536,811
398,919

267,816
55,693

2,972,573

634,586

648,557
(681,825)
20,000

(13,268)

621,318

2,284,157
114,057
2,398,214

$ 3,019,532
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BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) TO ACTUAL SCHEDULES — NONMAJOR FUNDS
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -
BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

Year Ended June 30, 2020
Comprehensive Liability Insurance Library
Variance Variance
Positive Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Taxes $ 150,572 143,737 (6,835) $ 89,514 100,282 10,768
Special assessments - - - - - -
Licenses and permits - - - - - -
Intergovernmental - - - 457413 527,147 69,734
Charges for services - - - 6,000 3,212 (2,788)
Fines and forfeitures - - - - 771 771
Interest on investments (750) (1,138) (388) 200 1,375 1,175
Other - - - 2,000 2,143 143
Total revenues 149,822 142,599 (7,223) 555,127 634,930 79,803
EXPENDITURES - BUDGET
UNIT 322,742 322,726 16 576,807 517,584 59,223
Revenues over (under) expenditures (172.,920) (180,127) (7,207) (21,680) 117,346 139.026
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 175,092 175,092 - 48,690 50,317 1,627
Transfers out - - - (37,752) (37,752) -
Issuance of debt - - - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses) 175,092 175,092 - 10,938 12,565 1,627
Revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures 2172 (5,035) (7.207) (10.742) 129,911 140.653
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year, originally reported 24,214 281,141
prior period adjustment - -
beginning of year, restated 24,214 281,141
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year $ 19.179 $ 411.052
(continued)
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -

REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES - BUDGET
UNIT

Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of debt

Total other financing sources (uses)

Revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year, originally reported
prior period adjustment
beginning of year, restated

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year

BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Dispatch/Communications

Permissive Medical Levy

155

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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Variance Variance
Positive Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) Budget Actual (Negative)
- - - 444,330 452,014 7,684
- 106,941 106,941 - - -
390,576 332,300 (58,276) - - -
- (319) (319) - 1,342 1,342
390,576 438,922 48,346 444,330 453,356 9,026
648,916 599,671 49,245 - - -
(258.,340) (160,749) 97,591 444,330 453,356 9,026
358,826 382,204 23,378 - - -
(68,736) (68,736) - (444.,330) (437,775) 6,555
290,090 313,468 23,378 (444,330) (437,775) 6,555
31.750 152,719 120.969 - 15,581 15.581
22,668 31,954
22,668 31,954
$ 175.387 $ 47.535
(continued)




CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -

BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

Year Ended June 30, 2020

CDBG Economic Development Revolving

Impact Fees

Variance Variance
Positive Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Taxes $ - - - - - -
Special assessments - - - - - -
Licenses and permits - - - - - -
Intergovernmental - - - - - -
Charges for services - - - 65,120 190,838 125,718
Fines and forfeitures - - - - - -
Interest on investments 3,000 2,924 (76) 1,000 2,301 1,301
Other 60,000 8,975 (51,025) - - -
Total revenues 63,000 11,899 (51,101) 66,120 193,139 127,019
EXPENDITURES - BUDGET
UNIT 655,406 9,192 646,214 83,319 60,948 22,371
Revenues over (under) expenditures (592.406) 2,707 595,113 (17,199) 132,191 149,390
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in - - - - - -
Transfers out - - - - - -
Issuance of debt - - - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses) - - - - - -
Revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures (592.406) 2,707 595.113 (17.199) 132,191 149.390
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year, originally reported 615,574 217,146
prior period adjustment 114,057 -
beginning of year, restated 729,631 217,146
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year $ 732.338 $ 349.337
(continued)

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -
BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

157

Year Ended June 30, 2020
S.1.D. Lighting Street Maintenance
Variance Variance
Positive Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Taxes $ - - - $ - - -
Special assessments 149,900 145,980 (3,920) 1,030,607 1,006,136 (24,471)
Licenses and permits - - - - 16,600 16,600
Intergovernmental - - - - 296 296
Charges for services - - - - - -
Fines and forfeitures - - - - - -
Interest on investments 250 388 138 500 256 (244)
Other - - - 1,500 2,257 757
Total revenues 150,150 146,368 (3,782) 1,032,607 1,025,545 (7,062)
EXPENDITURES - BUDGET
UNIT 153,000 121,532 31,468 852,778 748,588 104,190
Revenues over (under) expenditures (2,850) 24.836 27,686 179,829 276,957 97,128
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in - - - 31,280 32,944 1,664
Transfers out - - - (134,997) (134,996) 1
Issuance of debt - - - - 20,000 20,000
Total other financing sources (uses) - - - (103,717) (82,052) 21,665
Revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures (2.850) 24,836 27.686 76,112 194,905 118.793
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year, originally reported 90,741 145,128
prior period adjustment - -
beginning of year, restated 90,741 145,128
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year $ 115.577 $ 340.033
(continued)
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -

BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

158

Year Ended June 30, 2020
Sidewalks Business Improvement District
Variance Variance
Positive Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Taxes $ - - - - - -
Special assessments 179,661 119,265 (60,396) 42,150 42,336 186
Licenses and permits - - - - - -
Intergovernmental - - - - - -
Charges for services - - - - - -
Fines and forfeitures - - - - - -
Interest on investments 300 (684) (984) 50 63 13
Other - - - - - -
Total revenues 179,961 118,581 (61,380) 42,200 42,399 199
EXPENDITURES - BUDGET
UNIT 184,800 184,764 36 46,315 41,504 4,811
Revenues over (under) expenditures (4,839) (66,183) (61,344) (4,115) 895 5,010
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in - - - - - -
Transfers out - - - - - -
Issuance of debt - - - - - -
Total other financing sources - - - - - -
Revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures (4,839) (66,183) (61,344) (4,115) 895 5,010
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year, originally reported (64,691) 18,882
prior period adjustment - -
beginning of year, restated (64,691) 18,882
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year $ (130,874) $ 19,777
(continued)

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -

BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

Year Ended June 30, 2020

Parks Department

Law Enforcement

159

Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)

Budget Actual

Variance
Positive
(Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes $ - - -
Special assessments - - -
Licenses and permits - - -
Intergovernmental - - -
Charges for services - - -
Fines and forfeitures - - -
Interest on investments 500 512 12
Other 2,000 - (2,000)

Total revenues 2,500 512 (1,988)

30 48

18

EXPENDITURES - BUDGET
UNIT - - -

6,502 -

6,502

Revenues over (under) expenditures 2,500 512 (1,988)

(6,472) 48

6,520

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in - - -
Transfers out - - -
Issuance of debt - - -

Total other financing sources - - -

Revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures 2,500 512 (1,988)

(6,472) 48

6,520

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year, originally reported 70,032
prior period adjustment -
beginning of year, restated 70,032

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year $ 70,544

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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6,486

6,486

6,534

S 6534

(continued)




CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -

REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES - BUDGET
UNIT

Revenues over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in
Transfers out
Issuance of debt

Total other financing sources

Revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year, originally reported
prior period adjustment
beginning of year, restated

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year

BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

160

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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Year Ended June 30, 2020
Gas Tax Apportionment Total
Variance Variance
Positive Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) Budget Actual (Negative)
- - - $ 684,416 696,033 11,617
- - - 1,402,318 1,313,717 (88,601)
- - - - 16,600 16,600
265,100 149,400 (115,700) 722,513 783,784 61,271
150 350 200 461,846 526,700 64,854
- - - - 771 771
500 944 444 5,580 8,012 2,432
- - - 65,500 13,375 (52,125)
265,750 150,694 (115,056) 3,342,173 3,358,992 16,819
181,000 139,804 41,196 3,711,585 2,746,313 965,272
84,750 10,890 (73,860) (369,412) 612,679 982,091
- - - 613,888 640,557 26,669
- - - (685,815) (679,259) 6,556
- - - - 20,000 20,000
- - - (71,927) (18,702) 53,225
84,750 10,890 (73,860) (441,339) 593,977 1,035,316
103,490 1,562,765
- 114,057
103,490 1,676,822
S 114,380 S 2270799




REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenue

EXPENDITURES
Current - General Government
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures

Revenues over (under)
expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

(USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing
sources (uses)

Revenues and other
sources over (under)
expenditures and
other uses

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL
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Year Ended June 30, 2020
2016 Fire Truck GO Bonds 2000 Fire Truck GO Bonds
Variance Variance
Positive Favorable
Budget Actual (Negative) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
$ 32,115 36,247 4,132 $ 21,176 23,810 2,634
50 243 193 100 166 66
32,165 36,490 4,325 21,276 23,976 2,700
30,000 31,775 (1,775) 35,000 35,000 -
21,244 19,469 1,775 1,050 1,050 -
51,244 51,244 - 36,050 36,050 -
(19,079) (14,754) 4,325 (14,774) (12,074) 2,700
(19.079) (14,754) 4,325 (14.774) (12,074) 2.700
33,895 17,011
$ 19.141 $ 4,937
(continued)

See the Independent Auditors' Report.

II-111




CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
DEBT SERVICE FUNDS (CONTINUED)
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL
Year Ended June 30, 2020

West End Tax Increment District

S.1.D. Revolving

162

Variance Variance
Favorable Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Unfavorable)
REVENUES
Taxes $ 108,400 127,571 19,171 $ - - -
Special assessments - - - - - -
Intergovernmental 13,189 13,189 - - - -
Charges for services - - - - - -
Interest on investments 1,500 2,334 834 120 177 57
Other - - - - -
Total revenue 123,089 143,094 20,005 120 177 57
EXPENDITURES
Current - General government - - - - - -
Capital outlay - - - - - -
Debt service
Principal 60,000 60,000 - - - -
Interest and fiscal fees 14,438 14,438 - - - -
Total expenditures 74,438 74,438 - - - -
Revenues over (under)
expenditures 48,651 68,656 20,005 120 177 57
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)
Transfers in - - - - - -
Transfers out - - - - - -
Total other financing
sources (uses) - - - - - -
Revenues and other
sources over (under)
expenditures and
other uses 48.651 68,656 20,005 120 177 57
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year 308,704 24,127
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year $ 377.360 $ 24,304
(continued)

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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REVENUES

Taxes

Special assessments
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenue

EXPENDITURES

Current - General government
Capital outlay
Debt service

Principal

Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures

Revenues over (under)
expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

(USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing
sources (uses)

Revenues and other
sources over (under)
expenditures and
other uses

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),

beginning of year

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),

end of year

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
DEBT SERVICE FUNDS (CONTINUED)
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL
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Year Ended June 30, 2020
S.1.D. 179 S.I.D. 80
Variance Variance
Favorable Positive
Budget Actual (Unfavorable) Budget Actual (Negative)
$ R R R - - -
34,563 34,563 - 3,747 3,755 8
120 189 69 (50) (57) @)
34,683 34,752 69 3,697 3,698 1
26,000 26,000 - - - -
6,356 6,356 - - - -
32,356 32,356 - - - -
2,327 2,396 69 3,697 3,698 1
2.327 2,396 69 3.697 3,698 1
21,140 (8,927)
$ 23.536 $ (5.229)
(continued)

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
DEBT SERVICE FUNDS (CONTINUED)
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenue

EXPENDITURES
Current - General government
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures

Revenues over (under)
expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing
sources (uses)

Revenues and other
sources over (under)
expenditures and
other uses

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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Year Ended June 30, 2020
Total
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
$ 161,691 187,628 25,937
38,310 38,318 8
13,189 13,189 -
1,840 3,052 1,212
215,030 242,187 27,157
151,000 152,775 (1,775)
43,088 41,313 1,775
194,088 194,088 -
20,942 48,099 27,157
20,942 48,099 27,157
395,950
$ 444,049
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REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenue

EXPENDITURES
Current - General Government
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures

Revenues over (under)
expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Premium on issuance of debt
Issuance of debt

Total other financing
sources (uses)

Revenues and other
sources over (under)
expenditures and
other uses

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL
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Year Ended June 30, 2020
Capital Improvements Library Extension
Variance Variance
Positive Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) Budget Actual (Negative)
30 55 25 150 184 34
30 55 25 150 184 34
30 55 25 150 184 34
30 55 25 150 184 34
8.435 25,097
$ 8.490 $ 25281
(continued)

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS (CONTINUED)

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES

REVENUES
Taxes
Special assessments
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Interest on investments
Other

Total revenue

EXPENDITURES
Current - General government
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal
Interest and fiscal fees

Total expenditures

Revenues over (under)
expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)
Transfers in
Transfers out
Premium on issuance of debt
Issuance of debt

Total other financing
sources (uses)

Revenues and other
sources over (under)
expenditures and
other uses

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year

IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL
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Year Ended June 30, 2020
Railroad Underpass Total
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual Budget Actual (Negative)
$ - 11 $ - 11 11
250 189 430 428 2)
250 200 430 439 9
30,374 30,374 30,374 30,374 -
1,798 1,798 1,798 1,798 -
32,172 32,172 32,172 32,172 -
(31,922) (31,972) (31,742) (31,733) 9
8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 -
8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 -
(23.922) (23,972) (23.742) (23,733) 9
50,007 83,539
$ 26,035 $ 59.806

See the Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON. MONTANA
PERMANENT FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES., EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET (GAAP BASIS) AND ACTUAL

Year Ended June 30. 2020

Cemetery Perpetual Care

167

Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Taxes $ - - -
Special assessments - - -
Intergovernmental - - -
Charges for services 3,500 2,975 (525)
Interest on investments 1,750 2,566 816
Other - - -
Total revenue 5,250 5,541 291
EXPENDITURES
Current - General government - - -
Total expenditures - - -
Revenues over (under)
expenditures 5,250 5,541 291
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)
Transfers in - - -
Transfers out (2,570) (2,566) 4
Total other financing
sources (uses) (2,570) (2,566) 4
Revenues and other
sources over (under)
expenditures and
other uses 2.680 2,975 295
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
beginning of year 241,903
FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT),
end of year S 244.878

See Independent Auditors' Report.
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AGENCY FUNDS STATEMENTS
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

AGENCY FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
June 30, 2020
Payroll
Agency
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $§ 206,538
Prepaid health insurance 41,772
Total assets $§ 248310
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 248,310
Total liabilities § 248310

See Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

170

AGENCY FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2020
Payroll
Agency
Balance Balance
June 30, 2019 Additions Deletions June 30, 2020
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 52,298 $ 154,240 $ - $ 206,538
Prepaid health insurance 67,302 - (25,530) 41,772
Total assets $ 119,600 $ 154,240 $ (25,530) $ 248,310
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 119,600 - 128,710 248,310
Total liabilities $ 119,600 $ - $ 128,710 $ 248,310

See Independent Auditors' Report.
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PART III

STATISTICAL SECTION
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Statistical Section

This part of the City of Livingston's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in
the financial statements, note disclosures and required supplementary information says about the government's overall financial health.

Contents
Financial Trends
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the government's financial performance and well-being have changed over time

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the government's most significant local revenue source, the property tax.

Debt Capacity
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the government's current levels of outstanding debt and the government's
ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment within which the government's financial activities
take place.

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in the government's financial report relates to the
services the government provides and the activities it performs.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the City of Livingston comprehensive annual financial reports for the
relevant year.
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Financial Trends Section

The best predicator of the future is often the past. Therefore, the financial trends section offers
selected information from previous years' financial statements to allow users to assess trends.
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Governmental activities
Net investment in capital assets
Nonspendable - Cemetery perpetual care
Restricted - Expendable
Restricted for General Government
Restricted for Public Works
Restricted for Public Safety
Restricted for Culture and Recreation
Restricted for Debt Service
Unrestricted - Long-term Receivable
Unrestricted

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for Debt Service
Unrestricted

Total business-type activities

Primary government
Net investment in capital assets
Nonspendable - Cemetery perpetual care
Restricted - Expendable
Restricted for General Government
Restricted for Public Works
Restricted for Public Safety
Restricted for Culture and Recreation
Restricted for Debt Service
Unrestricted - Long-term Receivable
Unrestricted

Total primary government net position

CITY OF LIVINGSTON
NET POSITION BY COMPONENT
Last Ten Fiscal Years

174

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
$ 6,078,018 $ 6,345,938 7,055,867 $ 7,917,516 $ 8,612,168 $ 10,404,137 $ 11,464,716 $ 12,465,450 $ 12,400,281 $ 13,341,285
213,093 223,302 219,534 222,258 232,837 235,763 238,636 240,415 241,903 244,878

- - - - 131 80 80 - - -

257,535 - - - - - - - - -
169,005 195,117 203,686 274,167 384,746 289,583 316,894 328,874 247,207 378,038
- - 7,753 280 281 282 283 - 49,857 49,947
- - 129,183 137,058 128,044 118,125 61,865 - 23,572 35,732
147,350 185,384 227,928 111,547 563,178 606,564 603,929 650,976 379,710 421,538
131,465 131,465 123,333 109,463 - - - - - -
3,150,717 3,798,037 3,848,976 3,944,824 117,488 10,063 (873,785) (1,052,689) 392,182 981,436
$ 10,147,183 $ 10,879,243 11,816,260 $ 12,717,113 $ 10,038,873 $ 11,664,597 $ 11,812,618 $ 12,633,026 $ 13,734,712 $ 15,452,854
13,516,375 14,152,599 14,659,760 15,199,573 15,737,528 16,103,349 15,861,620 18,485,014 19,669,959 20,566,369
- 264,538 264,538 297,373 297,373 239,538 239,538 522,096 915,764 846,970
1,030,158 663,525 558,508 274,064 (726,022) 334,821 1,785,618 1,916,154 1,599,455 1,919,053
$ 14,546,533 $ 15,080,662 15,482,806 $ 15,771,010 $ 15,308,879 $ 16,677,708 $ 17,886,776 $ 20,923,264 $ 22,185,178 $ 23,332,392
19,594,393 20,498,537 21,715,627 23,117,089 24,349,696 26,507,486 27,326,336 30,950,464 32,070,240 33,907,654
213,093 223,302 219,534 222,258 232,837 235,763 238,636 240,415 241,903 244,878

- - - - 131 80 80 - - -

257,535 - - - - - - - - -
169,005 195,117 203,686 274,167 384,746 289,583 316,894 328,874 247,207 378,038
- - 7,753 280 281 282 283 - 49,857 49,947
- - 129,183 137,058 128,044 118,125 61,865 - 23,572 35,732
147,350 449,922 492,466 408,920 860,551 846,102 843,467 1,173,072 1,295,474 1,268,508
131,465 131,465 123,333 109,463 - - - - - -
4,180,875 4,461,562 4,407,484 4,218,888 (608,534) 344,884 911,833 863,465 1,991,637 2,900,489
$ 24,693,716 $ 25,959,905 $ 27,299,066 $ 28,488,123 $ 25,347,752 $ 28,342,305 $ 29,699,394 $ 33,556,290 $ 35,919,890 $ 38,785,246

Unaudited statistical section.
-1




EXPENSES
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Public health
Culture and recreation
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities expenses

Business-type activities:

Water

Wastewater

Solid waste

Ambulance
Total business-type activities expenses
Total primary government expenses

PROGRAM REVENUES
Governmental activities:
Charges for Services:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Public health
Culture and recreation
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total governmental activities program revenues

CITY OF LIVINGSTON
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2009 2020

$ 1,031,773 $ 1,122,470 $ 1,135,135 $ 1,193,800 $ 1,766,027 $ 1,323,636 $ 1,802,374 $ 1,440,282 $ 1,303,482 $ 1,460,018
3,098,097 3,015,754 3,152,724 3,322,504 3,171,975 3,078,142 3,370,409 3,562,091 3,543,326 3,760,377
941,905 1,089,382 1,021,021 1,075,975 1,445,836 1,504,248 1,586,810 1,580,013 1,876,825 1,633,362
96,381 98,443 116,736 112,524 108,937 126,097 131,346 118,479 125,179 160,943
976,499 965,639 996,843 970,960 1,069,027 1,042,414 1,155,098 1,054,015 1,206,387 1,286,079
71,427 77,361 50,831 49,771 45,618 42,674 71,621 61,644 128,869 124,641

$ 6,216,082 $ 6,369,049 $ 6,473,290 $ 6,725,534 $ 7,607,420 $ 7,117,211 $ 8,117,658 $ 7,816,524 $ 8,184,068 $ 8,425,420
1,009,560 1,049,151 1,075,920 1,181,411 1,065,013 1,038,601 1,004,783 1,187,183 1,055,021 1,183,508
1,425,800 1,521,606 1,477,751 1,663,023 1,394,283 1,448,739 1,431,250 1,381,741 1,781,063 2,453,140
947,897 1,039,317 1,320,116 1,641,254 1,472,662 1,501,176 1,601,584 1,689,330 1,650,419 2,029,699
1,059,037 613,363 636,765 660,829 661,904 813,205 956,312 1,138,985 1,455,080 1,561,738
4,442.294 4,223,437 4,510,552 5,146,517 4,593,862 4,801,721 4,993,929 5,397,239 5,941,583 7,228,085

$ 10,658,376 $ 10,592,486 $ 10,983,842 $ 11,872,051 $ 12,201,282 $ 11,918,932 $ 13,111,587 $ 13,213,763 $ 14,125,651 $ 15,653,505
161,749 161,870 165,481 188,666 195,798 192,165 171,750 193,042 332,778 336,710
390,667 434,824 418,833 396,905 471,018 452,286 432,552 430,449 471,663 696,516
1,517,435 941,032 1,181,471 1,278,691 1,404,223 1,356,289 1,365,404 1,387,620 1,526,528 1,350,824

- - - - - - - - - 21,812

105,748 116,791 113,506 104,158 96,009 77,683 138,428 115,808 121,467 97,082
782,756 831,849 799,383 832,410 1,324,873 704,709 720,953 1,132,352 1,300,519 1,806,885
396,285 165,707 174,399 258,531 181,879 565,561 419,466 149,873 220,266 69,306

$ 3,354,640 $ 2,652,073 $ 2,853,073 $ 3,059,361 $ 3,673,800 $ 3,348,693 $ 3,248,553 $ 3,409,144 $ 3,973,221 $ 4,379,135

Unaudited statistical section.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Business-type activities:
Charges for Services:
Water 1,288,684 1,419,677 1,580,576 1,451,627 1,422,929 1,448,689 1,574,394 1,626,986 1,554,490 1,646,245
Sewer 1,570,532 1,670,015 1,733,664 1,958,761 2,103,694 2,205,523 2,330,645 2,385,843 2,438,317 2,565,974
Solid waste 1,019,435 1,159,736 1,385,507 1,686,513 1,776,060 1,783,275 1,930,808 2,102,620 2,247,609 2,473,568
Ambulance 1,130,187 603,331 591,979 782,272 677,065 760,768 874,660 1,219,922 1,379,124 1,891,558
Operating grants and contributions - - - 8,558 23,925 114,922 96,147 116,601 160,661 263,796
Capital grants and contributions 252,281 - 23,118 - - - - 2,040,135 40,086 232,668
Total business-type activities program revenues 5,261,119 4,852,759 5,314,844 5,887,731 6,003,673 6,313,177 6,806,654 9,492,107 7,820,287 9,073,809
Total primary government program revenues $ 8,615,759 $ 7,504,832 $ 8,167,917 $ 8,947,092 $ 9,677,473 $ 9,661,870 $ 10,055,207 $ 12,901,251 $ 11,793,508 $ 13,452,944
Net (Expense) / Revenue
Governmental activities (2,861,442) (3,716,976) (3,620,217) (3,666,173) (3,933,620) (3,768,518) (4,869,105) (4,407,380) (4,210,847) (4,046,285)
Business-type activities 818,825 629,322 804,292 741,214 1,409,811 1,511,456 1,812,725 4,094,868 1,878,704 1,845,724
Total primary government net position S (2,042,617) $§ (3,087.654)  $ (2,815925)  § (2,924.959)  $ (2,523.809)  $ (2,257.062)  $ (3,056380) $ (312,512) $ (2,332,143) $ (2,200,561)
General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes 2,654,856 2,660,168 2,847,654 2,802,705 2,787,519 2,819,689 3,023,214 3,108,751 3,281,542 3,646,615
Property taxes, levied for debt service - - - - - - - 90,180 117,330 60,057
Miscellaneous 62,957 341,391 256,361 217,778 250,435 882,894 220,956 441,139 111,349 88,432
Transfers 485,431 453,586 472,154 488,809 571,733 592,249 640,012 636,750 634,994 758,120
Unrestricted investment earnings 32,261 23,249 15,378 27,218 19,747 13,761 18,098 16,510 28,447 33,803
Intergovernmental 947,400 964,641 965,687 1,030,516 1,061,296 1,085,649 1,114,846 1,118,777 1,138,871 1,177,400
Total governmental activities $ 4,182,905 $ 4,449,035 $ 4,557,234 $ 4,567,026 $ 4,690,730 $ 5,394,242 $ 5,017,126 $ 5,412,107 $ 5,312,533 $ 5,764,427
Business-type activities:
Property taxes levied 34,864 34,543 37,074 25,999 33,379 20,730 22,153 23,352 24,718 28,628
Miscellaneous - 14,895 25,000 - - - - - - 2,112
Transfers (485,431) (453,586) (472,154) (488,809) (571,733) (592,249) (640,012) (636,750) (634,994) (758,120)
Unrestricted investment earnings 18,266 8,578 7,932 9,800 7,313 5,660 14,202 18,930 23,486 28,870
Total business-type activities (432,301) (395,570) (402,148) (453,010) (531,041) (565,859) (603,657) (594,468) (586,790) (698,510)
Total primary government $ 3,750,604 $ 4,053,465 $ 4,155,086 $ 4,114,016 $ 4,159,689 $ 4,828,383 $ 4,413,469 $ 4,817,639 $ 4,725,743 $ 5,065917
Change in Net Position
Governmental Activities 1,321,463 732,059 937,017 900,853 757,110 1,625,724 148,021 1,004,727 1,101,686 1,718,142
Business-type Activities 386,524 233,752 402,144 288,204 878,770 945,597 1,209,068 3,500,400 1,291,914 1,147,214
Total primary government $ 1,707,987 $ 965,811 $ 1,339,161 $ 1,189,057 $ 1,635,880 $ 2,571,321 $ 1,357,089 $ 4,505,127 $ 2,393,600 $ 2,865,356

Unaudited statistical section.
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General Fund
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total general fund

All Other Governmental
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total all other governmental funds

CITY OF LIVINGSTON
FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Past Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

177

2011 2012 013 2014 015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
131,465 $ 136,799 123333 $ 95177 $ 80464 $ 65307 $ 49,698 § 67,507 $ 17,058 $ 17,058
- . 7,122 . - . - . - .
298,274 341,903 345,096 562,948 509,161 451,551 432,790 676,473 1,397,720 2,221,988
429739 S 478,702 475,551 $ 658,125 $ 589625 $ 516858 S 482488 743980 § 1414778 S 2239046
213,093 217,968 219,534 222,258 229,168 235,843 238,716 240,415 241,903 244,878
573,890 498,239 568,550 915,801 1,076,249 1,014,554 982,971 979,850 700,346 885,255
2,131,645 2,458,633 2,904,486 3,040,800 2,892,921 2,816,991 2,080,736 1,761,412 2,517,089 2,515,955
32,985 31,785 4,433 4,410 3,800 - . - . -
(70,794) (36,430) (144,799) (49,179) (51,604) (136,214) (48,004) (70,347) (73,618) (136,103)
2880819  $ 3170195  $ 3552204 S 4134090 $ 4150534 S 30931174 S 3254419 § 20911330 $ 3385720 S 3,509,985

Unaudited statistical section.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES, GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
REVENUES
Taxes and assessments $ 3,488,511 $ 3,460,223 $ 3922915 $ 3,992,291 $ 4,004,482 $ 4,004,779 $ 4,217,890 $ 4,392,659 $ 4,806,627 $ 5,064,307
Licenses and permits 256,846 246,605 247,882 313,561 375,851 274,795 316,643 348,799 336,999 366,441
Intergovernmental 2,126,441 1,962,197 1,939,469 2,121,457 2,568,048 2,355,919 2,255,265 2,401,002 2,519,656 3,053,591
Charges for service 388,604 423,153 411,730 547,724 566,565 458,354 587,935 472,385 528,604 631,480
Fines and forfietures 137,846 149,204 157,247 118,987 117,487 103,740 116,958 122,597 131,683 122,155
Interest on investments 32,261 23,249 15,378 27,218 19,747 13,761 18,098 16,510 28,447 33,803
Loan repayment 222,542 66,244 167,132 282,641 40,503 52,564 101,631 59,651 26,029 -
Other 62,957 341,391 256,361 217,778 250,435 882,894 220,956 441,139 111,349 88,432
Total revenues $ 6,716,068 $ 6,672,266 $ 7,118,114 $ 7,621,657 $ 7,943,118 $ 8,146,806 $ 7,835,376 $ 8,254,742 $ 8,489,454 $ 9,360,209
EXPENDITURES
General government $ 1,035,575 $ 1,256,770 $ 1,150,212 $ 1,243,719 $ 1,806,128 $ 1,291,589 $ 1,830,225 $ 1,549,635 $ 1,264,429 $ 1,421,106
Public safety 2,994,803 2,906,514 3,210,364 3,071,872 3,287,313 3,140,222 3,219,713 3,365,250 3,363,103 3,499,577
Public works 765,986 896,448 672,562 837,353 1,219,943 1,252,125 1,320,004 1,320,692 1,594,427 1,281,295
Public health 90,465 91,967 110,944 107,870 104,189 118,289 124,219 110,897 116,833 152,420
Culture and recreation 928,701 888,476 909,444 907,607 989,419 927,342 1,043,002 927,487 990,793 1,067,404
Capital outlay 978,324 580,357 1,412,053 1,099,251 940,300 2,236,199 2,209,602 1,377,298 2,428,290 1,389,521
Debt service
Principal 206,019 348,000 95,000 142,084 173,997 182,367 263,835 260,186 357,865 367,889
Interest and other charges 71,427 77,361 50,831 49,771 45,618 42,674 71,621 61,644 128,869 124,641
Total expenditures $ 7,071,300 S 7,045,893 S 7,611,410 S 7,459,527 S 8,566,907 S 9,190,807 $ 10,082,221 $ 8,973,089 $ 10,244,609 $ 9,303,853
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (355,232) (373,627) (493,296) 162,130 (623,789) (1,044,001) (2,246,845) (718,347) (1,755,155) 56,356
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Issuance of debt - - 400,000 113,521 - 159,625 825,000 - 2,234,269 20,000
Transfers in 1,014,266 1,113,209 1,064,525 1,302,386 1,175,661 1,369,426 1,101,806 1,153,487 1,735,161 1,775,245
Transfers out (528,835) (659,623) (592,371) (813,577) (603,928) (777,177) (461,794) (516,737) (1,100,167) (1,017,125)
Increase in capital lease obligations - - - - - - 35,205 - - -
Refunding bonds issued - 250,000 - - - - - - - -
Premium on issuance of debt - 8,379 - - - - 35,503 - 31,080 -

Sales of capital assets - - - - - - - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses) $ 485431 $ 711,965 $ 872,154 $ 602,330 $ 571,733 $ 751,874 $ 1,535,720 $ 636,750 $ 2,900,343 $ 778,120

EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS 245,434 - - - - - - R R R
Net change in fund balances $ 375,633 $ 338,338 $ 378,858 $ 764,460 $ (52,056) $  (292,127) $  (711,125) $ (81,597) $ 1,145,188 $ 834,476

Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expenditures 4.6% 6.6% 2.4% 3.0% 2.9% 3.2% 4.3% 4.2% 6.2% 6.2%

Unaudited statistical section.
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Revenue Capacity Section

Governments do not have unlimited access to resources. It is important to be able to asses a
government's capacity to raise revenue as needed. Therefore, the statistical section provides
information useful in assessing a government's ability to raise own-source revenue.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
ASSESSED VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY
Past Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal
Year Total
Ended Residential Commercial & Agricultural Taxable
June 30, Property Industrial Property Property Value
2011 6,557,908 4,315,836 27,302 10,901,046
2012 6,639,931 4,369,816 27,643 11,037,390
2013 6,738,708 4,434,823 28,054 11,201,585
2014 6,956,582 4,578,208 28,961 11,563,751
2015 6,854,973 4,511,338 28,538 11,394,849
2016 6,566,915 4,321,764 27,339 10,916,018
2017 8,009,595 3,156,268 48,298 11,214,161
2018 8,770,902 3,448,491 34911 12,254,304
2019 9,389,243 2,980,041 433,192 12,802,476
2020 11,123,401 3,530,444 513201 15,167,046

Source: City of Livingston Finance Department
Department of Revenue

Note: Property is assessed by the State Department of Revenue every two years.

Unaudited statistical section.
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Total
Direct
Tax
Rate

210.83
209.06
217.13
209.53
210.45
225.80
237.81
226.86
230.71
205.93
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Fiscal
Year
Ended
June 30

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

Source: Based on information provided by the Montana Tax Foundation

CITY OF LIVINGSTON

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING PROPERTY TAX RATES

Basic
Rate

204.69
202.42
213.95
206.35
207.45
223.05
230.06
219.26
219.21
199.78

Past Ten Fiscal Years

(rate per $1,000 of assessed value)
General Total
Obligation Direct

Debt Tax
Service Rate

6.14 210.83

6.64 209.06

3.18 217.13

3.18 209.53

3.00 210.45

2.75 225.80

7.75 237.81

7.60 226.86

11.50 230.71

6.15 205.93

Unaudited statistical section.
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Livingston
School
District

310.22
304.72
290.59
292.06
314.01
323.44
328.59
387.35
321.33
284.19

Park State of

County Montana
102.28 46.00
111.82 46.00
108.31 46.00
109.80 46.00
109.60 46.00
113.79 46.00
115.00 46.00
143.62 46.00
117.98 46.00
115.24 46.00
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAX PAYERS
Current and Nine Years Ago

182

Tax Year Tax Year
2010
Percentage Percentage
of Total City of Total City
Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed
Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

Northwestern Energy Transmission & Distribution $ 1,618,713 1 10.67% $ 904,218 1 8.29%
Montana Rail Link, Inc 575,489 2 3.79% 445,145 2 4.08%
Printingforless.com Inc. 203,331 3 1.34% 116,209 4 1.07%
MAA Best Yellowstone Hospitality, LLC 89,954 4 0.59%
Qwest Corporation 81,801 5 0.54% 242,611 3 2.23%
Albertson's LLC 68,265 6 0.45%
First Interstate Bank 65,581 7 0.43% 62,825 8 0.58%
Vista East, LLC 64,579 8 0.43%
Charter Communications, Inc. 63,210 9 0.42% 95,970 6 0.88%
American Bank of Montana 60,384 0 0.40%
Printingforless 64,695 7 0.59%
New Albertson's Inc. 102,916 5 0.94%
Osterman, Sylvia 59,610 9 0.55%
Midstates Development, Inc. 56,538 10 0.52%
Total $ 2,891,307 19.06% $ 2,150,737 10.92%
Total City Taxable Assessed Value $ 15,167,046 $10,901,046

Source: State of Montana Assessor's Office

Unaudited statistical section.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS
Past Twenty Fiscal Years

Fiscal Collected within the

Year Taxes Levied Fiscal Year of the Levy Collections Total Collections to Date

Ended for the Percentage in Subsequent Percentage

June 30, Fiscal Year Amount of Levy Years Amount of Levy

2001 1,255,193 1,150,601 91.67% 104,231 1,254,833 99.97%
2002 1,278,373 1,167,664 91.34% 110,384 1,278,048 99.97%
2003 1,296,817 1,125,851 86.82% 170,424 1,296,275 99.96%
2004 1,382,219 1,248,813 90.35% 132,230 1,381,044 99.91%
2005 1,493,289 1,349,363 90.36% 143,040 1,492,403 99.94%
2006 1,535,648 1,336,189 87.01% 198,580 1,534,770 99.94%
2007 1,821,767 1,672,805 91.82% 148,458 1,821,263 99.97%
2008 1,944,748 1,689,591 86.88% 254,421 1,944,012 99.96%
2009 2,006,597 1,761,566 87.79% 244,568 2,006,134 99.98%
2010 2,197,531 2,109,410 95.99% 85,181 2,194,591 99.87%
2011 2,298,258 2,185,537 95.10% 109,659 2,295,196 99.87%
2012 2,307,395 2,148,330 93.11% 156,750 2,305,080 99.90%
2013 2,432,073 2,326,903 95.68% 102,760 2,429,663 99.90%
2014 2,423,005 2,366,838 97.68% 55,872 2,422,711 99.99%
2015 2,397,867 2,376,542 99.11% 19,094 2,395,636 99.91%
2016 2,464,833 2,436,205 98.84% 27,710 2,463,915 99.96%
2017 2,666,801 2,640,286 99.01% 26,035 2,666,321 99.98%
2018 2,779,942 2,742,542 98.65% 35,937 2,778,479 99.95%
2019 2,953,780 2,922,051 98.93% 27,308 2,949,359 99.85%
2020 2,955,032 2,926,203 99.02% - 2,926,203 99.02%

Unaudited statistical section.
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Water
Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Total Water
Sewer
Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Total Sewer
Solid Waste
Residential

Commercial
Industrial

Total Solid Waste

CITY OF LIVINGSTON
UTILITY ACCOUNTS BY CUSTOMERS

Past Ten Fiscal Years
(as of June 30th)

Fiscal Year

184

3,058
344

3,405

2,925
323

3,249

3,018
298

3,316

012 2013 2014 2015 2016
3,064 3,065 3,091 3,126 3,306
361 363 361 368 377
3 3 3 3 3
3,428 3,431 3,455 3,497 3,686
2,931 2,934 2,963 2,995 3,172
325 328 330 335 342
1 1 1 1 1
3,257 3,263 3,294 3,331 3,515
3,019 3,020 3,041 3,062 3,210
315 316 314 309 312
3,334 3,336 3,355 3,371 3,522

Source: City of Livingston Utility Department

Unaudited statistical section.
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2017

3,269
375

3,647

3,134
336

3,471

3,167
344

3,511

2018

3,357
345

3,705

3,192
341

3,535

3,184
330

3,514

[

3,435
380

3,818

3,233
371

3,605

3,256
333

3,589

2020

3,452
378

3,833

3,290
370

3,661

3,415
343

3,758




CITY OF LIVINGSTON
WATER SOLD BY TYPE OF CUSTOMER
Past Ten Fiscal Years
(in Thousands of Gallons)

Fiscal Year

185

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Type of Customer
Residential 242,379 229,267 250,284 279,511 252,688 229,636 286,325 267,087 254,728 254,922 2227331
Commercial 82,031 78,684 83,381 84,794 80,654 84,003 86,673 91,729 84,591 87,332 80,646
Industrial 2,637 3,443 3,227 3,904 5,786 966 1,652 4,889 8,945 1,206 1,181
Total 327,047 311,394 336,892 368,209 339,128 314,605 374,650 363,705 348,264 343,460 304,158

Source: City of Livingston Utility Department

Unaudited statistical section.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
WATER AND SEWER RATES
Past Ten Fiscal Years

Water

Fiscal

Year Monthly Rate per

Ended Base 1,000

June 30, Rate Gallons
2010 9.10 2.03
2011 10.38 2.32
2012 10.38 2.32
2013 10.79 2.41
2014 11.00 2.45
2015 11.22 2.50
2016 11.56 2.58
2017 11.91 2.66
2018 12.15 2.71
2019 12.39 2.76
2020 12.76 2.84
Sources:

City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4033
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4141
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4237
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4277
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4387
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4459
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4578
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4691
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4741
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4806

City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4865

186

Sewer

Fiscal

Year Monthly Rate per

Ended Base 1,000

June 30, Rate Gallons

2010 11.32 4.60
2011 13.47 5.48
2012 13.47 5.48
2013 14.00 5.69
2014 15.54 6.31
2015 17.41 7.07
2016 17.76 7.22
2017 18.12 7.36
2018 18.48 7.51
2019 18.94 7.70
2020 18.94 7.70

City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4033
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4142
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4236
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4278
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4388
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4460
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4577
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4692
City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4742

City of Livingston, Montana Commission Resolution 4807

Unaudited statistical section.
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Debt Capacity Section

Debt can be an extremely useful tool for financing capital acquisition and construction and for
meeting other long-term financing needs. Consequently, the statistical section offers information
useful in assessing a government's ability to issue new debt.
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Governmental Activities

CITY OF LIVINGSTON
RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE
Past Ten Fiscal Years

Business-Type Activities

Fiscal
Year General
Ended Obligation
June 30, Bonds
2010 325,000
2011 285,000
2012 250,000
2013 220,000
2014 190,000
2015 160,000
2016 130,000
2017 855,503
2018 788,728
2019 685,000
2020 650,178
Sources:

Note:

City of Livingston Finance Department

Notes
Payable

400,000
475,437
418,440
500,698
468,081
371,657
511,910
408,794

Special

Assessment

Bonds

468,000
435,000
356,000
336,000
310,000
273,000
249,000
225,000
201,000
176,000
150,000

Tax Increment

Revenue
Bonds

849,000
805,000
761,000
716,000
668,000
618,000
567,000
513,000
457,000
2,290,000
2,169,008

Capital Revenue
Leases Bonds

29,019 2,591,062
- 2,437,609
- 2,679,000
- 2,488,000
- 2,292,000
- 2,091,000
- 1,895,000
16,987 1,693,000
- 11,552,528
- 15,438,040
- 15,762,151

Bond

Anticipation

Notes

Notes
Payable

1,311,086

Details rearding the city's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements
! See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics on Page I11-17 for personal income and population data.

Unaudited statistical section.

MI-13

382,166
327,698
273,230
218,762
176,812
147,344
117,876

45,883

30,589

15,295

Capital
Leases

35,929

Total Percentage

Primary of Personal Per
Government Income! Capita’'
4,680,176 11.29%  659.74
4,290,307 13.64%  612.73
4,319,230 14.02%  618.36
4,378,762 13.83%  622.43
4,112,249 15.73%  580.42
3,707,784 18.65%  523.33
3,459,574 20.98%  473.78
5,145,527 14.71%  695.25
13,401,502 6.01% 1,779.98
19,116,245 4.13% 2,455.84
19,140,131 4.48% 2,453.55
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
RATIOS OF NET GENERAL BONDED DEBT
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Percentage of

Estimated
Fiscal Year General Less: Amounts Actual Taxable
Ended Obligation Available in Debt Value' of Per
June 30, Bonds Service Fund Total Property Capita’

2010 325,000 5,362 319,638 3.07% 45.06
2011 285,000 11,183 273,817 2.51% 39.11
2012 250,000 25,957 224,043 2.03% 32.07
2013 220,000 16,641 203,359 1.82% 28.91
2014 190,000 20,034 169,966 1.47% 23.99
2015 160,000 19,599 140,401 1.23% 19.82
2016 130,000 12,689 117,311 1.07% 16.07
2017 855,503 15,940 839,563 7.49% 113.44
2018 788,728 16,647 772,081 6.30% 102.55
2019 685,000 50,906 634,094 4.95% 81.46
2020 650,178 24,078 626,100 4.13% 80.26

Sources: City of Livingston Finance Department

Note: Details rearding the city's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements

! See the Schedule of Assessed Value on Page I1I-6 for property value data.
2 Population data can be found in the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistic on Page I1I-17.

Unaudited statistical section.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING
Past Two Fiscal Years

Applicable to Applicable to
As of the City of As of the City of
June 30, 2020 Livingston June 30, 2019 Livingston
City of Livingston, Montana
General obligation debr $ 650,178 $ 685,000
Special Assessment Bond 150,000 176,000
Tax Increment Revenue Bonds 2,169,008 2,290,000
Capital Leases - -
Notes Payable 408,794 511,910
Net general obligation deb: $ 3,377,980 100% $ 3,662,910 100%
Overlapping Bonded Indebtedness
Park County' 1,654,208 47.0% 878,964 46.5%
Livingston School District’
Elementary District - 75.7% - 75.5%
High School District 12,790,000 61.5% 13,030,000 61.4%

Total overlapping bond indebtedness $ 14,444,208 $ 13,908,964

Total direct and overlapping deb $ 17,822,188 $ 17,571,874

Sources:

City of Livingston, Finance Departmen
Park County, Finance Department
Livingston Public Schools, Finance Departmen

' Based on the percentage of Park County's population within the City Limits
“Based on the percentage of the School District's population within the City Limits

Note: Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with geographic boundaries of the city. This schedul¢
estimates the portion of outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by the property tax payers of the City o
Livingston. This process recognizes that, when considering the government's ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire
debt burden borne by the property tax payers should be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is
resident, and therefore responsible for repaying the debt, of teach overlapping government.

Unaudited statistical section.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION

Past Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year

191

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Market Value $ 372,719,664 $ 377,761,961 $ 396,161,276 $ 423,354,775 $ 434,670,370 $ 672,756,494 $ 684,291,493 $ 758,381,947 $ 777,853,878 $ 952,168,749
Limit % 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%
Debt Limit $ 9,317,992 $ 9,444,049 $ 9,904,032 $ 10,583,869 $ 10,866,759 $ 16,818,912 $ 17,107,287 $ 18,959,549 $ 19,446,347 $ 23,804,219
Total net debt applicable to limit (273,817) (224,043) (203,359) (169,966) (140,401) (117,311) (839,563) (772,081) (634,094) (626,100)
Legal debt margin $ 9,044,175 $ 9,220,006 $ 9,700,673 $ 10413904 $ 10,726,358 $ 16,701,601 $ 16,267,724 $ 18,187,468 $ 18,812,253 $ 23,178,119
Total net debt applicable to the limit 3% 2% 2% 2% 1% 1% 5% 4% 3% 3%

as a percentage of debt limit

Note: Under Montana State Law, the City of Livingston's outstanding general obligation debt shall not exceed 2.5% percent of total assessed property value. By law, the general obligation debt subject to the limitatior
may be offset by amounts set aside for repaying general obligation bonds. This law was changed from 1.51% to 2.5% in 2007.

Source: City Manager's Recommended Budget

Unaudited statistical section.
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PLEDGED REVENUE COVERAGE

CITY OF LIVINGSTON

Past Ten Fiscal Years

192

Fiscal Water Revenue Bonds Sewer Revenue Bonds
Year Metered Less: Net Less: Net
Ended Water Operating Available Debt Service Sewer Operating Available Debt Service

June 30, Sales Expenses Revenue Principal Interest Coverage Charges Expenses Revenue Principal Interest Coverage
2011 1,285,521 778,285 507,236 70,294 27,256 5.20 1,569,639 954,297 615,342 156,948 78,144 2.62
2012 1,417,738 804,714 613,024 43,294 23,132 9.23 1,669,440 960,571 708,869 75,174 75,555 4.70
2013 1,579,321 819,182 760,139 80,294 9,350 8.48 1,733,664 957,532 776,132 140,174 49,289 4.10
2014 1,444,460 913,542 530,918 80,294 8,691 597 1,958,055 1,031,970 926,085 145,174 46,443 4.83
2015 1,329,743 791,041 538,702 80,294 6,507 6.21 2,099,888 906,381 1,193,506 150,174 46,443 5.03
2016 1,407,922 753,833 654,089 80,294 6,048 7.58 2,174,197 910,076 1,264,121 145,174 39,679 6.84
2017 1,511,884 703,774 808,110 80,294 5,729 9.39 2,279,457 894,587 1,384,870 193,699 38,353 597
2018 1,626,591 891,202 735,389 85,294 4,761 8.17 2,385,413 807,791 1,577,622 242,328 75,058 4.97
2019 1,553,791 757,684 796,107 85,294 3,502 8.97 2,437,850 995,328 1,442,522 428,880 265,154 2.08
2020 1,646,240 854,097 792,143 85,295 1,821 9.09 2,519,581 1,112,967 1,406,614 438,067 265,154 2.00
Fiscal Special Assessment Bonds Tax Increment District Revenue Bonds
Year Special Tax Increment
Ended Assessment Debt Service Tax Debt Service

June 30, Collections Principal Interest Coverage Collections Principal Interest Coverage
2011 66,974 93,000 19,485 0.60 121,900 44,000 31,552 1.61
2012 68,029 19,000 16,312 1.93 121,527 44,000 29,897 1.64
2013 53,354 20,000 12,413 1.65 120,710 45,000 28,445 1.64
2014 49,925 26,000 14,124 1.24 122,374 48,000 26,400 1.64
2015 41,254 37,000 12,485 0.83 138,647 50,000 26,400 1.37
2016 38,831 24,000 10,013 1.14 114,643 51,000 22,706 1.17
2017 38,728 24,000 9,252 1.16 112,018 54,000 20,756 1.13
2018 36,626 24,000 8,213 1.14 108,044 56,000 18,713 1.09
2019 34,594 25,000 7,313 1.07 311,310 183,036 49,730 1.34
2020 34,563 26,000 6,356 1.07 506,827 152,072 81,291 2.17

Note: Details rearding the city's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements. Operating Expenses do not include depreciation.

Unaudited statistical section.
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Demographics and Economic Section

A government does not exist in a vacuum. Its finances inevitably are affected by its socio-
economic environment. Accordingly, the statistical section offers information designed to help
users better understand that environment.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

Past Ten Fiscal Years

194

Fiscal County

Year County Per Capita State K-12

Ended City County Personal Personal Median School Unemployment

June 30, Population' Population’ Income’ Income Age' Enrollment’ Rate’

2010 7,094 15,738 § 528,522 § 33,880 39.9 1,414 7.2%
2011 7,002 15,587 § 585353 § 37,735 40.0 1,371 7.0%
2012 6,985 15,509 $§ 605,475 $ 38,827 40.1 1,402 6.0%
2013 7,035 15,587 $ 605,397 $ 38,553 39.9 1,473 5.4%
2014 7,085 15,658 § 646,682 $ 40,608 39.8 1,491 4.6%
2015 7,214 15,877 § 691,570 § 43,207 39.7 1,493 4.1%
2016 7,302 15,981 § 725,924 $§ 45,019 39.8 1,478 4.1%
2017 7,401 16,114 § 756,968 § 46,050 39.7 1,442 3.9%
2018 7,529 16,353 $ 805,235 § 48,114 39.8 1,447 4.0%
2019 7,784 16,736 § 789340 * § 47,164 * 39.8 1,390 3.7%
2020 7,801 16,606 § 856,580 * § 51,583 * 39.8 1,369 6.5%

Data Sources:

" US Census Bureau, Population Division

2 US Bureau of Economic Analysis, in $1,000
* Livingston School District Administative Offices- Enrollment as of October 31st, 2019
* US Bureau of Labor Statisics (As of July of that year)

* Estimate based on average annual increases of past years ten years

Unaudited statistical section.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS
Current and Nine Years Ago
2019 2011
Private Employer % of Private Employer
Employers Class Total Labor Employers Class
By Class Size Force By Class Size
Livingston Healthcare 7 6% Livingston Healthcare 7
Chico Hot Springs 6 3% Chico Hot Springs 6
Church Universal & Triumphant 6 3% PrintingForLess.com 6
Printingforless.com 6 3% Albertson’s 5
Albertson’s 5 1% Best Western Mammoth Hot Springs 5
Montana's Rib & Chop House 5 1% Church Universal & Triumphant 5
R-Y Timber 5 1% Community Health Partners 5
The Murray Hotel 5 1% Livingston Health & Rehabilitation Center 5
Town & Country Foods 5 1% Town & Country Foods 5
Community Health Partners 5 1% Montana's Rib & Chop House 4

Total Labor Force: 8,911 for Park County

Class3-10to 19 Employe%
Class 4 - 20 to 49 Employees
Class 5 - 50 to 99 Employees
Class 6 - 100 to 249 Employees
Class 7 - 250 to 499 Employees
Class 8 - 500 to 999 Employees
Class 9 - 1000+ Employees

Unaudited statistical section.
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Operating Section

It is hard to assess the adequacy of a government's resources without first understanding the size
and nature of its operations. Thus, this section provides information on the size of the city's
workforce, the level of services that it provides, and its capital assets.
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General Fund
City Commission
Judicial
City Manager
Finance
Accounting
Planner
City Attorney
Law Enforcement
Parking Attendant
Firefighters

Building Code Enforcement

Public Services
Cemetery Department
Parks Department
Roaming Crew
Recreation
Administrative Services
Swimming Pool
Animal Control

Sub-Total General Fund
Special Revenue Funds
Summerfest
Library
Dispatch

Street Maintenance District

Sub-Total Special Revenue Funds

Enterprise Funds
Water Department
Sewer Department
Solid Waste Department
Ambulance Service

Sub-Total Enterprise Funds

Total all funds

CITY OF LIVINGSTON

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUND/PROGRAM

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
2.20 2.20 2.20 2.20 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 2.00
0.46 0.46 0.46 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
2.76 2.76 2.76 2.80 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.60 2.00 1.00
1.15 1.15 1.15 1.15 2.15 2.15 2.15 2.15 2.15 1.65
1.00 1.00 1.61 1.61 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

14.00 14.00 14.00 14.00 14.00 14.00 13.00 14.00 14.00 15.00
0.60 0.60 0.60 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
9.00 9.00 9.00 9.00 9.00 9.00 8.50 8.50 7.00 7.50
0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85
0.55 0.05 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
1.72 1.72 1.72 1.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
3.44 2.98 2.98 1.52 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5.74 6.60 6.60 6.36 6.82 6.74
2.00 2.00 1.84 1.84 1.00 1.00 1.35 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.35 443 4.68
1.68 1.68 1.68 1.51 1.51 1.51 1.51 1.51 1.51 1.51
0.72 0.72 0.72 0.72 0.72 0.72 0.72 0.80 1.00 1.00

44.13 43.17 43.57 41.92 45.97 46.83 45.68 45.12 45.76 46.93
0.00 0.46 0.16 0.16 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
7.90 727 7.72 7.85 7.59 7.62 722 6.74 8.25 8.88
8.00 8.00 8.00 8.60 8.60 8.60 8.60 9.00 9.00 9.00
3.70 3.70 3.70 4.20 5.58 5.78 5.78 5.90 5.90 5.88

19.60 19.43 19.58 20.81 21.77 22.00 21.60 21.64 23.15 23.76
8.47 8.47 8.47 8.09 7.47 7.74 7.40 7.12 7.37 6.95
8.49 8.48 8.48 9.09 7.43 7.71 6.88 7.27 8.25 8.26
9.16 9.16 9.16 10.27 7.03 7.93 7.60 7.61 7.39 7.65
6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.50 6.50 7.00 7.50

32.12 32.11 32.11 33.45 27.93 29.38 28.38 28.50 30.01 30.36

95.85 94.71 95.26 96.18 95.67 98.21 95.66 95.26 98.92 101.05

Source: City Manager's Recommended Budge

Unaudited statistical section.
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General Fund
Finance/Accounting

Claim Checks Processed
W-2's Processed '

Payroll Checks Processed
1099's Processed '

Business Licenses Processed

City Attorney

Resolutions
Ordinances

Police Department *

Source: City Manager's Recommended Budge

Note:

Number of Officers

Calls for Service

Incident Reports

Traffic Citations

Vehicle Accident Reports
Adult Arrests

Juvenile Arrests

DUI Arrests

Domestic Disturbance Reports
Domestic Violence Arrests
Sex Offense Investigations
Drug Charges

Theft Reports

Burglary Reports
Vandalism Reports

CITY OF LIVINGSTON
OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM
Past Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

2807 2936 2889 2864 2892 3047 2893 2762 2611 2346
144 153 147 152 158 151 161 147 152 154
3111 3116 3220 3271 3404 3293 3199 3238 3134 3335
25 18 23 18 27 22 30 24 14 17
605 673 672 667 658 720 762 762 620 647
92 83 85 89 85 105 85 66 91 91

6 11 7 3 7 8 4 3 12 12

14 14 14 13 14 14 12 14 15 15
6592 6335 6458 6220 7684 7849 8355 9544 9200 9444
864 912 992 1116 858 1033 983 1053 1203 1068
489 555 580 285 273 354 401 556 517 538
162 168 152 163 160 157 176 226 216 234
308 404 452 210 255 297 293 365 435 373
65 82 112 66 45 56 58 50 74 91
64 65 56 14 31 40 33 75 61 65
75 66 65 75 64 96 78 72 47 48
24 35 46 24 32 69 22 32 35 42

3 15 22 19 15 23 29 22 33 38

44 92 182 39 39 31 74 41 40 39
243 225 259 238 124 290 320 290 248 200
26 17 15 26 5 23 28 32 19 15
201 155 158 133 71 149 140 185 114 83

' W-2's and 1099's are processed on a calendar year basis. Each Fiscal year includes items processed within that fiscal yea:

Unaudited statistical section.
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Public Safety
Police
Number of Stations
Police Vehicles
Fire
Number of Stations
Apparatus
Ambulance

Public Works

Solid Waste
Collections Trucks

Streets
Sweeper Trucks
Streets (Miles)
Alleys (Miles)
Secondary Urban Streets (Miles)

Culture and Recreation
Parks
Number of Parks
Acres of Parks
Number of Swimming/Splash Parks

Source: City Manager's Recommended Budget

CAPITAL ASSETS STATISTICS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

CITY OF LIVINGSTON

Past Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 9
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
2 2 2 2 2 2 5 5 8 8
4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
5 5 5 5 5 5 6 6 6 6
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2
41.070 41.070 41.070 39.525 40.598 46.752 46.752 43.866 44.036 44.036
18.942 18.942 18.942 18.942 18.942 18.942 18.942 18.942 18.249 18.249
11.145 11.145 11.145 12.676 12.676 12.676 12.676 15.610 15.663 15.663
7 8 8 13 13 13 13 13 16 16
59.067 100.571 100.571 150 150 150 150 150 135.54 135.54
1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2 2

Unaudited statistical section.
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PART IV

SINGLE AUDIT SECTION
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A M AT I C S 45 Discovery Dr. P 406.404.1925

Bozeman, MT 59718 F 406.404.1926

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

City Commissioners and City Manager
City of Livingston, Montana

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Livingston, Montana, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Livingston, Montana’s basic financial statements and have issued our report
thereon dated December 15, 2020.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weaknessis a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in

internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards
and which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs (2020-C-1, 2020-C-2).

City’s Response to Findings

The City of Livingston, Montana’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses. The City’s
response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on

the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of the audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Sandards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Amatics CPA Group
Bozeman, Montana
December 15, 2020
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A M AT I C S 45 Discovery Dr. P 406.404.1925

Bozeman, MT 59718 F 406.404.1926

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

City Commissioners and City Manager
City of Livingston, Montana

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Livingston, Montana’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could
have a direct and material effect on each of the City’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2020. City of Livingston, Montana’s major federal programs
are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’ s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.
Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City of Livingston, Montana’s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of
compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Sandards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Livingston, Montana’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal
determination of the City of Livingston, Montana’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the City of Livingston, Montana, complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct
and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of the City of Livingston, Montana, is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the City of Livingston, Montana’s internal control over compliance
with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Livingston, Montana’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the
normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that

testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Amatics CPA Group
Bozeman, Montana
December 15, 2020
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year Ended June 30, 2020

CFDA #

EXPENDITURES

205

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Direct programs
Water and Waste Water Disposal System for Rural Communities 10.760

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Passed through from State of Montana, Department of Administration

Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Direct programs
Provider Relief Fund 93.498

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year Ended June 30, 2020
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal award activity of the City of Livingston, Montana
under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2020. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance
with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,

and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the schedule only presents a selected portion of the operations
of the City, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the City.

2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost
principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

3. INDIRECT COST RATE

The City has not elected to use the de minimis ten percent indirect cost rate.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

Year Ended June 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS:

Financial Statements

Type of auditors' report issued
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weaknesses identified?
Significant deficiencies identified?
Non-compliance material to financial statements noted?
Findings 2020-C-1, 2020-C-2
Federal Awards
Type of auditors' report issued on compliance for major programs
Internal control over major programs:
Material weaknesses identified?

Significant deficiencies identified?

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.516(a)

Identification of major programs

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?
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Unmodified

Unmodified

CFDA #21.019
Coronavirus Relief Fund

§ 750,000
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
JUNE 30, 2020

The results of our tests disclosed two instances of noncompliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters and no
internal control deficiencies required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards as of June 30, 2020.

2020-C-1

2020-C-2

Criteria: According to MCA 7-6-4030, the governing body’s final budget must be balanced so that appropriations do not exceed the projected beginning
balance plus the estimated revenue of each fund for the fiscal year.

Condition: The City’s Sidewalks special revenue fund was budgeted for deficit spending of $69,530 (appropriations in excess of the projected beginning
balance plus the estimated revenue of the fund for the fiscal year).

Effect: The City is out of compliance with MCA budget requirements.
Cause: The City has incurred costs for infrastructure projects which will be collected from property owners through future assessments.

Recommendation: The City’s governing body should review budgeted deficit spending in funds and should limit appropriations to the projected beginning
balance plus the estimated revenue of the fund for the fiscal year when possible.

Response: The City has incurred costs related to certain infrastructure projects that are the responsibility of the benefitting property owners. To assist with

this cost, the City provides financing, when needed, and collects the property owners portion through special assessments. As a result, expenditures are often
made prior to the revenue being collected. The deficit fund balance will be eliminated once all assessments have been collected from property owners.

Criteria: According to MCA 17-2-302, a local government may not maintain a cash balance in a charge for service fund greater than twice the fund’s
appropriation. Per MCA 17-2-303, if a local government maintains for more than 60 days a cash balance greater than the limitation in 17-2-302, a local
government must reduce the charge for service within 120 days.

Condition: The Impact Fees fund maintains a cash balance greater than twice the fund’s appropriation.

Effect: The City is out of compliance with MCA requirements.

Cause: The fees charged by the City have allowed the fund to accumulate a cash balance in excess of the allowed limits under MCA.

Recommendation: The City’s governing body should review the MCA requirements and address the charge for service compliance.

Response: The City does not intend to reduce the charges for services because those funds are being accumulated for a specific future railroad crossing
project and will be spent in the next upcoming fiscal years.
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CITY OF LIVINGSTON
STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS
JUNE 30, 2020

The results of our tests disclosed two instances of noncompliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters and no
internal control deficiencies required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards as of June 30, 2019.

2019-C-1

2019-C-2

Criteria: According to MCA 7-6-4030, the governing body’s final budget must be balanced so that appropriations do not exceed the projected beginning
balance plus the estimated revenue of each fund for the fiscal year.

Condition: Multiple City funds were budgeted for deficit spending (appropriations in excess of the projected beginning balance plus the estimated revenue of
the fund for the fiscal year). The funds with significant budgeted deficits were as follows: Dispatch/Communication $52,374, CDBG $61,211, and
Sidewalks $67,551.

Effect: The City is out of compliance with MCA budget requirements.

Cause: In some cases, the City has future bond proceeds that will offset the budgeted current year deficits. In other funds, the City did not amend the formal
adopted budget to balance the funds’ budgets.

Status: See current year finding 2020-C-1.

Criteria: According to MCA 17-2-302, a local government may not maintain a cash balance in a charge for service fund greater than twice the fund’s
appropriation. Per MCA 17-2-303, if a local government maintains for more than 60 days a cash balance greater than the limitation in 17-2-302, a local
government must reduce the charge for service within 120 days.

Condition: The Impact Fees fund maintains a cash balance greater than twice the fund’s appropriation.

Effect: The City is out of compliance with MCA requirements.

Cause: The fees charged by the City have allowed the fund to accumulate a cash balance in excess of the allowed limits under MCA.

Status: See current year finding 2020-C-2.
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File Attachments for ltem:

A. ORDINANCE NO. 2095: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, AMENDING CHAPTER 23 OF THE LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE
ENTITLED “TREES” BY CLARIFYING THAT ALL BOULEVARD TREES ARE TO BE PROPERLY
MAINTAINED, INCLUDING PRUNING, WATERING AND REMOVAL WHEN NECESSARY, BY THE
HOMEOWNER ADJACENT TO THE BOULEVARD.
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ORDINANCE NO. 2095

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON,
MONTANA, AMENDING CHAPTER 23 OF THE LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE
ENTITLED “TREES” BY CLARIFYING THAT ALL BOULEVARD TREES ARE TO BE
PROPERLY MAINTAINED, INCLUDING PRUNING, WATERING AND REMOVAL
WHEN NECESSARY, BY THE HOMEOWNER ADJACENT TO THE BOULEVARD.

Purpose

The purpose of this Ordinance isto clarify responsibility for care
and removal of boulevard trees. By adoption of this
Ordinance the homeowner adjacent to each boulevard will
be responsible for proper planting, maintenance and removal
of boulevard trees in accordance with ANSI A300 Standards
— American National Standard.

WHEREAS, in December, 2002, the City adopted Ordinance No. 1919 which
established a City Tree Board to oversee its Tree City USA forestry program; and

WHEREAS, in December 2008, the City adopted Ordinance No. 2010 which
adopted compliance with ANSI A300 standards for tree care operations including proper
trimming and pruning of trees; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Livingston City Commission that

Chapter 23 of the Livingston Municipal Code be hereby amended with additions and

changes shown in red and deletions struck through as follows:
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SECTION 1
Chapter 23 — Trees
Sec. 23-1. - Definitions.
A.
ANSI A300 Standards-American National Standard for Tree Care Operations as used herein shall

mean the most current edition thereof.

1. Scope of Standards. The ANSI A300 standards present performance standards for the care and

maintenance of trees, shrubs, and other woody plants.

2. ANSI A300 Standards shall apply to any person or entity engaged in the business, trade, or

performance of repairing, maintaining or preserving trees, shrubs or other woody plants on city

property.
ity Office.
B.

Park Trees. Park trees are herein defined as trees, shrubs, bushes and all other woody vegetation in

public parks having individual names, and all areas owned by the City, or to which the public has free

access as a park.
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D.

Qualified Arborist. An individual who is capable of adhering to ANSI standards, and by possession of
a recognized degree, certification or professional standing, or through related training and on-the-job
experience, in the science, technology and business of tree care and who is familiar with the
equipment and hazards involved therein and who has demonstrated ability in the performance of the
special techniques involved.

E.

Street Trees. Street trees are herein defined as trees, shrubs, bushes, and all other woody vegetation

on land lying between property lines on either side of all streets, avenues, or alley ways within the

City.

Tree Maintenance. Tree maintenance as it pertains to this Chapter shall refer to the removal of

hazardous, broken or otherwise nuisance limbs-less-than-three(3)}-inches-in-diameter-on-any-public-

tree-

Sec. 23-2. - Creation and establishment of a City Tree Board.
There is hereby created and established an advisory board to the City Commission which will be
known as the City Tree Board for the City of Livingston (Tree Board) which shall consist of seven (7)

to nine (9) members who are residents of this City or who live within two (2) miles thereof, who shall
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be appeinted recommended by the Chairman—Tree Board with-the-appreval-ofthe— and appointed by

the City Commission. The members shall come from different interest groups including homeowners,

tree professionals, street department, parks and recreation department, and City government.

Sec. 23-3. - Terms of office.

The term of the persons recommended by the Tree Board and appointed by the City Commission

appointed-by-the-Chairman-to-the Tree Board-shall be be-three-(3)-four (4) years.-ta-the-eventthata-

Sec. 23-4. - Compensation.

Members of the Board shall serve without compensation.

Sec. 23-5. - Duties and responsibilities.
It shall be the responsibility of the City Tree Board to study, investigate, counsel, develop and
administer a written plan for the care, preservation, pruning, planting, replanting, removal or
disposition of trees and shrubs in parks, along streets, and in other public areas. Such plan will be
presented annually to the City Commission and upon their acceptance and approval shall constitute
the official comprehensive City tree plan.
The Board shall promote and supervise the establishment of a tree inventory for street and park trees.
The inventory shall be updated with the results of ground inspections every three (3) years.
The Board, when requested by the City Commission, shall consider, investigate, make finding, report
and recommend upon any special matter or question coming within the scope of its work.
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Sec. 23-6. - Operation.

The Board shall choose its own officers, make its own rules and regulations and by-laws which shall

be approved by the City Commission. The Board shall and keep ajournal minutes of its proceedings.

A majority of the members shall be a quorum for the transaction of business.

Sec. 23-7. - Tree species to be planted.

The City Tree Board and City Arborist develops and maintains a list of desirable trees for planting
along streets in three (3) size classes based on mature height: small (under twenty (20) feet), medium
(twenty (20) to forty (40) feet) and large (over forty (40) feet). Efforts shall be made to ensure a
sufficient diversity of tree species. Lists of trees not suitable for planting will also be created by the

Tree Board.

Sec. 23-8. - Spacing.

The spacing of street trees will be in accordance with the three (3) species size classes listed
in_Section 23-7of this Chapter, and no trees may be planted closer together than the following: small
trees, fifteen (15) feet; medium trees, twenty-five (25) feet; and large trees, thirty-five (35) feet;

except in special plantings designed or approved by a landscape architect or City Arborist.

Sec. 23-9. - Distance from curb and sidewalk.
The distance trees may be planted from curbs or curb lines and sidewalks will be in accordance with
the three (3) species size classes listed in_Section 23-7 of this Chapter, and no trees may be planted
closer to any curb or sidewalk than two (2) feet for small trees, three (3) feet for medium or large
trees.
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Sec. 23-10. - Distance from street corners and fireplugs.
No street tree shall be planted within thirty-five (35) feet of any street corner, measured from the
point of nearest intersecting curbs or curb lines. No street tree shall be planted within tha#n ten (10)

feet of any fireplug.

Sec. 23-11. - Utilities.
No street trees other than those species accepted as small trees by the Tree Board may be planted

under, or within ten (10) feet of, any overhead utility wire.

Sec. 23-12. - Public tree care.

In addition to caring for trees and vegetative growth on privately owned property, the person in
control of a property is charged with care, maintenance and full responsibility for trees and all
vegetative growth on adjacent streets, alleys, boulevards and public ways. The City shall have the
right to plant, prune, maintain and remove trees, plants and shrubs within the lines of all streets,
alleys, avenues, lanes, squares and public grounds, as may be necessary to insure public safety or to
preserve or enhance the symmetry and beauty of such public grounds. The City will also be
responsible for maintaining all trees within city owned parks and on any boulevards or other public
ways that do not abut private property.

The City Free-Board Arborist may instruct the City Code Enforcement Officer e+City-Ferester to
send written notice to remove or cause or order to be removed, any tree or part thereof which is in an
unsafe condition or which by reason of its nature is injurious to sewers, electric power lines, gas lines,
water lines, or other public improvements, or is affected with any injurious fungus, insect, or other
pest. In the event that the person in control of a property fails to comply with such provisions, the

City shall have the authority to remove such trees and charge the cost of removal plus an additional
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administrative cost equal to twenty-five percent of the actual costs and expenses of removing the tree
on the person's property tax notice. This Section does not prohibit the planting of street trees by
adjacent property owners providing that the selection and location of said trees is in accordance with

Sections_ 23-7 through_23-12.

Sec. 23-13. - Pruning and trimming standards.
All tree pruning and trimming on public property shall conform to the ANSI A300 standards and the
International Society of Arboriculture Best Management Practices for tree care operations. All

commercial tree service companies and property owners shall make application for and obtain a

permit from the City Ferester Arborist before undertakingthe-trimming-ef-Hmbs-three(3)-inches-or
fargerat-the-eut-point-onany-pubhie-tree— working on any city owned tree. The permit shall be issued

without any fee. No permit is required when pruning is done to maintain the required eight-foot
clearance over sidewalks or the required thirteen — foot clearance over streets. All commercial tree
companies shall have a Qualified Arborist conducting the trimming or shall be on site during the

trimming of all street and park trees following the aforementioned ANSI A300 standards.

Sec. 23-14. - Tree topping.

It shall be unlawful as a normal practice for any person, firm, or City department to top any street

tree, park tree, or other tree on public property. Topping is defined as the severe cutting back of limbs

to stubs-Hargerthan-three(3)-inehesin-diameter-within the tree's crown to such a degree so as to

remove the normal canopy and disfigure the tree. Crown reduction by a qualified arborist may be
substituted, when approved in advance by the City-Ferester-Arborist. Trees severely damaged by
storms or other causes, or certain trees under utility wires or other obstructions where other pruning

practices are impractical may be exempted from this Chapter at the determination of the Tree Board
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or City Ferester-Arborist.

Sec. 23-15. - Pruning and corner clearance.

Every owner of any tree overhanging any street or right-of-way within the City shall prune the
branches so that such branches shall not severely obstruct the light from any street lamp or obstruct
the view of any street intersection and so that there shall be a clear space of thirteen (13) feet above
street surface or eight (8) feet above the sidewalk surface. Owners shall remove all dead, diseased or
dangerous trees, or broken or decayed limbs which constitute a menace to the safety of the public.
The City shall have the right to prune any tree or shrub on private property when it interferes with the
proper spread of light along the street from a street light, or interferes with visibility of any traffic
control device or sign or sight triangle at intersections. Tree limbs that grow near high voltage
electrical conductors shall be maintained clear of such conductors by the electric utility company in
compliance with any applicable franchise agreements. A utility tree trimming policy must be

reviewed by the utility company and City Tree Board prior to any trimming by the utility company.

Sec. 23-16. - Dead or diseased tree removal on private property.

The City shall have the right to cause the removal of any dead or diseased trees on private property
within the City, when such trees constitute a hazard to life and property, or harbor insects or disease
which constitutes a potential threat to other trees within the City. The City Tree Board will instruct
the City Code Enforcement Officer or City Ferester Arborist to notify in writing the owners of such
trees. Removal shall be done by said owners at their own expense within sixty (60) days after the date
of service of notice. In the event of failure of owners to comply with such provisions, the City shall
have the authority to remove such trees and charge the cost of removal plus an additional

administrative cost equal to twenty-five percent of the actual costs and expenses of removing the tree
Ordinance No. 2095
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on the owner's property tax notice.

Sec. 23-17. - Reserved: Fruit trees.

Any person may harvest fruit from park or street trees if the fruit has dropped or can be picked by
hand while standing on the ground, so long as doing so does not in any way injure the tree. The City
Arborist may authorize harvest by other means. The City Arborist may instruct the City Code
Enforcement Officer to send written notice to remove fruit dropped from or remaining on any street

tree so as to prevent public nuisance or the attraction of wildlife.

Sec. 23-18. - Protection of trees.
In order to maintain the overall forest, reasonable efforts shall be made to replace trees that are
removed and to protect quality trees that are endangered.

Trees removed by decision of the City Arborist or City Tree Board or removed due to natural causes

shall be replaced somewhere in the-forest city on a one-for-one basis within one (1) year. The location

and species of any replacement tree shall be determined by the Tree Board.

Trees of desirable species and good health shall be protected as much as possible from damage during

construction, sidewalk repair, utilities work above and below ground, and other similar activities. The

zone of protection shall include the ground beneath the canopy of the tree.

Sec. 23-19. - Interference with City Tree Board.

It is unlawful for any person to prevent, delay or interfere with the City of Livingston, its City Tree
Board, or any of its agents, while engaging in and about the planting, cultivating, mulching, pruning,
spraying or application, or removing of any street trees, park trees, or trees on private grounds, as

authorized in this Chapter.
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Sec. 23-20. - Arborists license and bond.

It shall be unlawful for any person or firm to engage in the business or occupation of pruning,
treating, or removing street or park trees within the City without first applying for and procuring a
license. The license fee shall be set by resolution annually in advance; provided, however, that no
license shall be required of any City employee doing such work in the pursuit of their public service
endeavors. Before any license shall be issued, each applicant shall first file evidence of possession of
liability insurance in the minimum amounts of seven hundred fifty thousand dollars ($750,000.00) per
claim and one million five hundred thousand dollars ($1,500,000.00) per occurrence indemnifying the

City or any person injured or damaged resulting from the pursuit.

Sec. 23-21. - Authority of adjoining property owner to plant or care for trees on boulevard or
parkways.

Permission is given to the owners of real estate to improve their premises by planting trees and
properly caring for trees in the boulevards adjoining their property after permit is obtained from the
City. Such trees shall in no case interfere with the full use of the streets for public purposes, and no
person shall plant any tree within the limits of any parkway, street or alley in the City without having
first obtained a written permit from the City.

It shall be the duty of any property owner to make request in writing to the City, stating the variety
and precise location of each tree proposed to be planted. The permit shall specify the location and

variety of each tree.

Sec. 23-22. - Removal, destruction, cutting and injury.

No person shall remove, destroy, cut, deface, or in any way injure or interfere with any street tree or
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park tree, without a permit from the City Tree Board. The City-Ferester Arborist may authorize the

removal of trees that constitute an immediate hazard or threat to life or property.

Sec. 23-23. - Interference with trees by house mover, permit required.

It shall be unlawful for any person to move any building along any street, avenue or alley in the City,
in such a way as to interfere with or injure any tree or shrub in any street, avenue, alley or public
place, including parks and parkways, without a written permit obtained from the City Ferester
Arborist. The application for such permit, and the permit issued, shall specify the particular building

and the particular route to be followed.

Sec. 23-24. - Procedure for temporary removal.
All moving of trees and shrubs made necessary by moving of buildings or any other purpose shall be

done under the supervision of the City-Ferester-Arborist; at the expense of the owners of the

buildings, or the party requesting the same. Should such moving cause the death of the tree, the owner

of the buildings or the party requesting the temporary removal, at his own expense, shall replace the

same under the supervision of the City Arborist.

Sec. 23-25. - Insects and diseases-declared nuisance.
All insect pests and diseases known to be injurious to fruit, shade and ornamental trees and shrubs,
and all trees, shrubs and vegetable growth infested or infected therewith constitute a menace, and are

hereby declared to be a common nuisance.

Sec. 23-26. — Spraying or Applying.

Every person who is owner or in possession or control or management of any lot, block or parcel of
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land upon which there are any fruit, shade or ornamental trees or shrubs which are infested or infected
with any insect pests or diseases known to be injurious to such fruit, shade or ornamental trees or
shrubs, shall, within three (3) days, upon written order of the City Code Enforcement Officer or the
City Forester Arborist at the instruction of the City Tree Board, spray, applicate, or cause the same to
be sprayed or applied in such manner and with some insecticide designated by the City or by a
licensed pesticide applicator. Any person failing to comply with any such order shall be deemed

guilty of maintaining a nuisance.

Sec. 23-27. - Review by city commission.
The City Commission shall have the right to review the conduct, acts, and decisions of the City Tree
Board. Any person may appeal from any ruling or order of the City Tree Board to the City

Commission who may hear the matter and make final decisions.

Sec. 23-28. - Penalty.

Any person violating any provision of this Chapter shall be, upon conviction or a plea of guilty,
subject to a civil fine not to exceed three hundred dollars ($300.00) for each violation or if the
infraction is a repeat offense, a civil penalty not to exceed fifty dollars ($50.00) for each repeat
violation. In addition, commercial tree service companies which violate the terms of this Chapter

shall after a second conviction be denied the ability to obtain a permit to work on public trees.

SECTION 2

Statutory Interpretation and Repealer:
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Any and all resolutions, ordinances and sections of the Livingston Municipal Code and

parts thereof in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.
SECTION 3
Severability:

If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstance
is held invalid by a court having competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect the other
provisions of this ordinance which may be given effect without the invalid provisions or
application, and to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are declared to be severable.

SECTION4
Savings provision:

This ordinance does not affect the rights or duties that mature, penalties and assessments

that were incurred or proceedings that begun before the effective date of this ordinance.
SECTION 5
Effective date:

This ordinance will become effective 30 days after the second and final adoption.
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PASSED by the City Commission of the City of Livingston, Montana, on first reading at

a regular session thereof held on the 17th day of November, 2020.

DOREL HOGLUND - Chairperson

ATTEST:

FAITH KINNICK,
Recording Secretary

PASSED, ADOPTED AND APPROVED by the City Commission of the City of
Livingston, Montana, on second reading at a regular session thereof held on the day of

December, 2020.

DOREL HOGLUND - Chairperson

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:
FAITH KINNICK COURTNEY LAWELLIN
Recording Secretary City Attorney
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PUBLIC NOTICE

The public is invited to attend and comment at a public hearing to be held on December 15, 2020 at 5:30
p.m. during the second reading of ORDINANCE NO. 2095 entitled AN ORDINANCE OF THE
CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, AMENDING CHAPTER
23 OF THE LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED TREES BY CLARIFYING THAT
ALL BOULEVARD TREES ARE TO BE PROPERLY MAINTAINED, INCLUDING PRUNING,
WATERING AND REMOVAL WHEN NECESSARY, BY THE HOMEOWNER ADJACENT TO
THE BOULEVARD. This meeting will be held via Zoom join.zoom.us. Meeting I1D: 899 1931 3028
Passcode: 637749 A copy of the ordinance is available for inspection at the City Office, 414 East Callender
Street, Livingston, MT 59047. For further information, call the City Offices at (406) 823-6000.

Please publish November 27, and December 11, 2020.

Faith Kinnick
City of Livingston
November 24, 2020
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ORDINANCE NO. 2098

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON,
MONTANA, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2041, 2049 AND 2055 AS CODIFIED BY
CHAPTER 9 OF THE LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED TRAFFIC AND
VEHICLES.

Preamble.

The purpose of this Ordinance is to amend the parking zones on the West side of the 200 Block of
South Main to accommodate the demands of parking for businesses and the school’s demand for
a loading zone and the changes needed to serve such demand.

*hkkkk

WHEREAS, the City of Livingston adopted parking restrictions downtown; and
WHEREAS, the last change or amendments to such ordinance were April 3™ 2015; and

WHEREAS, in order to accommodate the changes in the adjacent area the Municipal Code
requires updating.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Commission of the City of Livingston,
Montana, that Ordinances No. 2041, 2044 and 2055 as codified in Chapter 9 of the Livingston
Municipal Code be and the same is hereby amended with additions underlined and deletions

struck through, as follows:

SECTION I.
Chapter 9 — TRAFFIC AND VEHICLES
Section 9-246 Two (2) Hour Parking Zone.

A. Downtown Two (2) Hour Parking Zone
1. The following streets or portions of streets are designated as two (2) hour parking
zones between the hours of nine (9) a.m. and five (5) p.m., except upon Sundays
and legal holidays
a. B Street from Park Street to Lewis Street;
b. Third Street from Park Street to Callender Street;
c. West Lewis from Main to Third Street;

ORDINANCE NO. 2098: AMENDING ORD. NO. 2041 AND 2055 AS CODIFIED BY CHAPTER 9 OF THE
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d. West side of south Second Street from Lewis Street to the south line of Lot 10
in Block 94 f the Original Town site;
e. East side of south Second Street from Lewis Street to Clark Street;
Callender Street from Third Street to B Street;

South side of east Callender Street from B Street east for three (3) parking places;

> @ o

North side of east Callender Street from B Street east two (2) parking spaces;

I. The south side of Park Street from Third to B Street;

J. East Lewis Street from Main Street to B Street;

k. Main Street from Park Street to Clark Street;

I. The West side of Main Street in front of Lots 1,23, 1 thru 10, 15, and 16 of Block 111
(Between Clark and Geyser Streets) of the Original Town site to the City of Livingston,

as well as a loading zone in front of Lots 12 and 13 for the dropping off and picking up

of children;
m. The Eastside of Main Street in front of Lots 29 and 30 of Block 110 of the Original Town
site to the City of Livingston;

n. Second Street from Park Street to Lewis Street;

0. The north side of Clark Street from the alley between Main and B Streets to the alley
between Main and Second Streets;

p. The south side of Clark Street from the alley between Main and Second Street to Main
Street;

g. The south side of Geyser Street from the alley in the 100 Block of East Geyser to Main
Street.

2. The minimum civil penalty under this subsection shall be Twenty Dollars ($20.00).

B. City-County Complex Two (2) Hour Parking Zone.

1. Designation of City-County Complex Parking Zone. The following lots, streets or portions of
streets are designated as two-hour parking zones between the hours of nine (9) o'clock a.m. and
five (5) o'clock p.m., except upon Sundays and legal holidays, as follows:

a. The paved public parking lot immediately behind and adjacent to the City-County
Complex;
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b. That portion of "D" Street running north from the alley between Callender Street and Lewis
Street only on that side of "D" Street which is adjacent to and abuts the lots upon which
the City-County Complex is situated;

c. That portion of "E" Street running north from the alley between Callender Street and Lewis
Street only on that side of "E" Street which is adjacent to and abuts the lots upon, which
the City-County Complex is located; and

d. Both sides of Callender Street between "D" Street and "E" Street which has not been zoned
for fifteen-minute parking.

2. 3. Parking Violations and Exceptions.

a. It is a civil offense for any person. between the hours of eight (8) a.m. and five (5) p.m. on
Monday through Friday, to park his or her vehicle in the City-County Complex designated
two (2) hour parking zone in excess of two (2 hours per day on each and every day the
parking restriction is in effect; the two (2) hour parking limitation is the total time allotment
per day per vehicle thereby having the effect of preventing vehicles being moved to gain
an additional two (2) hours of parking.

b. Persons called for jury trial in any of the courts situated in the City-County Complex shall
be exempted from the punishment set forth hereinafter upon written proof to the Clerk of
the City Court that they were called for jury service at the date and time they received the
citation for violating the two (2) hour parking zone.

c. City or County employees that respond to an emergency shall be exempted from the
punishment set forth hereinafter upon written proof to the Clerk of the City Court that they
were responding to an emergency at the date and time they received the citation for
violating the two (2) hour parking zone.

d. Drivers of vehicles legally parking in a parking spot designated for official vehicles by the
City-County Complex parking plan are also exempted from the regulations and punishment
set forth herein.

3. Punishment. The civil penalty for violating subsection (B)(2)(a) shall be by fine only in the
amount of Twenty Dollars ($20.00) per violation.

C. Exception to Two-Hour Downtown Parking Zones. Persons, firms or entities are exempt from
the requirements of this Section upon obtaining a permit authorized in_Section 9-248.

(Ord. 1543, 11/13/85; Ord. 1632, 11/89; Ord. 1733, 2/1/93; Ord. 1846, 1/6/97; Ord. 1901,
7/3/2000: Ord. 1910 § 1, 4/6/02: Ord. 1926 § 1 (part), 6/16/03: Ord. 1939 § 1 (part), 2/2/04; Ord.
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1999, 3/3/08; Ord. No. 2009, § 1, 1/5/09; Ord. No. 2030, § 1, 5/2/11; Ord. No. 2042 , § 1,
11/6/12; Ord. No. 2049 , § 1, 3/18/14; Ord. No. 2055, § 1, 4/23/15

SECTION 2
Statutory Interpretation and Repealer:
Any and all resolutions, ordinances and sections of the Livingston Municipal Code and
parts thereof in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.
SECTION 3
Severability:
If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is
held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this ordinance which may be

given effect without the invalid provision or application and, to this end, the provisions of this

ordinance are declared to be severable.

SECTION 4
Savings Provision:

This ordinance does not affect the rights or duties that matured, penalties and assessments
that were incurred or proceedings that begun before the effective dates of this ordinance.
SECTION 5
Effective date:

This ordinance will become effective 30 days after second and final adoption.

*kkkk

PASSED by the City Commission of the City of Livingston, Montana, on first reading at regular

session thereof held on the day of December, 2020.

DOREL HOGLUND, CHAIR

ORDINANCE NO. 2098: AMENDING ORD. NO. 2041 AND 2055 AS CODIFIED BY CHAPTER 9 OF THE
LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED TRAFFIC AND VEHICLES, BY ESTABLISHING A LOADING ZONE IN
FRONT OF LITTLE EINSTEIN’S DAYCARE. Page 4 of 6
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https://library.municode.com/mt/livingston/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=622459
https://library.municode.com/mt/livingston/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=659394
https://library.municode.com/mt/livingston/ordinances/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=797589

ATTEST:

FAITH KINNICK
Recording Secretary

*hkkkhkhkkkikikikkik

PASSED, ADOPTED, APPROVED, by the City Commission of the City of Livingston,

Montana, on a second reading at a regular session thereof held on the day of January 2021.

DOREL HOGLUND, CHAIR

ATTEST: APPROVED TO AS FORM:
FAITH KINNICK COURTNEY LAWELLIN
Recording Secretary City Attorney

ORDINANCE NO. 2098: AMENDING ORD. NO. 2041 AND 2055 AS CODIFIED BY CHAPTER 9 OF THE
LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED TRAFFIC AND VEHICLES, BY ESTABLISHING A LOADING ZONE IN
FRONT OF LITTLE EINSTEIN’S DAYCARE. Page 5 of 6
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PUBLIC NOTICE

Notice is hereby given, a public hearing will be held by the Livingston City Commission on
Tuesday, January 19, 2021, during a second reading of ORDINANCE NO. 2098: entitled AN
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON,
MONTANA, AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2041, 2049 AND 2055 AS CODIFIED BY
CHAPTER 9 OF THE LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED TRAFFIC AND
VEHICLES. This hearing will be conducted via Zoom. All interested persons are invited to attend
and give their comments. To join this meeting https://us02web.zoom.us. Meeting ID 869 4912
5680 passcode 163038 or Call in at 1-669-900-6833. For additional information contact Faith
Kinnick at 823-6002.

Please publish December 31, 2020 and January 8, 2021.

Faith Kinnick
City of Livingston
December 9, 2020

ORDINANCE NO. 2098: AMENDING ORD. NO. 2041 AND 2055 AS CODIFIED BY CHAPTER 9 OF THE
LIVINGSTON MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED TRAFFIC AND VEHICLES, BY ESTABLISHING A LOADING ZONE IN
FRONT OF LITTLE EINSTEIN’S DAYCARE. Page 6 of 6
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https://us02web.zoom.us/

File Attachments for ltem:

A. RESOLUTION NO. 4932: A RESOLUTION OF INTENT OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY
OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, RESOLVING IT'S INTENT TO AMEND THE BOUNDARIES OF THE
LIVINGSTON BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, AND TO EXTEND THE BOUNDARIES OF THE
LIVINGSTON BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, AND TO EXTEND THE DURATION OF THE
DISTRICT FOR TEN (10) YEARS, AT THE REQUEST OF THE LBID FOR IT'S MEMBERS, AS
REQUIRED BY LAW.
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RESOLUTION NO. 4932

A RESOLUTION OF INTENT OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, RESOLVING ITS INTENT TO AMEND THE
BOUNDARIES OF THE LIVINGSTON BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, AND
TO EXTEND THE DURATION OF THE DISTRICT FOR TEN (10) YEARS, AT THE
REQUEST OF THE LBID FOR ITS MEMBERS, AS REQUIRED BY LAW.

*hhkkkikhkkkikhkkkhkkhkkhkkikkikikikik

WHEREAS, the Livingston City Commission created the Livingston Business
Improvement District, at the request of the majority of its owners, on March 1, 2011, with
Resolution 4186 under §7-12-1111 MCA, for the purpose of promoting area businesses, the health,
safety, prosperity, security, and general welfare of the inhabitants of the district and of the people
of this state, and to be of special benefit to the property within the boundaries of the district; and
to aid in tourism, promotion, and marketing for a ten-year term; and

WHEREAS, prior to requesting the LBID be extended in time, the LBID has made efforts
to amend the boundaries of the district to include businesses not already included, and to exclude
property that was used for business purposes and is now residential property. The Original and
Amended LBID boundaries are attached as Exhibit A; and

WHEREAS, prior to extending the duration of the district, or amending the boundaries,
the governing body shall pass a resolution of intent to do so and thereafter publish Notice as
provided in 87-1-2121 MCA, of passage of the resolution of intent with a copy of the notice mailed
to every owner of real property within the proposed district and within the proposed area of
expansion on the same day the notice is first published or posted.

WHEREAS, LBID intends to carry out its purpose for the benefit of the citizens and the
businesses in its District, as well as carry out the mandate it has created for the community, into
the future, and is willing and able to do so;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Commission of the City of
Livingston Montana as follows:

A Resolution of Intent of the City of Livingston to amend the boundaries of the district for
Livingston Business Improvement District, and to extend its duration for ten (10) years, is hereby
approved and adopted. The City and LBID are authorized and directed to publish Notice as
provided in 87-1-2121 MCA, of passage of the resolution with a copy of the notice mailed to every
owner of real property within the proposed district and within the proposed area of expansion, at
their taxpayer address, on the same day the notice is first published or posted. Any protest must be
in writing and must be delivered to the governing body or its clerk, not later than 5 p.m. of the last
day within 15 days after the date of the first publication of the notice of the resolution of intention.
The date and hour of receipt of the protest shall be endorsed thereon.

Resolution No. 4932: A Resolution of Intent of the City Commission of the City of Livingston, Montana, resolving Its intent to amend the
boundaries, and extend for ten years, The Livingston Business Improvement District at the request of the LBID for its members, as required by
law. Page 1 of 2
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https://www.leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0070/chapter_0010/part_0210/section_0210/0070-0010-0210-0210.html
https://www.leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0070/chapter_0010/part_0210/section_0210/0070-0010-0210-0210.html
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PASSED AND ADOPTED, by the Livingston City Commission, this day of
, 2020.

DOREL HOGLUND, Chair

ATTEST: APPROVED TO AS FORM:
FAITH KINNICK COURTNEY LAWELLIN
Recording Secretary City Attorney

Resolution No. 4932: A Resolution of Intent of the City Commission of the City of Livingston, Montana, resolving Its intent to amend the
boundaries, and extend for ten years, The Livingston Business Improvement District at the request of the LBID for its members, as required by
law. Page 2 of 2
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PUBLIC NOTICE
Notice is hereby given that the City Commission will hear and pass upon all protests for
Resolution No. 4932: A RESOLUTION OF INTENT OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON,
MONTANA, RESOLVING ITS INTENT TO AMEND THE BOUNDARIES OF THE
LIVINGSTON BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, AND TO EXTEND THE
DURATION OF THE DISTRICT FOR TEN (10) YEARS, AT THE REQUEST OF THE
LBID FOR ITS MEMBERS, AS REQUIRED BY LAW. Any owner of real property within the
LBID district may protest in writing and protest must be delivered to the governing body or its clerk, not
later than 5 p.m. of the last day within 15 days after the date of the first publication of the notice of the
resolution of intention. The date and hour of receipt of the protest shall be endorsed thereon. The
Livingston City Commission will proceed to publicly hear and pass upon all protests so made and filed
pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 7-12-1114, which meeting will be held on Tuesday, January 5, 2021, at
5:30 p.m. via Zoom.

Please publish 12/18/2020, 12/22/2020.

Faith Kinnick
Dated 12/16/2020
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File Attachments for ltem:

B. RESOLUTION NO. 4933: A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, OF ITS INTENT TO AMEND THE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-2021,
BY MAKING APPROPRIATION ADJUSTMENTS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,275,750 AND REVENUE
ADJUSTMENTS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,663,574
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RESOLUTION NO. 4933

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON,
MONTANA, OF ITS INTENT TO AMEND THE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-
2021, BY MAKING APPROPRIATION ADJUSTMENTS IN THE AMOUNT OF
$1,275,750 AND REVENUE ADJUSTMENTS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,663,574.

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 4919 the City of Livingston adopted its budget for Fiscal
Year 2020-2021 (FY 20-21); and

WHEREAS, Mont. Code Ann. 88 7-6-4006(4), 7-6-4031(2) and 7-6-4006(3) provide that
the budget may be amended by conducting a public hearing thereon; and

WHEREAS, any proposed budget amendment which provides for additional
appropriations must identify the fund reserves, unanticipated revenue or previously unbudgeted
revenue that will fund the appropriations; and

WHEREAS, the budget for FY 20-21 requires a budget amendment by making
appropriation adjustments in the amount of $1,275,750 and revenue adjustments in the amount of
$1,663,574 as specified herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Commission of the City of Livingston,
Montana, that the budget for Fiscal year 2020-2021 is amended as follows:

Revenue Estimate Adjustments

Fund Description/Purpose Account Amount
General COVID-19/Stimulus 1000-331991 1,636,574
General Big Sky Economic Devel. Grant 1000-334075 27,000

TOTAL $1,663,574
Appropriation Adjustments
Fund Unanticipated Unbudgeted

Fund Description/Purpose Account Amount Reserves Revenues  Revenues
General Building purchase and improvements 1000-421-411230-924 $1,060,000 X
Warming Center 1000-403-410400-824 22,000 X
Air Quality Monitors 1000-421-411230-231 1,750 X
Parks & Trails Funding 1000-455-460430-940 50,000 X
LE Body Cameras 1000-431-420100-940 50,000 X
ADA Compliant Website 1000-422-411300-940 15,000 X
PC Housing Coalition 1000-403-410400-824 50,000 X
Main Hotel Grant 1000-409-460449-740 27,000 X

TOTAL $1,275,750

Resolution No. 4933

Amending the budget for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 by making appropriation adjustments in
the amount of $1,275,750 and revenue adjustments in the amount of $1,663,574.

Page 1
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Dated this 15" day of December, 2020.

DOREL HOGLUND - Chairperson

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ATTEST:
FAITH KINNICK COURTNEY LAWELLIN
Recording Secretary City Attorney

Resolution No. 4933
Amending the budget for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 by making appropriation adjustments in

the amount of $1,275,750 and revenue adjustments in the amount of $1,663,574.
Page 2



[Exhibit A to Resolution No. 4933]

NOTICE

A public hearing will be held by the City Commission of Livingston, Montana, on January 5,
2021, at 5:30 p.m. in the Community Room of the City County Complex, 414 East Callender Street,
Livingston, Montana, on Resolution No. 4933 entitled A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY
COMMIISSION OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, OF ITS INTENT TO AMEND
BY MAKING APPROPRIATION
ADJUSTMENTS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,275,750 AND REVENUE ADJUSTMENTS IN THE
AMOUNT OF $1,663,574 AND CALLING FOR A PUBLIC HEARING by making amendments as

THE BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020-2021,

follows:

Revenue Estimate Adjustments

Fund Description/Purpose Account
General COVID-19/Stimulus 1000-331991
General Big Sky Economic Devel. Grant 1000-334075

TOTAL $1,663,574

Appropriation Adjustments

Amount
1,636,574
27,000

Fund Description/Purpose Account Amount
General Building purchase and improvements 1000-421-411230-924 $1,060,000
Warming Center 1000-403-410400-824 22,000
Air Quality Monitors 1000-421-411230-231 1,750
Parks & Trails Funding 1000-455-460430-940 50,000
LE Body Cameras 1000-431-420100-940 50,000
ADA Compliant Website 1000-422-411300-940 15,000
PC Housing Coalition 1000-403-410400-824 50,000
Main Hotel Grant 1000-409-460449-740 27,000

TOTAL $1,275,750

Fund  Unanticipated Unbudgeted

Reserves

Revenues

X X X X X X X X

Revenues

242

All interested persons are invited to attend and give their comments. For additional information contact Paige Fetterhoff,
Finance Officer, 110 South B Street, Livingston, MT 59047, or by phone at 823-6003. (Publish twice at least 6 days apart
and the notice needs also to be posted and copies made available to the public.)

Resolution No. 4933
Amending the budget for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 by making appropriation adjustments in the amount of
$1,275,750 and revenue adjustments in the amount of $1,663,574.

Page 3




File Attachments for ltem:

C. RESOLUTION NO. 4934: A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN A PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS, INC. (TD&H ENGINEERING) FOR
DESIGN SERVICES FROR THE 5TH STREET SEWER CAPACITY PROJECT AND AUTHORIZING
THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT TO INCLUDE THE USE OF CONTINGENCY
FUNDS AS DEEMED NECESSARY.
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RESOLUTION NO. 4934

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON,
MONTANA, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN A PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS, INC. (TD&H
ENGINEERING) FOR DESIGN SERVICES FROR THE 5™ STREET SEWER
CAPACITY PROJECT AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE
THE AGREEMENT TO INCLUDE THE USE OF CONTINGENCY FUNDS AS
DEEMED NECESSARY.

*khkkkk

WHEREAS, The City Administration requested a proposal to design the sewer and
provide project administration for the 5th Street Sewer Capacity Project from TD&H
Engineering, for the purpose of designing the sewer main upsizing improvements project located
on 5™ Street and under the railroad tracks. The proposal shall consist of a topographical survey,
CAD design work to create construction plans, submitting a design to DEQ for approval, and

bidding services for sewer improvements; and

WHEREAS, TD&H has submitted a proposal to complete the tasks identified in the
Scope of Work on a time and materials (T&M) basis. The estimated fee to complete the services
identified is $22,000 (hourly); the proposal for services is outlined in Exhibit A, which is
attached hereto and incorporated herein; and

WHEREAS, now the City of Livingston and TD&H wish to define their respective roles,
and duties as outlined in the Professional Services Agreement which is attached hereto and

incorporated herein as Exhibit B; and

WHEREAS, City Administration recommends approving the attached Professional

Services Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Commission of the
City of Livingston, Montana, the Professional Services Agreement for design services
for the 5™ Street Sewer Capacity Project between the City of Livingston and the TD&H
is hereby approved. The City Manager is hereby authorized to sign and execute the
agreement fully to include the use of contingency funds as deemed necessary.

RESOLUTION NO. 4933: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN A PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS, INC. (TD&H ENGINEERING) FOR DESIGN
SERVICES FROR THE 5TH STREET SEWER CAPACITY PROJECT, AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO
EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT TO INCLUDE THE USE OF CONTINGENCY FUNDS AS DEEMED NECESSARY.
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DATED THIS DAY OF DECEMBER, 2020.

DOREL HOGLUND, CHAIR

ATTEST: APPROVED TO AS FORM:
FAITH KINNICK COURTNEY JO LAWELLIN
Recording Secretary City Attorney

RESOLUTION NO. 4933: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN A PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS, INC. (TD&H ENGINEERING) FOR DESIGN
SERVICES FROR THE 5TH STREET SEWER CAPACITY PROJECT, AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO
EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT TO INCLUDE THE USE OF CONTINGENCY FUNDS AS DEEMED NECESSARY.
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234 East Babcock Street
. D 406.586.0277
Suite 3 I I l _

Bozeman, MT 59715 Engineering tdhengineering.com

December 2, 2020

Mr. Shannon Holmes — Public Works Director
City of Livingston

330 Bennett Street

Livingston, MT 59047

RE: PROPOSAL TO PROVIDE ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR
5™ STREET SEWER IMPROVEMENT PROJECT.
LIVINGSTON, MONTANA

Dear Shannon,

Thank you for the opportunity to present this proposal to provide engineering services for
the project referenced above. We understand the project consists of sewer main
improvements located on 5" Street and under the railroad tracks. We anticipate realizing
efficiency in design, bidding and construction based on the previous years’ project
experience in Livingston. The benefit of the efficiency is directly reflected in the costs for
services. Our proposed services are outlined on Exhibit A - Scope and Fee Description.

TD&H proposes to complete the tasks identified in the Scope of Work on a time and
materials (T&M) basis. The task-based services fee structure for this project is appropriate
based on the nature and scope of this time sensitive project. The T&M strategy accounts
for varying levels of participation with agencies during the process and realizing efficiencies
and deductive scoping during design.

Our estimated fee to complete the services identified in Exhibit A $22,000 (hourly).

At this time, our fee proposal excludes providing additional services outside of those
specifically noted on Exhibit A. We have not included any involvement during construction
(construction staking, inspection, testing, submittal reviews, construction RFI responses,
etc.).

We have the capability of performing all the construction administration services and can
provide you with a separate proposal outlining our fee to complete the needed tasks at your
request.

MONTANA | WASHINGTON | IDAHO | NORTH DAKOTA | PENNSYLVANIA
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December 2, 2020 PAGE NO. 2

ACCEPTANCE

If you wish to modify this scope of work, please contact us at your earliest convenience to
discuss how we can best meet your needs. If you find this proposal acceptable, please
notify us in writing and we can begin to schedule the work. We would be happy to execute
a general services agreement for the design of this project as well.

Thank you for the opportunity to submit this proposal. We appreciate your confidence in
our firm and we look forward to working with you on this project.

Sincerely,

Matt McGee PE

Project Manager
TD&H ENGINEERING

J:\2015\B15-081 City of Livingston On-Call Engineering SERVICES\054 5TH STREET SEWER
IMPROVEMENTS\DOCUMENTS\CONTRACTS\CITY OF LIVINGSTON 5TH STREET SEWER PROPOSAL
LETTER.DOC

I
TD&H )\ tdhengineering.com

Engineering
|
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EXHIBIT A - SCOPE AND FEE DESCRIPTION
TD&H

City of Livingston 5" Street Sewer Improvement ) .
December 2020 Engineering'

. 248

A

)T

SCOPE OF SERVICES
1. CIVIL SCOPE OF SERVICE

A. City of Livingston Sewer Main Improvement Design

We understand that our scope of work includes topographical survey, CAD
design work to create construction plans, submitting design to DEQ for
approval, and bidding services for sewer improvements.

The project includes upsizing existing 8” sewer to 15” or 18” sewer main on
5t Street. The project limits are new sewer main from SSMH 75-A just north
of Front Street to SSMH 78-A/1-D on the south side of the tracks near Park
Street (shown on the attached PER alternative map). The design includes
sewer main replacement for this section of main which includes utilizing the
existing 24” steel casing within the MRL easement and under the railroad
tracks. We do not anticipate any sanitary sewer services in this project.

This sewer main improvement project is identified in the 2019 Livingston
Collection System PER as Alternative 2, Priority 3. MRL has provided an
exhibit that shows locations and information regarding the portion of this
sewer main in their property.

B. Civil Project Documents

Our project documents scope of work includes plans, specifications and design report
addressing sewer improvements.

1. Topographic Survey

TD&H will survey the project extents. We will coordinate with MRL for
permission to survey within the railroad easement, if necessary.

2. Engineering

TD&H will design the sewer main replacement for the section specified
above. Quantities are estimated due to not having topographic survey
information at this time. Components of design include:

e Construction Drawings - Complete Approximately 550 LF of Sewer
Main Replacement Design

o Evaluate anticipate future sewer flows to determine appropriate
upsized pipe diameter

¢ Evaluate existing 8” sewer main proposed for bypass pumping during
construction of new sewer main

o Design Report & DEQ Submittal (including review fees)
Prepare Specifications and Bid Documents

e Engineer’s Estimate

Page 1 of 2



EXHIBIT A - SCOPE AND FEE DESCRIPTION

City of Livingston 5" Street Sewer Improvement
December 2020

Engineering'

249

| =
TD&H

3. Agency Coordination

Meetings and coordination with MDT and MRL will be ongoing during design
and bidding for this project to maintain communication with effected
agencies.

Project Bidding

After receiving DEQ approval, TD&H will finish preparing bidding documents,
lead a pre-bid meeting, field bidding questions and issue addenda as
necessary, and facilitate the bid opening. TD&H will then review the bids for
conformance with the specifications and make a formal recommendation for
award of the contract.

Assumptions and Exclusions

We assume the existing casing will be adequate for the new sewer main.

We do not anticipate other utility improvements design (e.g. improvements to
water, storm drainage or streets adjacent to the project site).

We understand that the City intends to have the design completed this winter
including DEQ approval in anticipation of a late winter/early spring bid
advertisement period.

We have not included extensive time to complete permitting for BNSF or MRL
approval as that is not anticipated for using the existing casing.

We have not included construction staking, materials testing, or construction
inspection. We can perform these services and can provide a scope and fee
estimate once the project is finalized and the construction schedule is known.

SCHEDULE AND FEE

1. CIVIL SCHEDULE

Based on our current schedule, we expect to begin work on this project immediately or when
the weather is cooperative for a topographic survey. The design schedule will be
coordinated with the owner upon approval of this proposal.

Schedule of Hourly Fees
Task # | Description Fee
1 Topographic Survey $2,500
2 Engineering $13,500
3 Agency Coordination $3,000
4 Project Bidding $3,000
TOTAL $22,000

Page 2 of 2
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[EXHIBIT B]

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and
entered into as of the 15th day of December, 2020, by and between the CITY OF LIVINGSTON,
MONTANA, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the state of Montana with its
principal business office located at 330 Bennett Street, Livingston, Montana 59047 (hereinafter
referred to as the “City”), and THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS, INC., a Montana corporation
with its principal office located at 1800 River Drive North, Great Falls, Montana 59401
(hereinafter referred to as the “Engineer”; and together with the City, the “Parties”).

RECITALS:

A. The City desires to complete the project commonly known as the 5™ Street Sewer
Capacity Project (the “Project”), which Project requires certain Design, Survey and
Bidding services to be performed in connection therewith.

B. The City has selected Thomas, Dean and Hoskins, Inc. to perform the design work for the
Project under the conditions of the term contract for Task Based Services.

C. The Engineer is engaged in the business of professional engineering, independent of the
City, and has the manpower, knowledge, expertise, skills, means, tools, licenses, if
applicable, and equipment necessary to perform Design services for the Project and is
ready, willing and able to undertake and perform the same under the terms and conditions
contained in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the terms and
conditions contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:

1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The above Recitals are true and correct and are
fully incorporated into this Agreement as if fully set forth in this Paragraph 1.

2. PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF SERVICES. City agrees to retain Engineer to perform all
services and comply with all obligations specified or indicated in Exhibit A, which is
attached hereto and incorporated herein as if fully set forth in this Paragraph 2, and as
shall be collectively referred to hereinafter as the “Services”).
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[EXHIBIT B]

NON-DISCRIMINATION. Pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 49-3-207, in the
performance of this Agreement, the Engineer agrees that all hiring will be on the basis of
merit and qualifications and that the Engineer will not be discriminate on the basis of
race, color, religion, creed, political ideas, sex, age, marital status, physical or mental
disability, or national origin.

NATURE OF RELATIONSHIP.

a.  The Engineer states that it is engaged in an established business or profession which
is in no way affiliated with or connected to the City, except by this Agreement and
that it uses independent judgment in the performance of services provided hereby
free from control or direction of others. The Engineer shall perform the Services as
an independent contractor. The Parties agree that the City is only interested in the
end result of the Services, not in the method of performance, and as such, the
Engineer has been and will continue to be free from the control or direction of the
City in the performance of this Agreement.

b.  Engineer shall not be considered an employee of the City for purposes of tax,
retirement system, or social security, FICA withholding, or for any other purpose.
Engineers are not subject to the terms and provisions of the City’s personnel
policies and may not be considered a City employee for workers’ compensation or
any other purpose.

c.  The Engineer shall not be deemed, by virtue of this Agreement, nor the
performance thereof, to have entered into any partnership, joint venture,
employer/employee or any other legal relationship with the City besides that of an
independent contractor.

d.  The Engineer, its officers, agents and/or employees shall not have the authority to
make representations on behalf of the City, and neither shall the aforementioned
persons have the authority to legally bind or otherwise obligate the City to any third
person or entity.

e.  Engineer shall furnish all labor, materials, supplies and incidentals necessary to
conduct and complete the Services.

2
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5.  ENGINEER'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. The Engineer represents
and warrants as follows:

a. Itand its employees are licensed by the State of Montana as engineers and agree to
perform the Services in a professional manner according to the standards of care,
skill, knowledge, and diligence, normally exercised by a professional engineer and
in accordance with sound engineering and construction management practices. In
the event any service is found to be out of conformance with the foregoing
standards, the Engineer, at its own expense, shall make such changes, modifications
or additions as are necessary to remedy the deficiency.

b. Itand its employees possess all of the necessary qualifications, experience,
knowledge, tools and equipment to undertake the performance of the Services as set
forth in this Agreement.

c. It will comply with all applicable laws, rules, ordinances, and regulations, adopted
or promulgated by any governmental agency or regulatory body, whether State,
federal or local, and furthermore agrees to assume full responsibility for the
payment of all contributions of all federal and state income or other payroll tax or
assessment, social security, worker's compensation insurance, unemployment
insurance, self-employment tax or any other required deduction or contribution for
itself or for any employees engaged by the Engineer in performance of this
Agreement.

d. It will comply with the applicable requirements of the Workers’ Compensation Act,
Title 39, Chapter 71 of the Montana Code Annotated, and the Occupational Disease
Act of Montana, Title 39, Chapter 71 of the Montana Code Annotated, and shall
maintain workers’ compensation coverage for all members and employees of the
Engineer, except for those members who are exempted by law. Engineer shall
furnish copies showing proof of workers’ compensation coverage by an insurer
licensed and authorized to provide workers’ compensation insurance in the State of
Montana or proof of exemption from workers’ compensation granted by law for
independent contractors, including subcontractors. Proofs of coverage are
collectively attached to this Agreement as Exhibit B.
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e. It has reviewed the project and contract documents related to the Project and this
Agreement and has entered into this Agreement based solely upon its own
knowledge, inspection and judgment, and not upon any representations or
warranties made by the City, or its officers, employees, or agents.

6. PAYMENT.

a.  For the satisfactory completion of the Services, the City will pay the Engineer a
sum not to exceed Twenty Two Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($22,000.00);
provided, however, the Parties may agree to additional compensation in an amount
not to exceed Three Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($3,500.00) in the
event presently unforeseen circumstances require Engineer to provide additional
services or spend additional time on items not contemplated by this Agreement.
Each specific service the Engineer provides under this Agreement, and the
maximum amount the City will pay the Engineer for each, is set forth in Exhibit A.

b.  The Engineer may submit monthly requests for payment based on actual work
performed, which must be accompanied by an itemized invoice describing the
services furnished, the number of hours worked to accomplish each item, the
amount being billed for each item, a description of any other eligible expenses
incurred during the billing period, and the total amount being billed.

c.  Inconnection with obtaining payment under this Agreement, Engineer agrees to
familiarize itself with, and agrees to be bound by, the City's claim procedure,
including but not limited to deadlines for submitting claims for approval and
payment. The Engineer assumes responsibility for the late filing of a claim.

d.  Inthe event the Engineer seeks payment or compensation for work, materials, or
services not included in this Agreement, and the exhibits hereto, the Engineer must
seek prior written authorization from the City before such expenditure is incurred.
If the Engineer fails to obtain prior written authorization, the Engineer shall not be
entitled to payment for the unauthorized work, materials or services.

7. TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT. The City reserves the right to terminate this
Agreement for any and all causes, or for its convenience, at any time upon fifteen (15)
days written notice to the Engineer. If termination is effected by the City for default, an
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equitable adjustment in the fee shall be made, but no amount shall be allowed for
anticipated profit or unperformed services. If termination is effected by the City for
reasons of convenience, an equitable adjustment in the fee shall be made, including
reasonable profit. The equitable adjustment for any termination shall provide for
payment to the Engineer for services rendered and expenses incurred prior to the
termination. Upon termination, the Engineer will cease work and deliver to the City all
data, design drawings, specifications, reports, estimates, summaries, and such other
information and material accumulated by the Engineer in performing this Agreement
whether completed or in progress.

OWNERSHIP AND PUBLICATION OF MATERIALS. All documents, design
drawings, data, specifications, reports, estimates, and such other information and material
accumulated or prepared as a result of this Agreement are the property of the City, and
the City shall have exclusive and unrestricted authority to release, publish, or otherwise
use, in whole or in part, information relating thereto. Any use without written
verification or adaptation by the Engineer for the specific purpose intended will be at the
City’s sole risk and without liability or legal exposure to the Engineer.

INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS. The Engineer waives any and all
claims and recourse against the City, its officers, agents or employees, including the right
of contribution for loss and damage to persons or property arising from, growing out of,
or in any way connected with or incident to the Engineer’s performance of this
Agreement, except for liability arising out of concurrent or sole negligence of the City or
its officers, agents or employees. Further, the Engineer will indemnify, hold harmless,
and defend the City, its officers, employees and agents against any and all claims,
demands, damages, costs, expenses or liability arising out of the Engineer’s performance
of this Agreement, except for liability arising out of the concurrent or sole negligence of
the City or its officers, agents or employees.

INSURANCE. The Engineer will carry a general liability insurance and professional
errors and omissions insurance during the term of this Agreement in an amount of not
less than One Million Five Hundred Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($1,500,000.00) per
occurrence, and Seven Hundred Fifty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($750,000.00) per
claim. Copies of certificates of insurance, suitable to the City, shall be filed with the City
and are attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit C. The engineer shall make
the City an additional, named insured on its policy for this project, and will provide proof
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thereof prior to providing services under this agreement. Engineer shall also maintain
workers’ compensation and unemployment insurance, as well as other insurances as may
be required by law for employers, or an exemption from the state of Montana.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST. The Engineer covenants that it presently has no interest and
will not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, in the Project which would conflict in any
manner or degree with the performance of the Services. The Engineer further covenants
that, in performing this Agreement, it will employ no person who has any such interest.

NOTICES. All notices or communications required to be given under this Agreement
shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given by personal delivery or
upon deposit into the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, for mailing by
certified mail, return receipt required and addressed, to the address set forth in this
Agreement. Any change of address shall be made by giving written notice thereof to the
other party, providing the new address.

MODIFICATION AND WAIVER. No amendment, modification or waiver of any
condition, provision or term of this Agreement shall be valid or of any effect unless made
in writing, signed by the party or parties to be bound and specifying with particularity the
nature and extent of such amendment, modification or waiver. Any waiver by any party
of any default of the other party shall not effect or impair any right arising from any
subsequent default. Nothing herein shall limit the remedies or rights of the parties
hereunder and pursuant to this Agreement.

SEVERABILITY. Each provision of this Agreement is intended to be severable. If any
provision of this Agreement is illegal or invalid for any reason whatsoever, such illegality
or invalidity of said provision shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this
Agreement.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the
Parties in respect to the Project and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings
between the Parties with respect to the Project.

INTERPRETATION. All captions, headings, or titles in the paragraphs or sections of
this Agreement are inserted for convenience or reference only and shall not constitute a
part of this Agreement or act as a limitation of the scope of the particular paragraph or
section to which they apply. As used herein, where appropriate, the singular shall include

6
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the plural and vice versa and the masculine, feminine or neuter expressions shall be
interchangeable.

TIME 1S OF THE ESSENCE. Time is of the essence in performance of this Agreement.
The City prefers the project be ready for Advertising for Bid by February 15", barring
any unforeseen circumstances.

COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of
which shall be one and the same Agreement and shall become effective when one or
more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other

party.

PARTIES IN INTEREST AND ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement shall be binding upon,
and the benefits and obligations provided for herein shall inure to and bind, the Parties
and their respective successors and assigns, provided that this section shall not be deemed
to permit any transfer or assignment otherwise prohibited by this Agreement. This
Agreement is for the exclusive benefit of the Parties and it does not create a contractual
relationship with or exist for the benefit of an third party. This Agreement shall not be
assigned, or any right or obligation hereunder, in whole or in part, to another without first
having prior written consent of the other party. No assignment or transfer of any interest
under this Agreement shall be deemed to release the Engineer from any liability or
obligation under this Agreement, or to cause any such liability or obligation to be reduced
to a secondary liability or obligation.

APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of
the Parties shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State
of Montana. The parties stipulate and agree that the Montana Sixth Judicial District
Court, Park County, has proper venue and jurisdiction to resolve all causes of action
which may accrue in the performance of this Agreement.

LIAISON. The designated liaisons with the City are Shannon Holmes and Martha
O’Rourke, both of whom can be reached at (406) 222-5667. The Engineer’s liaison is
Keith Waring, who can be reached at (406) 586-0277.

ATTORNEY FEES. In the event either party incurs legal expenses to enforce the terms
and conditions of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its
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reasonable attorney fees and other costs and expenses, whether the same are incurred
with or without suit.

COMPUTING TIME. For the purpose of calculating time under this Agreement, the
following computation shall be used: If the period is stated in days or a longer unit of
time, exclude the day of the event that triggers the period, count every day, including
intermediate Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays, and include the last day of the
period, but if the last day is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, the period continues to
run until the end of the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in
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Livingston, Montana, the day and year first aforementioned herein.

CITY OF LIVINGSTON

Michael J. Kardoes

THOMAS, DEAN & HOSKINS, INC.,
a Montana corporation
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[ Exhibit A

[ Scope of Services ]
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[ Work Comp Insurance ]
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[ Other Certificates of Insurance ]
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A. DISCUSS/APPROVE/DENY: APPOINT MEMBER TO SERVE ON CITY/COUNTY HEALTH BOARD.
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City of Livingston
Application for Appointed Office
(Revised 3/20/20)
Appointed Position Seeking:Board of Public Health

Date of Application:11/9/2020

name:Doyle Scott Coleman s;gned;Doer Scott Coleman
Address: 113 South 5th Street

Telephone: daytime406 223-6559 after 5:00 p.m.:406 223-6559
Fax Number:NON€e e-mail address:dsc26@uw.edu
1. Are you a resident of the City of Livingston? Yes

Are you a registered voter? Y €S

2
3. Will you be at least 18 years of age at the time of the appointment?Yes
4 Describe the reasons you are interested in this appointment: Physician

practicing, residing in Livingston interested in public health

5. Describe any background, experience and interests that you have which may assist you in

performing the responsibilities of this appointment:
A. Occupation: Family Medicine Physician

B. Education:l\/ID
C. Experience:26 years rural and military medicine

(please attach a detailed resume if desired)
6. Have you served on any previous boards or in any governmental positions in the past?YeS'

Jamestown ND- Hosptial board, school board Livingston - Hospital board, school board

7. Are you currently serving on any Community Boards?HC Hospital Board, Foundation Board

A. If yes, please describe those boards.

9. Are you available for night meetings?YeS

10. Are you available for daytime meetings?YeS

11. Do you foresee any potential conflicts of interest that you might have in executing the duties
of this appointed office?NO

12. If conflict of interest arose for you, how would you deal with it as an appointed member of
this board? announce perceived conflicts to the board before the board addresses business

THIS APPLICATION WILL BE KEPT ON FILE FOR 6 MONTHS AND THEN DISCARDED.

Return completed applications to Faith Kinnick at |fkinnick@|ivingstonmontana.orc_j or drop off in
person at the City/County Complex 414 E. Callender St.
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City of Livingston
Application for Appointed Office
(Revised 3/20/20)
Appointed Position Seeking: Board of Health

Date of Application:12/4/2020

name: Stefanie Lange, MD/MPH Signed: Otagance Lange

Address: 208 South F Street, Livingston, MT “ Y

Telephone: daytime 406-220-2080 after 5:00 p.m.: 406-220-2080

Fax Number: 406-222-5799 e-mail address: langest@chphealth.org
1. Are you a resident of the City of Livingston? Yes

Are you a registered voter? Y €S

2
3. Will you be at least 18 years of age at the time of the appointment? Yes
4

Describe the reasons you are interested in this appointment;Péase see attached letter of interest.

5. Describe any background, experience and interests that you have which may assist you in

performing the responsibilities of this appointment:
A. Occupation:Family Medicine Physician, Medical Director Community Health Partners

B. Education: Tulane University Medical School (MD), Tulane University School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine (MPH)

C. Experience'Local physician for 12 years at Community Health Partners and Livingston Healthcare.

(please attach a detailed resume if desired)
6. Have you served on any previous boards or in any governmental positions in the past? No

7. Are you currently serving on any Community Boards? No

A. If yes, please describe those boards.
8. current Employerz COmmunity Health Partners, Livingston Healthcare

9. Are you available for night meetings? Yes
10.  Are you available for daytime meetings? Y €S, SOome days
11. Do you foresee any potential conflicts of interest that you might have in executing the duties

of this appointed office? Only if any board decisions may directly impact the operations or fianances of either of my employers.

12. If conflict of interest arose for you, how would you deal with it as an appointed member of

this board? I would notify the board of any potential conflict of interest and recuse myself from any discussion or decisions regarding that conflict.

THIS APPLICATION WILL BE KEPT ON FILE FOR 6 MONTHS AND THEN DISCARDED.

Return completed applications to Faith Kinnick at |fkinnick@|ivingstonmontana.orc_j or drop off in
person at the City/County Complex 414 E. Callender St.
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December 4, 2020

City Commission

City of Livingston

110 South B Street
Livingston, MT 59047

Dear City Commissioners,

| greatly appreciate your consideration of my application for the Livingston City Board of Health seat. By
applying for a seat on the Board of Health, | hope to bring the perspective of the community health to
decisions the board makes on behalf of all our community members. My years of experience working in
urban and rural medically underserved areas, both as a local family doctor and as the medical director of
our community’s Federally Qualified Health Center, will inform deliberations and decisions | would help
to make as a member of the Board.

Our entire community’s health and well-being has been the focus of my work for over a decade and |
look forward to this opportunity to contribute to the Board’s work toward that same goal. That
challenge is even greater during the COVID-19 pandemic and | will be glad to bring my experience
leading my own organization and collaborating with local and state health experts as out community
continues to meet that challenge in the months to come.

Thank you for your time and consideration. Please contact me directly with any further questions.
References are available upon request.

Sincerely,

Stefanie Lange

Stefanie Lange, MD/MPH
208 South F Street
Livingston. MT 59047

langest@chphealth.org
406-220-2080
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STEFANIE LANGE, MD/MPH
208 SOUTH F STREET, LIVINGSTON, MT 59047
langest@chphealth.org
406-220-2080

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

2018 - Present

2008 - Present

2008 - Present

2007 - 2008

EDUCATION

2004 - 2007

2000 - 2004

2000 - 2004

1990 - 1994

MEDICAL DIRECTOR - Community Health Partners - Livingston, Montana
Member of senior leadership team of a Federally Qualified Health Center
with 5 clinical sites serving Park and Gallatin counties - Directing clinical
operations at all levels - Supervising physician and mid-level medical
providers - Creating and implementing quality improvement and process
improvement initiatives - Delivering high quality comprehensive healthcare,
dental care, early childhood and adult education to all regardless of
insurance coverage or ability to pay for services -

FAMILY PHYSICIAN - Community Health Partners - Livingston, MT
Providing compassionate, comprehensive health care to all regardless of
insurance coverage or income.

FAMILY PHYSICIAN - Livingston Healthcare - Livingston, MT

Serving as contracted employee in varied capacities over the years. Currently
providing Hospitalist in-patient care and support of emergent, in-patient and
on-call pediatric care.

FAMILY PHYSICIAN - Allina Medical Clinic - Hastings, MN
Work included full-spectrum family medicine care including obstetric, in-
patient, newborn, and geriatric care.

POST-GRADUATE MEDICAL RESIDENT
United Family Medicine Residency, St Paul, MN

DOCTOR of MEDICINE
Tulane University School of Medicine, New Orleans, LA

MASTER of PUBLIC HEALTH
Tulane Univ School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine, New Orleans, LA

BACHELOR of ARTS in POLITICAL SCIENCE
University of Puget Sound Tacoma, WA

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Since moving to Livingston in 2008, volunteer involvement in multiple and varied capacities in:
Livingston Public Schools K-12, Livingston Sister City Program, Livingston Braves Baseball, Livingston
Baseball and Softball Association, Yellowstone Ballet Company.
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Reimbursement Cycle

First

269

Responder
P Dispatch Total
Wages &
Benefits

March 1 - May 31 327,382.00 - 327,382.00
June 1-June 30 128,919.00 53,267.00 182,186.00
July 1 - August 31 269,799.00 36,023.50 305,822.50
September 1 - October 30 1,147,661.00 131,445.50 1,279,106.50
November 1 - December 30 381,397.00 85,087.50 466,484.50
TOTAL 2,255,158.00 305,823.50 2,560,981.50
Wages for 5th Cycle no longer elibile (466,484.50)
Anticipated reimbursement 2,094,497.00

Already funded
Air Quality Monitors (1,750.00)
Parks & Trails Funding (50,000.00)
LE Body Cameras (50,000.00)
Warming Center (11,000.00)
New City Building (1,060,000.00)
ADA Compliant Website (15,000.00)
Warming Center (11,000.00)
PC Housing Coalition (50,000.00)
TOTAL (1,248,750.00)

Funds Remaining

845,747.00
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December 2020

Sunday
29

13

20

27

Monday

30

14

21

28

Tuesday
Regular City 1
Commission
Meeting 5:30 pm
via Zoom

8

Regular City
Commission
Meeting 5:30 pm
via Zoom

22

29
Notes

All meetings held via Zoom, unless stated otherwise. To find out more information how you can
participate in these meetings visit http://www.livingstonmontana.org/calendar.php

Wednesday Thursday
Planning Board'g

Growth Policy

Public Meeting #3

via Zoom

City Conservation
Board Mtg 5:00 pm
URA Special Meeting
5:30 pm

| 16 17 18
Planning Board's | ity Tree Board

Grovyth Poligy Meeting Noon via
Public Meeting #4 Zoom

via Zoom

23 24 25

City Offices and Facilities closed
30 31 1

City Offices and Facilities closed

12

19

26
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January 2021

Sunday
27

10

17

24

31

Monday
28

11

18

MLK Day City
Offices and
Facilities closed

25

Tuesday

29

Regular City
Commission
Meeting 5:30 pm
via Zoom

12

Historic Preservation
Commission Mtg. 3:30
pm City Zoning
Commission 5:30 pm

19
Regular City
Commission
Meeting 5:30 pm
via Zoom

26

Notes

All meetings held via Zoom, unless stated otherwise. To find out more information how you
can participate in these meetings visit http://www.livingstonmontana.org/calendar.php

Wednesday
30

13
City Conservation

Board Mtg 5:00
pm

20

Library Board Mtg 4:00
Planning Board Mtg
5:30 Sister City Board
Mtg 7:00 pm

27

Parks & Trails
regular Meeting
6:00 pm

Thursday
31

City Offices and Facilities closed

7
14
21

Tree Board

Meeting Noon
28

8

15

22

29

Saturday

16

23

30
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